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Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
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Five Year Financial Summary

2019
TER
HK$’000

EZ12531HIEE For the year ended 31 December
A Revenue 4,314,420 4655116 3443219 2589221 2515602
HERA Cost of sales (3,251,036)  (3,512,857)  (2,591,833)  (1,829,360) (1,729,567
el Gross profit 1,063,384 1,142,250 851,386 759,861 786,035
EfWARYEEE  Other income and gains, net 95,262 75,324 113,750 67,884 72,578
BERMSEESER  Seling and marketing costs (107,917) (133,673) (139,056) (93,911) (113,406)
THAY Administrative expenses (305,464) (227,127) (275,998) (159,379) (139,742)
HBER Finance costs (153,664) (164,943) (150,678) (117,564) (87,390)
bR ERADRT Profit before income tax 591,601 691,840 399,404 456,891 518,075
MERRT Income tax expense (163,347) (150,318) (144,292) (143,839) (155,000)
BECEERY Profit for the year from

Byl continuing operations - 541,522 255,112 - -
BRIMEEERE Discontinued operations:

Byl Profit for the year - 31,315 6,510 - -
EMER Profit for the year 428,254 572,837 261,622 313,052 363,069
THALELS Profit for the year

FRREA attributable to:

KARHERA Owners of the Company 380,368 474,230 260,316 302,334 314,479

RS Non-controlling interests 47,886 98,607 1,306 10,718 48,590
FREF Eamings per share:

- —ER(EREWL) - basic (HK cents per share) 8.30 10.35 5.67 6.57 7.45

—#E(gREL) - diluted (HK cents per share) 8.30 10.35 5.67 6.57 7.33
R12A318 As at 31 December
BEAE Total assets 7,627,565 7474567 7,502,278 5246469 5,421,692
BRAS Total liabilities (3,357,654) (3,517,949)  (3,848,850)  (2,192,003)  (2,057,170)
Eneg Total equity 4,269,911 3956618 3,653,428 3,054,466 3,364,522

2019

THT

HK$’000

EIZ12531HLLFE For the year ended 31 December
BREZEHX Return on shareholders’ equity 1 9.9% 13.4% 7.9% 1.1% 10.6%
REEDHX Return on total assets 2 5.6% 7.7% 3.5% 6.0% 6.7%
BHEHEER Interest coverage 3 5xf% 5xf2 3xfE 5xf2 Bx 2
H12531H As at 31 December
BELE Gearing ratio 4 28.6% 27.3% 29.4%
B X Liquidity 1xf& xfs 3xfE
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Five Year Financial Summary
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Chairman’s Statement
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Chi Wen Fu

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, “Century Sunshine” or the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year”) of the Group for the perusal of
our shareholders.

In 2019, the macro-economy was affected by the trade friction between China and the United States, when
the mutual imposition of tariffs between China and the United States led to the global economic downturn.
On the back of slowing growth momentum of major economies, the Group persists in the implementation of
the concept of green, eco-friendly and sustainable development, and the overall business operated steadily.
Revenue of HK$4,314,420,000 was realized during the year. The profit attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$380,368,000 and basic earnings per share was HK8.30cents.

Favourable Industrial Policies

Fertiliser is an important material for agricultural production. With the continuous promotion of supply-side
structural reform of agriculture and further optimisation and adjustment of agricultural structure, the fertiliser
industry has entered the stage of “improving quality efficiency”. In 2019, the Chinese government continued
to promote the development plan of organic fertiliser and ecological fertiliser and comprehensively pursued
the revitalization of rural areas. It also put forward new requirements for agriculture technology innovation
and ecological protection of rural areas, which adhere to quality-driven agriculture and green-driven
agriculture, accelerate to transfer from quantity-oriented agriculture to quality-oriented agriculture, improve
the management network of green agricultural materials, and increase the supply of organic fertilisers, new
ecological fertilisers and low-toxic biological pesticides, while enhances land protection and speeds up the
construction of green eco-agriculture and further promotes the “Action Plan for Zero Growth of Fertiliser
Use by 2020”. The Group seized the development opportunities brought by the national favourable industrial
policies to build a long-term mechanism for the development of ecological fertiliser to cope with surging
demand.
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Chairman’s Statement

BRI ol A

2019 - EEZEBRMENEEFIES - ZHRMARSE  BLEER  BRACEROBET N - FAR - IHE
EEMEN TR T HILRAARRBEESREERNTTRUE - EATHBEREL 2R IHNAL AR B RSN EA
Bl - shiBI BB R FHRE  RAERESRK  THREBRES EEMEFHIH  BHEMARLEHFEEERE - 7
RBEETETERMAEZZRENES  BUERCEMNBFRE  THEEERES  ATMENEXRFEH
Rz B8 SREHKEENER  SIBLEREMTESEEER

WERALR[BHAE

WRABCTEROBRAR(TURAR DURNILRERAT - ARKESMTRFEREEIAIF - HHA - #E -
R HAIBRES  MREENLTECEE  REEXEBELEAR  AOMEPLHETIERRHE - 2
BREFEEFREENT - ARETARIURAACIENERARN2019FRMBERERAR I TESR  £HE
RBABRITEERS  BREMETIHMNIALEEM D PARIIRABERES  NBAEMAMTHLEES

I BMEREEERERHEAGNACTPUAKEREHERT R ERERBRURAABRIRRASER

BOCURARBRBIZENR) BEBZETRIORLE  YRMEBHIRX  EFORBIEIE  JIA
FEEMTE BEBERESRNBT  RBRTBREWIAZEIARTELTLRERE  WRIABERFTRIERA
B & AR R PR ) i T X MO RN E SEERM - BERTHHIRERINERTNER - ARA
BEXRNIHEMEROTERR  RREGRRIER - HRBRAR RIIRARESEEEMBRARABHEE
NAFERARKEES  WRABEATEREFESIERMENEALE  BEERYNMERE)  BRWES
mEMENRATENHERRSTRE ) - MARAEENEREERFED -



EFREHES

Chairman’s Statement

Persistence in Innovation

In 2019, the Group has strived to upgrade technology, optimize production lines and enhance the core
competitiveness of the enterprise with innovation capability. During the Year, the Jiangsu production base
successfully completed the technological upgrade of the production line of “Hongri” type sulphur-based
compound fertiliser. It inherited the patent technology of “Hongri” type spray granulation from “the Father of
China’s Sulphur-based Fertiliser” and further boosted “Yanyangtian (%if52X)” brand name. The capacity has
been increased and strategic integration completed. With respect to product innovation, our Group upholds
the primacy of R&D and the synergy with production. We make best use of our advanced technology and
reputable brand names to pursue product differentiation strategies. We enrich the product range and provide
diverse, high quality, efficient green fertilisers. We are leading the development in the field.

“Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” by Shandong Hongri

Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company., Ltd. (“Shandong Hongri”) is located in Linyi City,
Shandong Province. Shandong Hongri is working with local government to realise the vision of being
“innovative, harmonious, green, open and sharing”, to speed up modern industrialisation, to promote the
structural optimisation and to rezone the control of industrial area as ecological city. To this end, Shandong
Hongri initiated the implementation of “Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” in
2019. We will steadily transfer the production from Shandong to the production bases of Jiangsu and Jiangxi,
and scientifically and reasonably adjust the production plan, so to achieve the overall sales targets, and
satisfy customers’ needs. According to the “Shandong Hongri Employees Relocation Scheme” reviewed and
approved at the employees’ representatives meeting, the management is to transfer employees to Jiangsu
and Jiangxi production bases on a voluntary basis and in an orderly manner. For those employees who
voluntarily give up the resettlement option, the resettlement compensation shall be rendered in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. After the completion of “Relocation of Industries from City
Urban Area to Industrial Parks”, the Group will legally rezone the industrial land to commercial one. With the
implementation of the new urban planning of Linyi City, the Company is expected to benefit substantially after
land conversion, which will bring good returns to shareholders. After “Relocation of Industries from City Urban
Area to Industrial Parks”, Shandong Hongri continues to operate as a sales centre through its subsidiary.
As the inventor and patent holder of potassium sulfate compound fertiliser, Shandong Hongri possesses
strong research and development capabilities, well-known brand name and sound sales networks. All these
intangible attributes will continue to make the Group highly competitive.

15
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Chairman’s Statement

Bright Prospects of Magnesium Alloys

In October 2019, National Development and Reform Commission (the “NDRC”) of the PRC revised and
issued “Catalogue for the Guidance of Industrial Structure Adjustment (2019 Version)” (EZE4&EFHER
HHH (20194 K))), in which the “magnesium alloys” were included as a lightweight material, and the
important role and potential of magnesium alloys in weight reduction of automobile were recognized. In
addition to application in transportation, magnesium alloys are also widely used in 3C electronics, space and
aviation and medical fields. 5G technology will firstly be launched in 2020. With the expansion of lightweight
materials, it will definitely bring good opportunities for the development of the magnesium industry. The huge
market provides an opportunity for the development of the Group’s magnesium alloy industry. The Xinjiang
production base of the Group has been recognised as a national “High and New Technology Enterprise”. It
emphasises to technological innovation and adopts the vertical retorts technology to upgrade the magnesium
smelting processes. It steers along the direction of high mechanization, automation and humanization. The
Xinjiang production base is located in Hami City, Xinjiang, an important strategic town of the “the Belt and
Road Initiative”. The Chinese government now intensifies the pursuant of “One Belt One Road” initiative.
Our Group is to take advantage of our location, the special economy and fast economic development. We
will simultaneously fully utilise the abundant resources of Hami, its cheap high quality coal, electricity and
dolomite mineral resources. This provides favourable conditions and strong momentum to develop our
magnesium business.

Opportunities and Challenges

Since the sudden Covid-19 outbreak across China at the end of 2019, the Chinese government has been
quick and decisive to take the unprecedented measures to contain the disease and various actions to stop
the spreading of the epidemic. With a level | public health emergency declared by affected provinces and
cities, every region took strict prevention and control measures of the epidemic. The Lunar New Year holiday
was extended, people are advised not to return to work. This may affect the economy temporarily. The
Company possesses abundant stocks and solid client base, still able to cope with the demand, but we may
be affected due to holiday extension and logistics delay. To cope with the epidemic, the Group endeavoured
to stabilize operations and provide emergency plans for clients in time. We are to tackle challenges together
with clients and prepared for a quick turnaround when the epidemic ends. The impact will thus be minimised.

As epidemic is trending down, the Chinese government has put forward policies and measures to revise
normal economic and social order. Among others, agricultural products such as chemical fertilisers and
pesticides have been included in State Council’s joint prevention and control mechanism. Key enterprises
have the priority to resume work so that the supply of fertiliser for spring plantation will not be disrupted.
As a leading producer of green and ecological fertiliser and important part of the supply chain of agricultural
products, the Group is to implement effective epidemic prevention and control measures to ensure
employee’s health and safety, production is being resumed orderly and the supply of fertilisers stabilised. We
are to work together to overcome the present hard times.
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2020, we continue to be calm and confident to tackle new opportunities and challenges. As always, we are
adhere to our corporate philosophy and mission to innovate to support our development, to attain win-win
outcomes through development. We will endeavour to chase our new goals and realise our dreams.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our shareholders, management team, staff members and business
partners for their support and contributions to the Group during the Year. Century Sunshine is developing
the green industry with all its strength. We are committed to fulfilling our duties, generating greater returns to
shareholders and creating a better future for all.

Chi Wen Fu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Business Review

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year”), the Group recorded an overall revenue of
HK$4,314,420,000 (2018: HK$4,655,116,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 7.3%,
with an overall gross profit margin of 24.6% (2018: 24.5%). The profits after tax from continuing operations
was HK$428,254,000, representing a decrease of approximately 20.9% as compared with HK$541,522,000
of the same period of last year. Revenue from the fertiliser business during the Year was HK$2,735,195,000
(2018: HK$3,053,183,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 10.4%, which was mainly
because the production volume were decreased due to the implementation of “Relocation of Industries from
City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” by Shandong Hongri production base. Average gross profit margin of the
fertiliser business was relatively stable of approximately 22.5% (2018: 22.5%). Revenue from the magnesium
product business held by the Group through REMT was HK$1,515,291,000 (2018: HK$1,537,781,000) during
the Year, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 1.5%. The decrease in revenue was caused
by the effects of devaluation of RMB to HKD as compared to the same period last year. Average gross profit
margin was maintained at approximately 27.5% (2018: 26.6%) due to the core competitiveness of the high-
margin rare earth magnesium products.

Ecological Fertiliser Business

The production was transferred from Shandong Hongri to two production bases of Jiangsu and Jiangxi

Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company, Ltd. (“Shandong Hongri”), a subsidiary of Century Sunshine
Group implemented the “Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” in 2019 under the
requirement of the policy from Shandong Provincial Government, resulted in reduction of production volume
in Shandong Hongri production base, and its production volume will be taken over by the Group’s Jiangxi
and Jiangsu production bases respectively. The Group strategically consolidated customer orders adjusted
its production plan, to achieve the Group’s overall production and sales targets and to satisfy the customers’
demand. While transferring production capacity step by step, according to the “Shandong Hongri Employees
Relocation Scheme” reviewed and approved at the employees’ representatives meeting, Shandong Hongri
was diverting employees to Jiangsu production base and Jiangxi production base on a voluntary basis and
in an orderly manner. For those employees who voluntarily give up the resettlement option, the resettlement
compensation shall be given in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. In December
2019, the local government approved that the “Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial
Parks” project could be carried out in accordance with the document of Luzheng Banzi (2019) No. 144 (&
B #F(2019) 144 5%) by Shandong Hongri, and actively pursued the takover of the land, and the approval
and public transfer of land use. The land would be changed from industrial use to commercial one, as such,
the Company expects to benefit from the potential appreciation of the value of the land with an extraordinary
income. Therefore, management is of the view that the implementation of the “Relocation of Industries from
City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” by Shandong Hongri did not give rise to any material and adverse impact
to the operation of the Group, and the increase in the value of the land will contribute to the appreciation of
the Company’s assets.

21



22

G EEIERAR AR Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

BB R~R DN

Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEFK REmMEEZ

FAR - IHIBDBEBRMARSE - IEMTR T 208MA B LRMEEQIEERNBIER  BATERRR - &%
MEESIERMIFRER  KATTFERERZR ] — IWRA RERENEN M - WRARESTEEARTT
ENET > RTBERHBEEUREEZZERFELTERER  ETEREMEAELENIEZEREBEALR
FEPERM  ERTEBEL -

[emm ] - B IMmEMSREEE - FRA > EP[BEX IERNFRKEHBEREFESmE THR - H
mEFENNRENERREZFETERETS °

/@/%/fgﬁa_é_ﬁgéﬂ%ﬂ é

ZKEIZE—*HEHL BEA FIETRERBEZPLEEMRBEZTHENETRR  BEETREAEE
2 RSHREENNEMBERBRA - ER(CREEENERBNOIE  —BEISERNIEEEF - LRHE
ELM%%%JDDHE‘EE%H’]/E RERAEHE - AT SW IR T BN A TS B REE S KR AT SEm W | hE = Gl 5
R—RIFINER  ELHFUSKELREHNRIEREANELEEZEN  IHLERE  RIBEVEFLEK
g BRREMIMEE - REFEDEEZRRAREMRESEAMNAXREDRE  EANSEEEEDMARBEYD -

AERBEEMEBCROTE TAMELEERENY  —fHEEQF  EHHEERETZEMESNERMGR - FE
REMMELERRER  TEHEARMENLEFED  ENSRERR  BACERLEF N RWHREHE
Z - BEL  2REHNGERHES -

BEMEHR

AEEBEEHBEREEEERERAA(HER ) EENEEREY  SEERMRAES  REFPRETH

EmBRATRNZRCEREIEPEN -2019F 98 - KRESERERFSEZRK AN M I T4H % Alunorf A 7

E’J?J?ff REBNRBEBREFAERN - KREREBLEPE  ROAEPLA  EWmi5 LEEH:  SERRE
CHEBEEBOREER -



BB RR DT

Management Discussion and Analysis

Leveraging on brand recognition

During the Year, Jiangsu production base successfully expanded and built a production line of 200,000
tonnes Hongri type sulphur-based compound fertiliser through upgrading technology, which originated from
the patent technology of spray granulation, which is derived from Shandong Hongri, best known as “Father
of China’s sulphur-based fertiliser”. As a leader of compound fertiliser industry in the PRC, Shandong Hongri
has made great contribution to fertiliser industry and agricultural development by replacing of single-nutrient
fertiliser with compound fertiliser across the PRC and benefits the whole population.

The brand reputation for “Yanyangtian (%F%X)", “Le He He (£4M000])” has been further raised. During the
Year, “Yanyangtian (2f5X)” was rewarded as “China’s Best Efficiency Fertiliser Brand (7 B3 ERHEF &
)", and it's brand influence and stable product quality were well-known in China’s agricultural market.

Diversifying products portfolio drove by innovation

The Group has been further optimizing its management model by synergising the procurement and production
bases, so as to leverage on its bargaining power to reduce procurement cost. In respect of enhancing brand
management and product innovation, we have been focusing on products’ research and development and
innovation, and have launched alginic acid fertiliser (/832 E&AE#}) under the brand of “Yanyangtian (4Ff5X)”,
Sheng Ming Yuan high tower sulphur-based compound fertiliser (4 & TSR EE S IEERH) under the brand
of “Feng Shou (ZU%)” and a series of products of “Yang Guang No.1 (&3 —%%)” under the brand of “Le
He He (Z&m[i])”. These new green ecological fertiliser products can improve the diversity of land, inhibit soil
diseases, trigger the crops immune system, enhance crops strength, increase crop output, and effectively
improve the utilization of fertiliser. They can be applied to various economic crops and field crops.

The Group’s fertiliser business comprised two production bases in Jiangsu and Jiangxi and three sales
companies. The fertiliser sales network covers strategic markets across the nation. The Group continues to
pursue the synergy between research and production, drive high-quality development through upgrading
technology and innovation, enhance the corporate’s core competitiveness, and provide diversified, high-
quality, and efficient green fertiliser products to the market.

Magnesium Product Business

The Group engages in its magnesium product business through Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group
Holdings Limited (“REMT”). The Group proactively explored new customers, provided various product
resolutions and differentiated products which have been well recognised by customers. In September 2019,
the Group’s magnesium product was recognized by Alunorf, the biggest aluminum processing company of
the world, which has brought opportunities for the Group to expand its international business. The Group will
optimise its customer bases by increasing the proportion of large customers, and continue to entrench its
foundation and to drive of magnesium business at a high speed.
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Prospect

The Group’s two green industries will continue to benefit from the opportunities arising from the Chinese
governments’ favorable industrial policies. In October 2019, National Development and Reform Commission
(the “NDRC”) of the PRC revised and issued “Catalogue for the Guidance of Industrial Structure Adjustment
(2019 Version)” E ¥ A A EH 8 (2019 FAK))), in which the “development and application of organic
fertiliser industrialization technology” were included in the class of agriculture product to promote; on the
other hand, the “magnesium alloys” were included in the application of lightweight materials. The important
role and development potential of magnesium alloys were recognized in the construction of light weight
vehicles. In respect of organic fertiliser, the Ministry of Agriculture of the People’s Republic of China selected
100 demonstration counties to grant government subsidies of RMB10 million per county in 2017, and the
number was increased to 175 counties in 2019 to encourage farmers to use organic fertiliser. The proportion
of green ecological fertiliser to the total fertiliser application will increase from the current 10% to 30% in
the future, providing a broad market space for the sustainable development of the Group’s green ecological
fertiliser business. The management has always adhered to the principles of green, environmental friendly and
sustainability to strengthen the product differentiation strategy, actively seize the development opportunities,
and promote sustainable and healthy development of the Company.

In the early 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak swept across China. The Chinese government has been quick
and decisive to take the strongest measures to contain the disease. With a level | public health emergency
declared by affected provinces and cities, people could not return to work on time due to the restriction
arising from epidemic control and prevention measures, and the traffic jam caused by returning to factories
after the Lunar New Year holiday. Agricultural products such as chemical fertilisers and pesticides have
been included State Council’s joint prevention and control mechanism. Key enterprises have the priority
to resume work so that the supply of fertiliser for spring plantation will not be disrupted. The Company’s
production bases gradually resumed work and production in mid-February. During the outbreak period, the
Company and employees worked jointly to fight the epidemic, minimise the risk from public hygiene on the
production and sales. The management proactively performed various work to maintain a stable and orderly
production operation on the basis of ensuring the health and safety of employees. The sales and procurement
departments were encouraged to collaborate with each other through the internet, maintain remote
communication with customers and suppliers, and promptly adjust contingency plans for customers. The
production and marketing strategies should be reasonably adjusted based on market changes to increase the
supply of ecological fertilisers and functional fertilisers with high gross profit margin and minimize the losses
caused by the epidemic.
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(a) FTEEMZHEE :

Key Operational Data

Unaudited key operational data for the year ended 31
December 2019, together with the comparative figures
for the corresponding period in 2018, is as follows. Main
businesses listed below contributed over 98% of the
Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2019.

(a) Sales volume of major products:

Fertiliser business BEPRER 1,091,589 1,285,612 (15.1)
Magnesium product business BREMmED 60,559 61,463 (1.5)

(b) TEEmzFIIERE :

(b) Average selling price of major products:

Fertiliser business EERRER 2,506 2,375 5.5
Magnesium product business EEMED 25,022 24,993 0.1
(c) EFE: (c) Gross profit margin:

Fertiliser business BEPEER 22.5 22.5 -
Magnesium product business BEEMER 27.5 26.6 0.9

The Group’s gross profit margin ~ AEEE 7 EF| =R 24.6 24.5 0.1
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Operating income and gross profit

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately HK$4,314,420,000, being year-on-year
decrease of approximately 7.3%. Contribution by our
Group’s dual core businesses: fertiliser business and
magnesium product business accounted for similar
proportion as compared to last year, representing
63.4% and 35.1% (2018: 65.6% and 33.0%) of revenue
respectively.

Revenue and sales volume of fertiliser business were
approximately HK$2,735,195,000 and 1,091,589 tonnes,
being year-on-year decrease of 10.4% and 15.1%,
respectively. As mentioned, we are implementing the
“Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial
Parks” plan for Shandong Hongri production base and have
been gradually transferred the production to our Jiangxi
and Jiangsu production bases, thereby reduced our sales
volume by approximately 15.1% year-on-year. Benefited
from the overall increase in selling price of our fertilisers,
the gross profit margin has remained relatively stable at
approximately 22.5%.

During the Year, the revenue of the magnesium product
business was approximately HK$ 1,515,291,000 (2018:
HK$1,537,781,000), representing a decrease of 1.5%; the
total sales volume was decreased to 60,559 tonnes during
the Year from 61,463 tonnes in 2018, and the overall gross
profit margin increased approximately 0.9% to 27.5%. The
decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to the effects of
devaluation of RMB to HKD during the Year. Nevertheless,
the Group has still maintained the core competitiveness of
high gross margin rare earth magnesium alloy products,
driving up the growth of gross margin.

Other gains or losses, net

Other net gains or losses were approximately
HK$95,262,000, an increase of approximately 26.5%
year-on-year, mainly due to the increase in sales of
scrap materials. Income from sales of scrap material
was approximately HK$33,278,000 for the current year
(2018: HK$ 3,569,000). Other major items included the
gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and
changes in fair value of financial guarantee liabilities, which
were approximately HK$42,089,000 and HK$8,606,000
respectively (2018: HK$ 56,365,000 and HK$ 11,168,000).
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Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses of approximately
HK$107,917,000 (2018: HK $ 133,673,000) accounted for
approximately 2.5% (2018: 2.9%) of revenue, which mainly
consisted of market operating expenses and sales staff
salaries, and sales and distribution expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly include staff compensation,
depreciation and amortisation, auditing and professional
expenses. Administrative expenses for the current year were
approximately HK$298,305,000 (2018: HK$ 233,530,000),
being an increase of approximately HK$64,775,000 or
27.7% year-on-year.

Due to the gradual reduction of production at the Shandong
Hongri production base, its depreciation and amortisation
during the Year is required to be reclassified from
production costs to administrative expenses, increasing
administrative expenses by approximately HK$30,188,000.
In addition, Jiangsu production base undertook relevant
repair and maintenance while taking up the integration of
Shandong Hongri's production capacity, incurring repair
and maintenance costs of approximately HK$11,673,000.
In addition, the Company and REMT have granted share
options during the Year to provide incentives or rewards to
eligible persons, resulting in a total equity settlement fee of
approximately HK$22,969,000, recognized as expense for
this year.

Finance expenses

Finance costs were approximately HK$153,664,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 6.8%
year-on-year, mainly resulted from decrease in effective
interest rate of the exchangeable bond upon extension and
reduced bills financing, thereby reducing the proportion of
high-interest financing.
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Income tax expense

The income tax expense for this period was approximately
HK$ 163,347,000, representing an increase of
approximately 8.7% year-on-year. During this period,
Jiangxi production base began to take up the production
and sales volume of Shandong Hongri production base,
exercised economies of scale, effectively controlled costs
and expenses, and increased the profit of the fertiliser
business. Income tax expenses were soO increased
accordingly.

Margin

During the Year, the Group’s after-tax profit from
continuing operations was approximately HK$428,254,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 20.9% year-on-
year. During the year, the Group persisted to have cash
inflow generated from operations. The EBITDA for 2019 was
approximately HK$964,692,000 (2018: HK$1,068,000,000
after exclusion of discontinued operation). The year to year
comparison was about a decrease of 10.4%.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

Liquidity, Liabilities and Financial Resources

The Group’s liquidity in 2019 was mainly derived from cash
generated from business operations and financing activities
during the Year. As at 31 December 2019, total amount of
bank and cash balances of the Group was approximately
HK$832,662,000 (2018: HK$717,807,000).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total borrowings
increased by approximately 5.6% as compared to 2018,
while net current assets increased by approximately 12.2%
as compared to 2018. The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated
by total borrowings over total assets) was approximately
28.6% in 2019 (2018: 27.6%).
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The Group’s existing cash resources together with the
steady cash flows generated from operating and financing
activities are sufficient to meet its business operations.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had pledge of its
assets, details of which are disclosed in Note 34 to the
financial statements.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2019, other than those disclosed in
Note 41 to the financial statements, the Group did not have
any material capital commitments.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, other than those disclosed in
Note 46 to the financial statements, the Group did not have
any significant contingent liabilities.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2019, the issued share capital of the
Company were HK$91,622,337, divided into 4,581,116,843
shares of HK$0.02 each.

Project Overview
Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City,
Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit
method, and therefore no additional exploration works are
involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works for
open-pit mining are involved in the development activities,
and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing
magnesium products of the Group. The transportation cost
for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity
of the mine to the production base of the Group.
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The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the
Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December
2019, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were
determined based on the yearly reduction of quantity
mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve
volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions of
estimation by the Group as compared with those previously
disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed
by the Group’s internal geological experts. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group completed a dolomite
output of 109,601 tonnes. As compared with the state as
at 31 December 2018, there was no material change in the
resource estimate and ore reserve of the dolomite mine
during the Year.

During 2019, the expenditures incurred in mining
activities were mainly for direct wages, materials, energy,
transportation, depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such
expenditures have been included in cost of sales and
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for 2019.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of dolomite
for the year ended 31 December 2019 were approximately
HK$4,221,000 while the expenditure incurred in exploration
and development activities was HK$Nil.

Serpentine Mine

The Group’s serpentine mine is situated in Donghai County,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by
open-pit method, and therefore no additional exploration
works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure
works for open-pit mining are involved in the development
activities, and no underground exploration or structural
works are involved. The serpentine mined is sold directly
as metallurgical flux for iron and steel smelting and is raw
material for producing silicon magnesium fertilisers of the
Group. The transportation cost for raw material is relatively
low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production
base of the Group.

The resource/reserve of the Serpentine Mine was reported
under the JORC system when it was acquired in 2010.
As at 31 December 2019, the anticipated resource and
reserve volumes were determined based on the volume at
the time of acquisition with the yearly reduction of quantity
mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve
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volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions of
estimation by the Group as compared with those previously
disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed
by the Group’s internal geological experts. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group completed a
serpentine output of 537,485 tonnes. As compared with
the state as at 31 December 2018, there was no material
change in the resource estimate and ore reserve of the
serpentine mine.

The expenditures incurred for 2019 in development activities
were mainly CAPEX for transformation of the mine dumping
site as specified and addition of mining machine. Such
expenditures have been capitalised and included in the
consolidated statement of financial position for 2019. The
expenditures incurred in mining activities were mainly for
direct wages, materials, energy, transportation, depreciation
and amortisation, etc. Such expenditures have been
included in cost of sales and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for 2019.

The expenditures incurred in development and mining
activities of serpentine for the year ended 31 December
2019 were approximately HK$10,942,000 and
HK$29,413,000 respectively while the expenditures incurred
in exploration were HK$ Nil.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks
and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our
Group’s businesses. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by our Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to our Group or which may not be
material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or
affects ability to meet business objectives arising from
the movement in market demand, product prices, foreign
exchange rates, and interest rates. The management of our
Group keeps continually monitoring these exposures closely
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner against such risks.
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Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and is exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from primarily with
respect to Renminbi, HK$, Singapore dollars, US$ and
Australian dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations. The Group
does not presently hedge the foreign exchange risks.
The Group periodically reviews liquid assets and liabilities
held in currencies other than HK$ to evaluate its foreign
exchange risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging
instruments when necessary.

Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner
when appropriate, through variety of means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk
exposure of our customers. The Group strictly followed
the “client account management procedures” established
in 2004. The procedures required and ensured that all
clients were regularly assessed and be kept track of their
transaction records and credit history. The Group specified
and assigned to each customer, as according to their
operation and credit status, a series of credit measures
such as credit ratio, credit period, credit rating, credit terms
and guarantee. The client account management procedures
were effective to control the credit risk of the Group.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will be unable
to meet its obligations when they fall due because of an
inability to obtain adequate funding or liquidate assets. In
managing liquidity risk, our Group monitors cash flows and
maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalent
to ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and
reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational
risks basically rests with functional departments of the
Group and its subsidiaries. Key functions of the Group
is to guide their standard operating procedures, limits
of authority and reporting framework. Our management
will assess key operational exposures and effect raised
in business development regularly, implement relevant
measures and improve the internal control so that risk
can be responded and mitigated on a timely and effective
manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of
extension of its return period relative to the expected
return or occurrence of losses on any particular investment
attributable to changes of external factors. The Group is
well aware of importance of exploring various business
opportunities and territories on a continual basis, and also
implement as the top agenda of the year. Key concern
of projects investment framework will be balancing risk
and return across different investments, and thus risk
assessment is a core aspect of the investment decision
process. Proper investment assessment and due diligence
procedures have been set up and detailed analysis will be
made before approving investments. Regular updates on
the progress of the investments of our Group would be
submitted to the Board.

Manpower and retention risk

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because
of the Group’s rapid business development while at the
same time facing severe competition over specialists from
the industry and turnover of manpower. Our Group may
face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key
personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of
business which would meet the business objectives of our
Group. Our Group will conduct a thorough analysis over
its remuneration system, as well as incentive mechanism
and optimise the compensation structure so as to ensure



FoXEEHRFS o B - FNHEERE - TEHR
ESREEERBAL  YIRH B THRG(CEE
Al REETABKE RINREERE  AGRIF
M BRI

RIEBRRRIR

REBRR NIRRT BETBEBRFHRFERBR
HMEREEMAMBRORE R - NEEZH
BARERMABEFEARZRTEDA - AJREX
RerriEfRxEELeNREREEELRA
XETRREENER - AEEZYBITRER
REIMERAEZNEBH REXFEERATE RN
E AEEUHRRAENBETHEEL BN
REEMRTFEKEGAAERER TR Z K
HAIH AN BENETERRREEIER -
WHEREVE B i AR A RAA - sERETH &
YR  AEEAELECRARCERZRE
It ZEEHBEERDU - BIHERE & E
KIRKEITE -

BFEERBA

AEBMNERTERARBRFPEARNMHKTBA
AETT  MARBRB AT ET - Atk AEM
LEBAEBTHEANMEBEENEBERLER -
HZE2019F 12A31MHIEFERAEEAREH
B BROAMM AEERETTIRAMEES
WFTEBRDERNMER ©

2019 % ANNUAL REPORT 2019

BB wR AT

Management Discussion and Analysis

remuneration packages can align reasonably with market
standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile,
recruitment channels are broadened and the talent pool
of senior management are strengthened, so as to further
enhance the promotion opportunities and career path of
employees. Systematic staff training are also being further
enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training
and the dissemination of good corporate cultures.

Environmental Policies and Performance

Environmental policies and performance mainly means
increasing attention of PRC government paid to
environmental rules and policies and more strict regulatory
requirements. As subsidiaries and newly acquired
enterprises commenced into operation for a long while and
lag behind certain environmental and duty requirements
promulgated by PRC government. The Group monitors
impact on business development closely raised from
movements of environmental policy and external factors.
Acting in an environmentally responsible manner and
performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed to
improving and maintaining the long term sustainability of the
communities in which it operates. The Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient
use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction.
Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in daily
operation of the Group. Such initiatives include recycling
of resources, energy saving measures and water saving
practices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in mainland China while the
Company is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in mainland China and Hong Kong. During
the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group
has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in
mainland China and Hong Kong.
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Relationship with Employees and Key
Stakeholders

The number of employees of the Group was 2,351 (2018:
approximately 3,440) as at 31 December 2019. The
remuneration of employees was determined by the Group
with reference to their performance, work experience and
current market conditions. Employee benefits include
medical insurance, defined provident fund scheme,
discretionary bonus and employee share option scheme.
There has been no labour dispute or significant change in
the number of employees that affect the normal operations
of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group
maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners, shareholders, investors
and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with
our key stakeholders closely, the Group has formulated
corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also
holds tailored activities from time to time, such as annual/
extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars
and road-shows. Accordingly, our senior management
have kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas
and shared business latest update about development of
the Group with them when appropriate. During the Year,
there was no material dispute between our Group and its
business partners or banks.



2019 % ANNUAL REPORT 2019

EENSREEEGE

Directors and Senior Management Profile

HITES

MXE 575 AKREXF BEHIFTERR
BE T ST A E R EEREK - 19095F » WAL ER
JNHF R R EBSH - EESBA - AL
ER1989F K AT EA EREE - MARMT
BERRBRMERAT - 1998 5 4] ML E
FRABHBREER  YEDESHREDREEE
MV MAEIRR - WEEARREMEBEANE
ERERER - AL 2000 FRIAEKHE -

EHE 625 ASBEITHRAY  BEEEE
KB o MARNEBZA - LAEZ BAIFER
NEEERKEE - A HBERABAFTEREHH
MmBENE HER - LA ER1984F INARE
EHBRELOAR - HELE  BEHERN
EHOER - LAEERERNBERERESTE
¥ oL EB2002F1 AMARER - L E
REMAHERBRZNTES -

HMEBE 7R ASECEEHRE BEE
BEEFER AOXSFEHEEITEBI0FIE
B o MAERERUBERTHEREHE - %k
ER2004F8 AMARER - A LB A
MERREHITES -

Executive Directors

CHI Wen Fu, aged 57, Chairman of the Group who is
responsible for overall strategic planning and key operating
decisions. Mr. Chi started his law firm in Fuzhou in 1995, in
which he was the Managing Partner. Prior to that, Mr. Chi
joined Fuzhou Justice Bureau Commerce Law Office after
qualifying as a lawyer in the PRC in 1989. In early 1998,
Mr. Chi originated an initial research on organic agricultural
production and funded a R&D project on microbial
compound fertilisers. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Chemical
Analysis and Law. Mr. Chi established the Group in 2000.

SHUM Sai Chit, aged 62, Chief Executive Officer of the
Group who is responsible for business operations. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing Director
of Go Modern Limited which was principally engaged in
manufacturing of textile products and trading activities. In
1984, Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and Export
Corporation as a Manager to oversee importing and
exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate of
Consumer Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum has
joined the Group since January 2002. Mr. Shum is currently
an executive director of REMT.

CHI Jing Chao, aged 37, Chief Corporate Affairs Officer
of the Group who is responsible for the overall corporate
activities. Mr. Chi has 10 years of experience in corporate
affairs. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Financial and Administrative
Management. Mr. Chi has joined the Group since August
2004. Mr. Chi is currently an executive director of REMT.
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Non-Executive Director

GUO Mengyong, aged 61, is a Deputy General Manager
of Fujian Changsheng Wireless Technology Development
Company Limited. He is responsible for electronic
engineering technical management. Fujian Changsheng
Wireless Technology Development Company Limited is
principally engaged in production of electronic products and
communication devices. Mr. Guo joined Fuzhou Capacitors
Factory as a Technician in 1976. From 1993 onwards,
Mr. Guo worked at Fuzhou Meters Group Company as
an Engineer and later promoted to the Deputy Factory
Manager in 1996, in charging of technical quality control. In
2000, Mr. Guo joined Fujian Wireless Group Company as
Deputy General Manager and was responsible for quality
management. He is a graduate of Industrial Enterprise
Management. Mr. Guo has joined the Group since February
2011.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

CHEUNG Sound Poon, aged 59, is currently an
independent non-executive director of Rare Earth. Mr.
Cheung is currently a senior audit manager at Chui &
Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W.K. Yam &
Co. (CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 35 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He was an independent non-
executive director and the chairman of audit committee of
the board of the Comapny betwee February 2004 and May
2007.

SHENG Hong, aged 57, Director of Hadrian Manufacturing
(Asia) Limited and Director of Operations and General
Manager of Hadrian (Shanghai) Trading Limited. The
Hadrian Group is principally engaged in production and
sales of metal partitions and lockers. Mr. Sheng has over
20 years of experience in management of corporation
and investment. He was employed by China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to 1996. Mr. Sheng
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering Mechanics from
Tongiji University, Shanghai.
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LAU Chi Kit, aged 75, an executive director of Chinlink
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 997). He retired
from The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited (“HSBC”) in December 2000 after more than 35
years of service. Among the major positions in HSBC, he
was the assistant general manager and head of Personal
Banking Hong Kong and assistant general manager and
head of Strategic Implementation, Asia- Pacific Region.
He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers
(“Institute”). He was the chairman of the Institute’s
Executive Committee (from January 1999 to December
2000). He is currently the honorary advisor of the Institute’s
Executive Committee. He served as a member on a
number of committees appointed by the Government of
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, including the
Advisory Council on the Environment (from October 1998
to December 2001), the Advisory Committee on Human
Resources Development in the Financial Services Sector
(from June 2000 to May 2001), the Corruption Prevention
Advisory Committee of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (from January 2000 to December
2003), the Environment and Conservation Fund Committee
(from August 2000 to October 2006), the Innovation
and Technology Fund (Environment) Projects Vetting
Committee (from January 2000 to December 2004) and
the Law Reform Commission’s Privacy Sub-committee
(from February 1990 to March 2006). He also served as
chairman of the Business Environment Council Limited (from
September 1998 to December 2001). Currently, he is also
an independent non-executive director of Royale Furniture
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1198), Leoch International
Technology Limited (stock code: 842) and Hin Sang Group
(International) Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
6893).
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Company Secretary

LUK Sai Wai, Simon, aged 56, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Luk is
responsible for financial, management accounting and
secretarial affairs of the Group. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Luk was appointed as Financial Controller for several
listed companies in Hong Kong and was experienced in
finance and management. Mr. Luk holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong Baptist
University and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
from University of Strathclyde. He is a fellow member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a member of Society of Registered
Financial Planners, Hong Kong. Mr. Luk has joined the
Group since May 2010.

Senior Management

NGAN Sau Fung Joseph, aged 62, Managing Director
of the Group. Mr. Ngan is responsible for corporate finance
and investor relations management, and also participates
in risk management and strategic planning of the Group.
Mr. Ngan has over 30 years of experience in the financial
industry, which includes working at The Hong Kong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, the Allied Banking
Corporation, and DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, in the
foreign exchange and treasury businesses, corporate and
retail banking, payment and cash management, as well as
credit and risk management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Ngan was the Managing Director of DBS Bank (Hong Kong),
and was in charge of its enterprise banking business. Mr.
Ngan has joined the Group since March 2017.

WANG Yongxiang, aged 51, Production Director of the
Group, is responsible for the production management
in ore and fertiliser of the Group. Mr. Wang majored in
planning and surveying of mining industry with over 20
years of experience in agricultural fertilisers production and
mining. Prior to joining the Group, he was the Production
Technician and Engineer at Donghai serpentine mine in
Jiangsu Province, and the Head of Sulfuric Acid Factory.
Mr. Wang has joined the Group since 2007.
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ZHU Guocai, aged 46, Sales Director of the Group, is
responsible for sales management in fertiliser business
of the Group. Mr. Zhu graduated from Jilin Agricultural
University, and has over 20 years of experience in the
agricultural management and marketing of fertiliser. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Zhu served as Regional Director
and Deputy General Manager of sales in Shandong Hongri
Chemical Joint Stock Company Limited. Mr. Zhu joined
Shandong Hongri in 2000.

ZHOU Jianhui, aged 47, is responsible for the safety
environment management of the fertiliser base of the
Group. Mr. Zhou majored in agriculture with over 20 years
of experience in agricultural fertilisers industries, and has
served in various positions, such as the Head of Fertiliser
Factory and Company General Manager. Mr. Zhou has
joined the Group since 2007.

LEE Man Ching, aged 40, Assistant to Chairman of the
Group. Ms. Lee has over 10 years of experience in human
resources and administrative management. Ms. Lee holds a
Bachelor’ s Degree in Accountancy and a Master’ s Degree
in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, and an associate member
of Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Ms. Lee
has joined the Group since August 2004.
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The Company is committed to achieve and maintain high
standards of corporate governance and business integrity.
The Board believes that good corporate governance will
not only improve management accountability and investors
confidence, but will lay a good foundation for the long-term
development of the Company.

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year of 2019, the Company has complied
with the code provision as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate
Governance Report under Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) except for the following deviations as
explained below with considered reasons:

(@) Under code provision E.1.2, the Chairman of the
Board should attend the annual general meeting. Mr.
Chi Wen Fu, the chairman of the Board was unable
to attend the annual general meeting held on 26 June
2019 as he was obliged to be away for a business
trip. Mr. Shum Sai Chit, chief executive officer and
executive Director of the Company, attended the said
annual general meeting to respond to queries from
shareholders.

(o) Under code provision A. 6. 7, independent non-
executive Directors and other non-executive Directors
should also attend general meetings and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
Mr. Guo Mengyong (being a non-executive Director)
and Mr. Sheng Hong (being an independent non-
executive Director) was unable to attend the general
meeting held on 26 June 2019 as they were obliged
to be away for business trips. Mr. Kwong Ping Man
(being an independent non-executive Director who
has retired from the Board on 26 June 2019) was also
unable to attend the annual general meeting held on
26 June 2019 for personal engagement.
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The Board

The Group is governed by the Board which is responsible
for strategic leadership and overall supervision of the
Group. The Board exercises a number of authorities which
include:

—  Formulating the Group’s overall strategies

— Monitoring and controlling operational and financial
performance

—  Formulating strategies for risk management

— Reviewing effectiveness of internal control system

— Approving financial results and public announcements

—  Approving annual operating budgets

— Approving major acquisitions or disposals and capital
projects

— Reviewing and approving major investments and
material borrowings

—  Setting dividend policy

— Approving appointment of Directors

—  Setting the Group’s remuneration policies

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions
set out in code provision D.3.1. The Board will meet to
develop, review and monitor the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, to review and monitor
training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, to review and monitor
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, to develop, review
and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors and to review the
compliance of the Company with the CG Code and the
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year of 2019, in relation to the corporate
governance functions, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the
regulatory and statutory requirements, and the disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

During 2019, the Chairman had met the non-executive
Director and the independent non-executive Directors
respectively and individually without the presence of other
executive Directors.
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Board Composition

The Board comprises 7 Directors in which 3 are
executive Directors; 1 is non-executive Director and 3
are independent non-executive Directors. The number of
independent non-executive Directors constitutes more than
one-third of the Board. The composition of the Board as at
the date of this report and their profiles are set out on page
37 and page 41 of the annual report respectively.

The Board delegates powers to executive Directors
for the day-to-day management of the Group and the
implementation of major strategies and initiatives adopted
by the Board whereas executive Directors should provide
such explanations and information to the Board in a timely
manner to enable the Board to monitor the performance of
management.

Non-executive Director brings in valuable expertise and
experience to the Company and serves important functions
as well as provides strategic advices to the management.

Independent non-executive Directors ensure that the
Board is accountable for the interest of all shareholders
and handles matters in an objective manner. The 3
independent non-executive Directors have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for efficient and effective
delivery of its functions. The Board has received from each
independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Chi Jing Chao have a family
relationship of uncle and nephew. Mr. Guo Mengyong is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Chi Wen Fu. Save as disclosed, there
is no other relationship among members of the Board.

Upon reviewing (i) the directorships and major commitments
of each Director; and (ii) the attendance rate of each
Director at the meetings of the Board and its committees,
the Board is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient
time in performing their responsibilities during 2019.
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company are Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Shum Sai Chit
respectively. The roles of chairman and the chief executive
of the Company are separate and exercised by two
separate individuals.

Appointment and Re-election

Any potential new Directors, being individuals who
are suitably qualified and expected to make a positive
contribution to the performance of the Board, will be
identified by the existing Directors and the Nomination
Committee and submitted to the Board for approval.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and every Director shall be subject to retirement at least
once every 3 years. Mr. Shum Sai Chit, Mr. Guo Mengyong,
Mr. Chi Jing Chao and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (both
Mr. Chi and Mr.Cheung being directors appointed by the
Board after the preceding general meeting of the Company)
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, but being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

Each of the non-executive Director and the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Guo Mengyong, Mr.
Cheung Sound Poon, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Lau Chi Kit,
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a fixed term of 2 years commencing from 1 March 2019,
27 June 2019, 1 March 2019 and 1 April 2020 respectively,
subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of
Directors under the articles of association of the Company
and save that either such Director or the Company may
terminate the appointment by giving at least 3 months’ prior
written notice. Annual emoluments payable to independent
non-executive Directors and non-executive Director will be
reviewed according to their estimated time to be spent on
the Company’s matters and their working experience with
the Company.
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All existing executive Directors are entitled to a fixed
remuneration per annum respectively. In addition, each
executive Director is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus calculated as a percentage of the
audited consolidated net profit of the Group attributable to
the owners of the Company (after tax and non-controlling
interests and the payment of such management bonuses
but before extraordinary and exceptional items), which
percentage shall be determined by the Board provided
that the aggregate amount of the bonuses payable to
all executive Directors in respect of each financial year
of the Company shall not exceed 5% of such net profit.
The remuneration of each executive Director is subject to
the annual review of the Board with reference to his/her
contribution in terms of time, effort and his/her expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors and
senior management during the year are disclosed in Note
13 to the financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
expenses incurred during the performance of their duties to
the Company and are eligible for share options under the
share option scheme of the Company.

Board Processes

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and leads
the Group in an ethical, responsible and effective manner.
The Board meets on a regular basis and arranges ad-hoc
meetings for any specific matters that may arise.
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it Shum Sai Chit

BERe Chi Jing Chao®
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The Board met 4 times in 2019. The attendance of
individual Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings
and general meetings is set out in the following table:

4/4 = 11 = 0/1
4/4 = = 11 11
2/2 = = = 0/1
2/2 = = = 0/1
4/4 = = = 0/1
2/2 2/2 = = =
2/2 3/3 11 11 0/1
4/4 5/5 11 11 11
4/4 5/5 = 11 11

0 20196 A26 HREALRARES
@ MR2019F 6 AT BHEZTAARRIES

ZENEMNEEEXHERESTeZEEeR
BRARTERES YR TRIIRHEREE
Bl- B2 ANBEEE R LURERRT AR
NEERBRIFLIRTE - WEBRRIXEFNE
FeEHNERRBEAZEETENEER -
EREERAEERTESEER 2 AMIEN
EMRBRZIARHE -

M Retired as Director of the Company on 26 June 2019
@ Appointed as Director of the Company on 27 June 2019

Agendas and the accompanying board papers are
circulated in full to all Directors at least 3 days before the
Board or committee meeting. Board decisions will then be
resolved either by vote at Board meetings or by written
resolutions. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has
a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather
than a written resolution.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the
Board committees taken by the company secretary of the
Company and, together with any supporting papers, are
available for inspection to all Directors. The minutes record
the matters discussed by the Board or its committees,
the decisions made and any concerns or dissenting views
raised by the Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interests in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board,
such Director is required to declare his/her interest and
abstain from voting. Such matter shall be considered at a
Board meeting by Directors who have no material interest in
the transaction or proposal.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous
Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each Director would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s business and
the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a
listed company. The Group also regularly updates Directors
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding
subjects necessary for performing their duties. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging and offering to pay
for Directors to attend seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.
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BEMESREMHMCEE FEEM2019F1H  According to the records provided by the Directors, the

1HZE2019412 A 31 BEIMESMEIIEM L training received by each of the Directors during the

T period from 1 January 2019 up to 31 December 2019 is
summarised as follows:

HITES Executive Directors

M E Chi Wen Fu B

Lt Shum Sai Chit B

A EHHER @ Chi Jing Chao® B

MEZO Chi Bi Fen® B

FHITES Non-Executive Director

RE Guo Mengyong B

BAYKHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors

REAR@ Cheung Sound Poon® B

Bt Sheng Hong B

2155 Lau Chi Kit B

BB IR S ™ Kwong Ping Man® A, B

o MR2019F6 A26 HETAARRRES M Retired as Director of the Company on 26 June 2019

@ R2019F6 A27 AEZT AKX RRES @  Appointed as Director of the Company on 27 June 2019

PEE - notes:

A EEEESRIEIIRE A:  Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)

B: MERS  TYWhEBMAQAREBHEE/MEN B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
Ef ETARAREMERAEEREETERS Company’s business or directors’ duties and responsibilities,
75 TH B B & K the latest development of the Listing Rules and other

applicable regulatory requirements etc.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for implementing business strategies and management of
the daily operations of the Group to the senior management
who is required to report back to the Board. Functions
reserved to the Board and the management are reviewed
periodically. The Board and each individual Director is
empowered to access any Company’s information from
senior management and the company secretary at all times.
The Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including
amendments on relevant rules and regulations. During the
year, Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties. Directors are allowed to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense, but no request was made by any
Director for such independent professional advice in 2018.

The Board monitors and reviews performance of the
management based on several key performance indicators
such as financial figures, investor relations, corporate
governance and internal control. The principal measures
include review of management accounts, review of
internal or external auditor reports and feedbacks from
stakeholders.

Board Diversity Policy

During the year, the Board has implemented a board
diversity policy which has been effective since 1 September
2013. The Company seeks to achieve board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 7
Directors. Among which, one of them is a woman, one
of them is a non-executive Director and three of them
are independent non-executive Directors. The Directors
are of diverse educational background and possess a
wide spectrum of professional qualifications and business
experience. The Board is of significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of gender, professional and educational
background and skills.

Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the
code of conduct of the Company regarding Directors’
securities transactions. The Company made specific
enquiries to all Directors and all Directors have confirmed in
writing that they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code during the year.

Board’'s Committees

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board
has established audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
and nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”).
These committees function within clearly defined terms
of reference. Independent non-executive Directors play
a significant role in these committees to ensure that
independent and objective views are taken.

The terms of reference of these committees are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Sheng
Hong and Mr. Lau Chi Kit, who are all independent non-
executive Directors. All committee members possess
appropriate qualifications such as accounting and financial
management.

The Audit Committee met 5 times in 2019 to review with
the senior management and external auditors the Group’s
significant internal controls and financial matters as set out
in the Audit Committee’s terms of reference. The functions
of the Audit Committee include the following matters:

— Reviewing the Group’s financial statements with
recommendation to the Board for approval

— Reviewing the Group’s compliance of the regulatory
and statutory requirements

— Reviewing the Group’s internal control and risk
management

— Reviewing significant accounting and audit issues

— Reviewing the Group’s connected transactions

— Overseeing and managing the relationship with
external auditors

The Audit Committee has power to conduct investigations
into any matter within the scope of responsibility of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is authorised
to obtain independent professional advice if it deems
necessary for discharging its responsibilities. The Audit
Committee has obtained a written confirmation from the
auditors on their independence and objectivity as required
under the Section 290 (revised) of the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants issued by Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants prior to the commencement of
the audit of the Company’s financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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During the year, the Audit Committee has carried out
the above functions in the respective Audit Committee
meetings and also has been satisfied with the review of
the audit scope, process, effectiveness and independence
of the auditors. The Audit Committee has reviewed and
recommended to the Board for approval of the interim
and annual financial statements for 2019. There was no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 4
members, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Shum Sai Chit (executive Director), Mr. Sheng
Hong (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Lau Chi
Kit (independent non-executive Director).

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
formulate transparent procedures for setting remuneration
policies and packages for Directors and the senior
management of the Group. Its duties include:

— Reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration packages of individual executive and
non-executive Directors and the senior management
of the Group

— Reviewing the administration of the share option
scheme of the Company

— Reviewing the appropriateness of compensation for
Directors and the senior management of the Group

No Director is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee met once in
2019 to review the existing remuneration policies of the
Directors and senior management.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 members,
namely, Mr. Chi Wen Fu (chairman of the Nomination
Committee and executive Director), Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Sheng
Hong (independent non-executive Director).

Its duties include:

— Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board

— Recommending any change to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategies

— ldentifying capable and qualified individuals to become
Board members

— Assessing independence of independent non-
executive Directors

— Making recommendation on appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors

— developing and maintaining a policy for the nomination
of Board members

— developing and maintaining a board diversity policy
and to ensure its effectiveness

— monitoring the implementation of the Board diversity
policy and to review and to make recommendations
on any revisions of such policy

The Nomination Committee met once in 2019 for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board regarding change of roles
of board members and re-appointment of retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In carrying out the responsibility for identifying suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to
the board diversity policy.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

The Company had appointed HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the independent auditors of the Group. Apart
from audit services, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
also provided non-audit services during the year. For the
year of 2019, the provisions of non-audit services mainly
include professional services for professional review.

The following principles are considered when determining
the appointment of the auditors in non-audit services:

— No management decision made by the auditors
— Independence of the auditors not to be impaired
—  Quality of service

—  Cost of service

The Board was authorised in the annual general meeting to
determine the remuneration of the independent auditors.

The remuneration paid/payable by the Group to the
independent auditors for the year of 2019 are as follows:

FET
HK$’000

HESNMEERERLT HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Bz R EZEERT Audit and audit related services 3,527
IEEZIRTE Non-audit services 944
HE Total 4,471

AEEZEREMBEFSAMEBEAAERA

% EEHﬁﬁ%ﬁAEDﬁ%;ﬁﬂZlﬂx%i@EKQLF
me BRZZEBEERESTSRE  RABEITLZ
BRRAFAS LBRAZEBRFHSFIMELHAR
RERARBEZZEED -

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be re-appointed as the
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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Respective Responsibilities of Directors and
Auditors

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparation of the financial statements for each financial
period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and its subsidiaries and in compliance with
the requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules.

The auditors acknowledge their responsibilities in the
auditors’ report as set out on pages 77 to 86 of the annual
report.

Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal controls and risk management with a view to
ensuring that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
assets are safeguarded. Such system is designated to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. This responsibility is primarily fulfilled on its behalf by
the Audit Committee. In the year under review, the Audit
Committee, as delegated by the Board, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group,
covering all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.

The foundation of a strong system of internal control is
a solid control environment. This is dependent on the
following components:

— Business ethics and culture of the organisation;
— Quality and competence of its personnel;

—  Direction provided by the Board; and

—  Effectiveness of the management
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Risk Management

The Group improves its business and operational activities
by identifying the areas of significant business risks via a
regular review and taking appropriate measures to control
and mitigate these risks. The management of the Group
reviews all significant control policies and procedures and
highlights all significant matters to the Board and Audit
Committee.

The implementation of risk management of the Group
was assisted by the Group’s internal audit department
so that the Group could ensure new and emerging risks
relevant to the Group’s operation are promptly identified
by management, assess the adequacy of action plans
to manage these risks and monitor and evaluate the
effectiveness of the action plans. These are on-going
processes and our Audit Committee reviews the Group’s
risk management systems periodically.

Audit committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy
which, among other things, included the determination
of risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group could
endure and effectiveness of risk management measures.
Based on the reports from the Group’s internal control
department and the Audit Committee, the Board considers
the Group’s risk management and internal control system
is adequate and effective and the Group has complied with
the provisions on risk management and internal controls as
set out in the CG code.
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Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling
and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements or circulars
is not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative
facts.

Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

The Company recognises the importance of open
communication and fair disclosure. It is the Company’s
policy to ensure that all shareholders are equally informed
of all major corporate developments.

All shareholders have proper notice of any general meeting
of the Company at which the Directors and the committees’
members are available to give explanation on any query
raised by the shareholders. Major information of the
Company could be obtained from the Company’s website
or financial reports and circulars sent to the shareholders.
Any enquiries by the shareholders requiring the Board’s
attention can also be sent in writing to the Investor
Relations Manager of the Company whose contact details
are set out in the paragraph headed “Shareholders’ Rights
— (c) Right to Put Enquiries to the Board” below.
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Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the
Company shall be decided on a poll, save that the chairman
of the meeting may in good faith allow a resolution which
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to
be voted by a show of hands. Procedures for conducting
a poll will be explained to the shareholders at each general
meeting and questions from shareholders regarding the
voting procedures will be answered. The poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively in the manner prescribed under the
Listing Rules.

As part of a regular program of investor relations, senior
executives may hold briefings or road shows after the
results announcement and attend conferences with
institutional investors and analysts to engage in two-way
communications on the Company’s performance, objectives
and developments. Company visits can be arranged by the
Company upon specific request.

Shareholders’ Rights

(a) Right to Convene Extraordinary General

Meeting

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition.
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The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit
it to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 1104, 11th
Floor, Tower 6, The Gateway, 9 Canton Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and such request
may consist of several documents in like form, each
signed by one or more of the requisitionist(s).

The request will be verified with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon
the confirmation of the branch share registrar that
the request is in order, the company secretary of
the Company will ask the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting by serving sufficient
notice in accordance with all relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements to all registered members. On
the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order,
the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, an extraordinary general meeting will not
be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Right to Put Forward Proposals at General

Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to
propose new resolutions at general meetings under
the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the articles of
association of the Company. Shareholders who wish
to propose a resolution may request the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting following
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regard the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the procedures
made available on the website of the Company at
www.centurysunshine.com.hk.

Right to Put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing for the attention of
Investor Relations Manager of the Company whose
contact details are as follows:

Suite 1104, 11th Floor

Tower 6, The Gateway

9 Canton Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2802 2697

Email: ir@centurysunshine.com.hk

The Investor Relations Manager of the Company shall
forward the shareholders’ enquiries and concerns
to the Board and/or relevant committees of the
Board to answer the shareholders’ questions where
appropriate.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Luk Sai Wai, Simon is an employee of the Company
and has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company with effect from 1 May 2010. The biographical
details of Mr. Luk are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile”.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Luk has

taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

Constitutional documents

There are no changes in the Company ’s constitutional
documents during the year.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019, which are set out
on pages 63 to 224.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis
of Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The activities and other particulars of its principal
subsidiaries are shown under Note 24 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating
segments is set out in Note 8 to the financial statements.
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
Group mainly operated in the PRC and the Group’s revenue
are mainly derived from the PRC and non-current assets of
the Group are mainly located in the PRC as at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018. No analysis of the Group’s
result and assets by geographical area is disclosed.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 87 to 88.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the

payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Business Review

A business review of the Group is set out on pages 20 to
23 of the annual report.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last 5 financial years is set out on pages 10 to 11 of
the annual report.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Note 18 to the financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

Equity Linked Agreements

(a) Share options granted to directors and selected

(b)

employees

For share options granted, exercised and lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2019, details are
set out in Note 40 of the financial statements and the
section named “Share Option Schemes” contained in
this Directors’ Report.

Call option

On 13 December 2019, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Grantor”) entered
into a call option agreement with an independent third
party (the “Optionee”). Pursuant to which, the Grantor
agreed to grant to the Optionee a call option at a
non-refundable option fee of HK$2,000,000 relating
to the purchase of up to 200,000,000 REMT shares
at an exercise price of HK$0.35 per REMT share
during an option period on and subject to the terms
of the call option agreement. In the event that the call
option is exercised in full, the aggregate consideration
receivable by the Grantors will be HK$72,000,000.

For more details, please refer to the announcements
made by the Company on 13 December 2019 and 23
March 2020.
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Listed Subordinated Notes

On 5 June 2017, the Company issued listed subordinated
notes (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) with the face value of SGD101.75 million. The
note carries a coupon rate of 7.0% and are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange and will mature on 3 July 2020.

Details of the listed subordinated notes outstanding as at
31 December 2019 are set out in Note 34 of the financial
statement.

Reserves

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 91 and Note 39 to
the financial statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31
December 2019 amounted to HK$1,465,597,000 (2018:
HK$1,450,895,000).

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the year 2019 and 2018, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year and up to
the date of the annual report.

Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of the
annual report are:

Executive Directors
Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)
Shum Sai Chit (CEQ)
Chi Jing Chao®

Chi Bi Fen

Non-Executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Sound Poon®

Sheng Hong

Lau Chi Kit

Kwong Ping Man

M Retired on 26 June 2019
@ Appointed on 27 June 2019

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Shum Sai Chit, Mr.Guo Mengyong, Mr.
Chi Jing Chao and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon will retire from
office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable within
one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
its parent company was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the year, none of the Directors or the management
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or might compete with the
business of the Group.

Permitted Indemnity

Pursuant to Article 167 of the Company’ s Articles
of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto, and no Director shall be liable for any
loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be
incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of
his office or in relation thereto.

A Directors liability insurance is currently in place, and was
in place during the year, to protect the Directors of the
Company against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against them.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior
management are set out on pages 37 to 39 of the annual
report.

Share Option Schemes

(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group’s
businesses and to provide additional incentives
or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 3
December 2008 (the “Old Scheme”) and on 26 June
2019 (the “New Scheme”) respectively. The qualifying
participants mainly include employees of the Group,
Directors and contractors, suppliers or service
providers of the Group who have contribution to the
Group. Both schemes, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The Old Scheme was expired on 3
December 2018 while the remaining life of the New
Scheme is approximately 10 years (expiry on 26 June
2029). Options granted under the Old Scheme before
its expiry remain in force.

As at 31 December 2019, options to subscribe for a
total of 14,956,204 Shares were outstanding under
the Old Scheme (2018: 14,956,204 Shares) and
options to subscribe for a total of 299,900,000 Shares
were outstanding under the New Scheme. Details of
the movements in the options are set out in note 40 to
the financial statements.
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(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group of
REMT’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying
participants, REMT adopted a share option scheme
on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT Scheme”). The
qualifying participants mainly include employees,
directors, contractors, suppliers or service providers
who have contribution to the Group of REMT. The
REMT Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The remaining life of the REMT
Scheme is approximately 8 years (expiry on 4
December 2027).

As at 31 December 2019, options to subscribe for a
total of 411,400,000 Shares were outstanding under
the REMT Scheme (the “REMT Options”). Details of
the movements in the options are set out in note 40 to
the financial statements.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and Any Associated Corporation

As at 31 December 2019, the relevant interests and short
positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO were as
follows:
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(i) BARFZROREBREZRE

(i) Long Positions in Shares and Share Options of

the Company

BXE(HEE]) 249,970,548 - 1,591,841,912 34.75%
Chi Wen Fu ("Mr. Chi") (BEE1) (note 1) 20,000,000 0.44%
Tt 14,666,305 - 14,666,305 0.32%
Shum Sai Chit 20,000,000 0.44%
HER 1,633,998 1,633,998 0.04%
Chi Jing Chao 8,000,000 0.17%
PEE 2,625,000 - 2,625,000 0.06%
Guo Mengyong 5,000,000 0.11%
FHAN - - - -
Cheung Sound Poon( 5,000,000 0.11%
Bt 1,775,000 - 1,775,000 0.04%
Sheng Hong 5,000,000 0.11%
BB 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 0.04%
Lau Chi Kit 11,389,145 0.25%
(1) M2019F6 A2 AEZEAKRARIES - (1) Appointed as Director of the Company on 27 June 2019.
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(i) RERGZEHFZRE (i) Long position in debentures of the Company
Espg B, RRHE FiEEsE8E
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Amount of debentures held

¥ N3 7T
SGD

oA (BN 2 2,500,000

Mr. Chi Personal interest

BEE - notes:

1. ZERNDABERERAERAG([EE])EHEA % 1. These Shares are held by Alpha Sino International Limited

R AERFEREDEITRA83.74% - It (“Alpha Sino”) and are deemed corporate interests by virtue
FTHEABERRAEG LITESEHITE=02— of Mr. Chi’s holding of 83.74% of the issued share capital
A EZIRERE - AEREAARER - of Alpha Sino which entitled him to exercise or control the

exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general
meeting of Alpha Sino.

R ABHR0M4F7TAIOB ZRMNMERE As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10
B EAARREERENBTE  BARQ A July 2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder
549,280,000 % A% 17 (#8 & 7201546 A30H of the Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares
NATBEBITRAL 12%) EHLBE S /A ) (representing approximately 12% of the issued share capital
(TBRRerRATF]) fERBERERARME L of the Company as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance
MARLZEBERBERARAFN2014F5 A 30H Corporation (“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated
EE(R2015F 12 7B REL)MER 30 May 2014 (as amended and restated on 7 December
ek 2 PG o 2015) entered into between IFC and Baishan City Tianan

Magnesium Resources Co. Ltd.

2. PHAZEREZHBEHIIN EXERESSE ]~ 2. Details of Options held are set out in the above section
£ o headed “Share Options Schemes”.

B EXFEES - R20194 12 A31H » &K Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none

NASEERNETBITHAERESESE2BE A of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their

T MERAQRFSAMEEBEEE(EERFE  respective associates had interests and short positions

E R EEEHIEXVE) 2 B - BB EES  in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the

R ARENARTIREES MG EME352  Company or any of its associated corporations (within the

BFEzECMRZEEESRER - meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of SFO.
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(iii) RAREZHEBZBIRE - 16EIR 5 R
I Eo ol

RERR

3

Long position

YRLE _
Shum Sai Chit

AR -
Chi Jing Chao

RER -
Cheung Sound Poon

(iii) Interests in the shares, underlying shares and

debenture of associated corporation of the
Company
REMT

= = 30,000,000 0.46%
= = 3,000,000 0.05%
= = 5,000,000 0.08%
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FERRAARQATRIDRIBEAIRIDF 2 Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
=RER Shareholders in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

MEBHRARATEITHABRMA 2019 So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of

F12A31 8 RARARMPEBELSTET RN the Company, as at 31 December 2019, persons who had

HERD B AN EEES M EKHIZE 336 interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying

BRETBREFNECHMOERRIEAEMNA LTI  shares of equity derivatives of the Company as recorded in

T the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

X E £
Chi Wen Fu Long position
T ®E
Alpha Sino Long position
BReRAR(HESMAF ) RB
International Finance Long position

Corporation (“IFC”)

5T notes:

1. MXEBEXERARQAA #£1,501,841,9128% 1.
B oA #EZ - EF(a) 249,970,548 i i
BTREESEE TUEREERL Kb
1,341,871,364 XA D ENEH BB ED 81T
RN 83.74% « HULIE T EE N AT R BERR K
G EITERIERTE= S 2 — WU E 2R ERET
W B NRER -

1,591,841,912 34.75%
(M5¥1) (note 1)

1,341,871,364 29.29%
(BizE2) (note 2)

793,526,275 17.32%
(BiFEE2) (note 2)

Mr. Chi Wen Fu has interest in an aggregate of
1,691,841,912 Shares of which (a) 249,970,548 Shares are
beneficially owned by him and registered in his name; and
(b) 1,341,871,364 Shares are deemed corporate interests by
virtue of his holding of 83.74% of the issued share capital
of Alpha Sino which entitled him to exercise or control the
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general
meeting of Alpha Sino.
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BB A2014F7A10B 2K HERE
B EAARRTERENTE  BARQF
549,280,000 i B 17 (18 & M 201546 A30H
NABEBITRAL12%) IEHEBE LA T
([EBEEmAE])  (EAHBERSRARMA L
MALECBHEBERRATN2014F5830H
HE(R2015F 12 B7HEEIREV)HMER
a2 IR o

2. BEBRemAFRNA£793,526,275 % & 1 #
B EH(a) 244,246,275 1 Jh B H
EREE YUNHEHZRHEERD RO)RBEHSE
2014 F7R10R 2RO EEER - (EAEART
FTERBEMNTE - AR 7 549,280,000 A% i 7
(FBEMN2015F6 A0 H AR A BITRAL
12% ) KIFGRBEER AR (FARBERSHA
AIMBLTREZSBEREFRATN2014F
5A30B % E(RN2015F 12 B7THKEEFI ME
PR B R 2 iR o

EENGFEB 2 #s

REBEHA  BEEXARFEEBRRABTEFS
BZBMBEAL(EERBEMERIMBERAR
Ex EmARA(T EmARA D) B ENMEREARE
BERGERKAEBRET ZEGTRA TR

N2
S o

T

BEHEEHN

RER  ARARET LM EFEERNEEAR
AEMRTABEABIEH I EERITHEH

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10
July 2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder
of the Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares
(representing approximately 12% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance
Corporation (“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated
30 May 2014 (as amended and restated on 7 December
2015) entered into between IFC and Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources Co. Ltd.

2. IFC has interest in an aggregate of 793,526,275 Shares of
which (a) 244,246,275 Shares are beneficially owned by
it and registered in its name; and (b) pursuant to a share
mortgage agreement dated 10 July 2014, Alpha Sino, being
the substantial shareholder of the Company, had mortgaged
549,280,000 Shares (representing approximately 12% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2015) to
IFC as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014 (as
amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the period under review, none of the Directors nor
the management shareholders of the Company or their
respective associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) had any interest in a business
that competed or might compete with the business of the
Group.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers
are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 15.2
- 5 largest suppliers in aggregate 41.8
Sales
— the largest customer 2.5
— 5 largest customers in aggregate 7.4

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the
major suppliers or customers noted above.

Connected Transaction

Other than those disclosed in Note 42 to the financial
statements, there was no connected transaction during the
year and in last year.

Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2019.
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HE2019F12A31BIEFEMRB&LHEHE
BETMEBKMBRATEZ - EEHRAERT
ZERERBFRE EER - ARFBREEERITZ
BERBAFAE FRE-BARRBAZIHGS
FTEN BT AR A B AN D R ZAZEAD o

REREFS

Vot 52
HITEF

EFE 0 2020F4 16 H

Auditors

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose
term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual
general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Shum Sai Chit
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020
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B 31/F., Gloucester Tower
IR The Landmark
EITEH115% 11 Pedder Street

B ES Central
ERTITRESE Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CENTURY SUNSHINE
GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 87 to 224, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Qur responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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FAREEA

FRETFEEREBRMNERHEG - ABYAX
HNGEAMBERRNEBARSEENFTH - L
FHEERMEAREBEAMBRRLRLARSR
RAETRIEN - R TEHELEREHERN
BR -

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

BEETER

Key audit matters

P B 5 R KR E

Impairment of trade receivables

A2 M RARM T4 KM 29

BMEESEHNTEEERRENEENS
How our audit addressed the
key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements

M2019F12H31H ESBEERKESRRRRE
466,119,0008 7T K EIE 5 8RR E# 15,876,000
e BEEMERESEFNZHESHEEEE
BB -

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had gross trade
receivables of HK$466,119,000 and provision for
impairment of trade receivables of HK$15,876,000.
Provision is made for lifetime expected credit losses
on trade receivables.

BHEEEREHE S REFARN B EBERET G
BFERE:

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on provision for impairment losses of
trade receivables included:

e HENRIFEEENTHNEEETEF BREH
HEHFRHNBHRYE SRR LR RRTE
HIEEEREENRERF

Understood and validated the credit control
procedures performed by management,
including its procedures on periodic review of
aged receivables and assessment on expected
credit losses allowance of receivables;
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Key audit matters

P B 5 AR FKORE ()

Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

EEEERAHFEEREERE  HRENFEMH
PR % ) 22 P 3K ] Yo 1 75 78 B K 5 ] O B UK R K & A AT R
BB BB R L ERIRHE - EARTBIEERRE - 2
BORURRMERETFPHE #EUEIAKRKREKE
ARBESEEERBSEETOE  UARFGER
Bl IE - I ERIEMEE BB RN AEERERNERR
FE - MHEERBRXIREEE=FHENELEE
BIRETE  WAHBRARRBERLFELEER - g
Y EEPENRUERENNEBEERE

Management applied judgement in assessing
the expected credit losses. Receivables relating
to customers with known financial difficulties or
significant doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for impairment
allowance. Expected credit losses are also estimated
by grouping the remaining receivables based on
shared credit risk characteristics and collectively
assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the nature of the customer, its geographical
location and its ageing category, and applying
expected credit loss rates to the respective gross
carrying amounts of the receivables. The expected
credit loss rates are determined based on historical
credit losses experienced from the past 3 years and
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information such as macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

BRI HESENRNE HRAEREEE - URAE
BETRKESEFBHEEBERBR Y AT M
%ﬁ o

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
trade receivables and the estimation and judgement
involved in determining the expected credit losses
allowance of the trade receivables.
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EBEEAPEEBRENSTENS
How our audit addressed the
key audit matters

s FEREMBAEEERE  UWMESIAAAEKRE
PR RER 2 R

Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of
ageing profile of trade receivables by checking
to the underlying sales invoices;

o DA AHRRERIT YRR AR WE B BRN 4
BRERNEMNER &

Tested on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables against bank
receipts; and

s HNSEREYHRERUEREHREEBSBRBENT
e RMAENBE=FMNBEENRN - BEF
B R RBINBRBENER(BEREREEFH
MBARRH AR ARBRRER) AR A BRIEIE
ER(PImEEEFETNEZERERR)NMS
ot BELREEREONMGE -

Obtained management’s assessment on
the expected credit losses allowance of
receivables. We corroborated and validated
management’s assessment based on the
historical settlement pattern from the past 3
years, correspondence with the customers,
evidence from external sources including
the relevant public search results relating to
the financial circumstances of the relevant
customers and market research regarding the
relevant forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors used in management’s
assessment.

AR Ll EE  RAUBREEERBUERAREES
ER R M AU T AT R R Et R H BT B A SR ER
S e

Based upon the above, we found that the estimation
and judgement made by management in respect
of the expected credit losses allowance and the
collectability of receivables were supportable by the
available evidence.
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BRETSEE
Key audit matters

M BERRBRE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

FL2HEAMBERMRME 4 KT 18

EBEEAPEEBRENTENS
How our audit addressed the
key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

MN2019F 1283818 EEXEEBEME BME K
& 493,866,144,0008 > T E B EAEE T
2 491,135,734,000% ;.- H & £ # K # F 4
1,055,243,000 7% 7T & i 5B K % 25 49 1,629,105,000 7%
T BMEPRLEE  REEWE  BEMKSEZE
BEX MAHAERESEMLSETEH  BRELER
BERAEOLEREERBRE - OImARE - RIRKA
. BEECEFHINMNEGEMETHEELMEET
R K ey ] W B £ %8 2 (H{E T 1E -

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had
property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK3,866,144,000, which mainly comprised
construction in progress of approximately
HK$1,135,734,000, leasehold land and building of
approximately HK$1,055,243,000 and plant and
machinery of approximately HK$1,629,105,000.
We focused on this area because the balance
of property, plant and equipment was significant
and these assessment process is complex and
highly subjective which based on the selection of
appropriate comparables and assumptions such as
discount rate, future revenue. The Group engaged
an external valuer to perform the valuation for the
recoverable amount of the leasehold land and
building and plant and machinery.

BPEEEEEHRENGREFERE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment included:

o FHABUAEMNER  BEHREEIL

Evaluating the independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

o MRERMYMEBMITENEELERMGEMD ¥
EFTERAN A RBRBREERE

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumption based
on our knowledge of the relevant industry and
using our valuation experts;

o RMERMEEBRITEMNERE DHHERBREE
HEE R

Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

o BN AREGEIANMERNE ARIED
HERE -

Checking, on a sampling basis, the accounting
and relevance of the input data used.

HPERBREIRBRIEIS -

We found that the assumptions were supported by
the available evidence.
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Key audit matters

FEREE

Carrying value of inventories

FL2HEAMIERRME 4 KT 28
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EBEEAPEEBRENTENS
How our audit addressed
the key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements

M2019F 1231 H - BEBAFEL471,760,000
BT BRBABERENEZEENERMEER IR
MIEBER FEEBEIHIRNERPFRELEMEB
2 hER=ES TP REFATFERE ZHEKF -
HERBFEELN U HATREARFPHRTHEME
RERRESIMERN AR E 2 HBFHREHE 2R E K
TR BREEEEEHARKBEECHERFERTE
&l -

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had inventories
of approximately HK$471,760,000. which comprised
of fertiliser products, magnesium products and
metallurgical flux products which are usually with
longer life span. The consumption of inventories
are subject to changing consumers’ demands
and market trends which increased the level of
judgement involved in estimating inventory provisions.
Judgement was required to assess the appropriate
level of provisioning for items which may be ultimately
obsoleted or sold below cost as a result of a
reduction in customers’ demand. Such judgements
included management’s expectations for future sales
and inventory liquidation plans.

HPMEREEEREFEREENEFBRE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
determination of the carrying value of inventories
included:

o HIEAREERE  BFNBRARBRENRE
FmERBR - EEESEEEBNEEBRE
FEERFLETLE RAMERS —B - LA
BLEBTEMENHERELUNGERERA
B BUR

Assessing the process, methods and
assumptions used to determine the provision
for slow-moving, excess or obsolete items.
This included comparing management’s
calculations for consistency against those used
in the prior years and assessing the provision
policy adopted by management by reference
to past usage or sales history;

o MBS AREEEREDN REERAHEETE
RERER  BAREREMERERBIENASE
RE - ASHEETBEERE

Testing the reliability of the underlying
data used by management to calculate the
inventory obsolescence provisions by sample
checking of an inventory ageing analysis and
the subsequent sales orders and usage;
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Key audit matters

FEREEHE)

Carrying value of inventories (continued)

EBEEAPEEBRENTENS
How our audit addressed the
key audit matters

ERFRFEREYREZFREENAEER
B RS EERNEREE K&

Testing the accuracy of the resultant
calculation by assessing the calculation
criteria and recalculating the provision for the
inventories based on those criteria; and

WERTE AW BFBNNARTE - R
BB BB GO E B EIREHTER
B -

For those items which were identified as slow-
moving, excess or obsolete, we assessing
management’s calculation of net realisable
value by checking to the latest or subsequent
selling prices.

BPERFERBESIIREGRESF -

We found the carrying values of the inventories was
supported by the available evidence.
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (“Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the Other Information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other
Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other
Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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REERBRA AR o

o THREFEFTEMONABIES
MEF R - BEMLIEY
ZHIB AL ERER -

AREHEE
BEEERNE

o FHEEFMRASITERENBEMEREL
SEHEAMEERENSEN -

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: PO6901

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Ffd 5 FET T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ON Revenue 7 4,314,420 4,655,116
$HE AR Cost of sales (3,251,036) (3,512,857)
EH Gross profit 1,063,384 1,142,259
H fth W o sk S 1B 58 Other gains or losses, net 9 95,262 75,324
HERTISEESER Selling and marketing costs (107,917) (133,673)
THRX Administrative expenses (298,305) (233,530)
bE 3 ZE R85 A Exchange differences, net (7,159) 6,403
W% E R Finance costs 10 (153,664) (164,943)
R PTAS T AD&E A1 Profit before income tax 591,601 691,840
FIEBiRX Income tax expense 11 (163,347) (150,318)
FEREER ZFRNERN Profit for the year
from continuing operations 12 428,254 541,522
AR IFAE TS Discontinued operations:
BRIEEEEBZFNGEF  Profit for the year from
discontinued operations 16 - 31,315
FRE N Profit for the year 428,254 572,837
THALTEEFERGF : Profit for the year
attributable to:
PN/NEIEZ SN Owners of the Company
—RERBECEER — from continuing operations 380,368 451,614
—RECRIEEEHETRE — from discontinued operations - 22,616
FEVERRE = Non-controlling interests
—REFBLEES — from continuing operations 47,886 89,908
—REBERIEREES — from discontinued operations - 8,699
428,254 572,837
BRER : Earnings per share:
REFERCKLELKEEKX  From continuing and
discontinued operations
—EARCGEMW) - basic (HK cents) 15  8.301{lcents 10.351licents
—EHOB) — diluted (HK cents) 15  8.30flcents 10.351lcents
REFELCEEK From continuing operations
—EARCGEMW) - basic (HK cents) 15  8.301{lcents 9.861licents
—EE OB — diluted (HK cents) 15  8.301{lcents 9.861licents
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
FTET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FREF Profit for the year 428,254 572,837
HizmEmus(ZH) Other comprehensive income/
HBRFFEH - (expense), net of income tax:
HigngeEHhosEE ltems that may be reclassified
Bm2IER subsequently to profit or loss:
RSB A RIERREE Release of reserve upon disposal
of subsidiaries - 692
BMEBINEBREEZ Exchange differences arising from
fEHZER translation of foreign operations (128,864) (279,090)
FRAHMEZEXH Other comprehensive expense
(MERFTBH) for the year (net of income tax) (128,864) (278,398)
FRAEZHEKEATE Total comprehensive income
for the year 299,390 294,439
THATEEFEREZTE Total comprehensive income
U35 48 58 - for the year attributable to:
EN/NEIE/Z =N Owners of the Company
—REFBEREER - from continuing operation 275,973 208,652
—REBRIEEEETR — from discontinued operation - 20,443
FEVERRE Non-controlling interests
—REFELCEEL - from continuing operation 23,417 57,161
—REERIEREES — from discontinued operation - 8,183
299,390 294,439

BEFT P EB AR A TS R H — & D °

consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
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As at 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Mok FET FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
kRBEE Non-current assets
+ Hb s A Land use rights 17 - 285,216
FREEE Right-of-use assets 19 287,442 -
Y - BB L& Property, plant and equipment 18 3,866,144 3,767,246
GES Goodwill 21 197,368 197,368
mEAE Intangible assets 22 348,142 360,660
FRUE Mining rights 23 428,468 448,460
RERSRITIE Long-term bank deposits 31 9,604 9,758
5,137,168 5,068,708
REEE Current assets
BARERF AR Equity instruments at fair
ZHRAT A value through profit or loss 27 8,782 3,876
5E Inventories 28 471,760 689,456
+ 3 fsb A Land use rights 17 - 13,492
B 5 WA & I E % Trade and bills receivables 29 461,381 373,732
FENRIE - Z& Kk Prepayments, deposits and
E ih fE W IR other receivables 30 634,397 503,926
IRITRIR e 8k Bank and cash balances 31 823,058 708,049
2,399,378 2,292 531
DEAFIEHENEE Assets classified as held for sale 20 91,019 113,328
2,490,397 2,405,859
W ARBAEE Less: Current liabilities
%%JEH,‘?AIE&JEHK%F Trade and bills payables 32 291,863 601,886
FEETE R M E b EA A Accruals and other payables 33 217,096 214,709
,\\’]’,%1 E Contract liabilities 33 186,707 348,889
HEAE Lease liabilities 19 1,962 -
AT FR1S R Income tax payable 22,397 40,962
BE Borrowings 34 1,524,157 836,992
AT 5 Exchangeable bonds 35 120,640 250,464
2,364,822 2,293,902
RBEEFE Net current assets 125,575 111,957
EEHERABER Total assets less
current liabilities 5,262,743 5,180,665
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72019412 A31H
As at 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Mok FET FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
wERBAEE Less: Non-current liabilities
EEWA Deferred revenue 36 68,283 69,772
E b fE A IR Other payables 33 46,962 10,310
aHEaE Contract liabilities 33 176,448 -
HEARE Lease liabilities 19 5,870 -
= Borrowings 34 536,086 977,617
EEMIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 37 159,183 166,348
992,832 1,224,047
EEFE Net assets 4,269,911 3,956,618
ADQEEE AEMBRAR Capital and reserves
L #E attributable to owners
of the Company
fi& < Share capital 38 101,419 101,419
1 Reserves 3,727,404 3,426,466
3,828,823 3,527,885
TR ER Non-controlling interests 441,088 428,733
b Total equity 4,269,911 3,956,618

EEEMN2020F 4 A16 BHLE R IRETIZE R The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 224
FOTE24AZHAEMIE®mEA - WA THESE  were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

REEE directors on 16 April 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:
MXE Tt
Chi Wen Fu Shum Sai Chit
=2 EE
Director Director
WEMIMI s B A 4R S SRR — 3 H - The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

R07E12 7318 As at 81 December 2017 and
Roo8E1 A 1A 1 January 2018 101419 1,353,356 4526 8,693 13,666 210,083 3216 1932 (232769 1832290 3,296,362 367,046 3653428
SHEIHBEEENEOEIYE oot of adopionof HKFRS S - - - B - - - - B T IR IO LY VN (3%
049 1% 45 S 2008 826 190 (76 18918 G037 B 620
ERE Proft for the year - - - - - - - - - 474230 474230 98,607 512,837
EREGREER)/WARHER) Other comprehensive (expense)income for
the year, (net of income tax)
WHERRHEEERRER Release upon disposal of
discontinued operation - - - - - - - 692 - - 692 - 692
BERERFEL 2B 2R Exchange diferences arising fom
Hranslation of foreign operations - - - - - - - (58 - - (sg) (33,263 (279,090)
FRRE (L) MasE Total comprehensive (expense)/income for
the year - - - - - - - (245,135) - 474230 29,09 65,344 204439
BXMERE Share options lapsed - - - - - - (2084 - - 2,064 - - -
HRT0E Transfer {0 resenve - - - - - e - - - I8 - - -
Rz s Equiy setled shere-based tinsections - - - - - - 8473 - - - 8473 - 8473
HERBAT Disposlof suosicieries - - - - - - - - - - - 7497 7497
RIBE12R31AR As at 31 Dacember 2018 and
N19F1A18 1 January 2019 101419 12353356 4526 - 13,666 24000 9,625 (243208 (232769) 2217023 3527885 48738 3,956,618
ERi Proft for the year - - - - - - - - - 380,368 380,368 47,886 428,254
FRARIERR (IRAER) Other compreensive expense for
the year, (net of income tax)
AERRRAEL EL AR Exchange diferences arsing from
Hranslation of foreign operations - - - - - - - (104,395) - - (104,395  (24,469) (128,864
SRR/ MieE Total comprehensive (expensel/income for
theyer . . . . . . - (104305) - 3068 215073 23417 209,300
Effke Diidend ped . 5 5 . . 5 5 . - 088 (9,066) - [088)
Pt &) Chang n ownership interestof subsiciares - - - - - - - - 11,062 - 11,062 (11,062) -
8R5RE Transfer to resenve - - - - - 30,809 - - - (30,809) - - -
REEERAT %S Fouity setled share-based ransactions - - - - - - 22969 - - - 2299 - 22969
120195128318 As at 31 December 2019 101,419 1,353,356 4,526 - 13,666 275,051 32,504  (347,598) (221,707) 2,617,516 3,828,823 441,088 4,269,911
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HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

MEE -

(ii)

(il

EARTE R E AR T NEE &R RA
NEREBRNEE 2 RRB R ZHEE -

EARFBREREEESHCKERERE 2B
RAEEMEE - BREIBA BRI MET A
RERMEEE  MEMZEE -

EERBEERWMBARREFEARKALME
(T B D)EES B IRRAINAAFN10% M RE
TREEERDRENES -

RIBRBEKZ 2 B LR 2 EEERMA L EE
ZHBUERRBIROER - ZEHE AR AR E10%
ZANER PSR ) (2 ep B B PR E TS #R R
THEREMEREZERHE BIEZRBESER
BEMBRARZMERES - ZRHEEESET
RARYUHEMBARBEFEZER  BRMER
Bl Z EERBIIL I B A B2 A -

RETHEERZ2AEEETIRAR N EMIAR
EERBHONETAN  AREFBZRELD
ROEAMRBORBELIDREAES - XFES
AHAREER SE F TR EE - TER
BRI

notes:

(i)

(if)

(il

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value
of the Shares of the Company which was transferred from
the Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and
cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries that have been
acquired and capitalised pursuant to a group reorganisation
over the nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued in
exchange therefore.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the
subsidiaries based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) statutory financial statements
and that for the purpose of certain safety production
activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
subsidiaries established in the PRC and the relevant PRC
rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set
aside 10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in
the PRC statutory financial statements as statutory reserve,
except where the reserve fund balance has reached 50%
of the subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can
only be used to make good the subsidiaries’ previous years’
losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or
to increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State
Administration of Work Safety of the PRC and other relevant
regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed
rates. These funds can be used for maintenance and/
or improvements of safety of these activities, and is not
available for distribution to shareholders.



2019F % ANNUAL REPORT 2019

FEHERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2019F 12 A1 HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
FEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
ReEEH Operating activities
B T 138 A% A Profit before income tax
RERBECEENR From continuing operations 591,601 691,840
REDRIEEEER From a discontinued operations - 31,286
FETFEE B A Adjustments for:
e R Depreciation and amortisation 219,427 217,564
HBER Finance costs 153,664 164,943
HEME - BERERER Net gain on disposal of property,

T AR SRR plant and equipment and land use rights (42,089) (56,365)
FEMA Interest income (7,835) (6,651)
BELERDETR RS Equity settled share-based payments 22,969 8,473
ZoRKFEBEEERSR Net allowance/(reversal) of credit losses

s FRE/(BE) of trade receivables 1,077 (55)
Hith e R IB (= BB 18 Allowance/(reversal) of credit losses

B/ (&E) of other receivables 2,057 (994)

TEVBERANEES Change in fair value derivative

financial guarantee (8,606) (11,168)

NMESREBEEY Fair value loss arising from derivative

NAEEBE financial liabilities 9,310 -
BARERAER Change in fair value of equity instruments at

ZBRATAZ fair value through profit or loss

NAEE (4,906) 7,744
FERE Provision of inventories - 4,056
HE—fEM B A RM M Gain on disposal of a subsidiary - (32,498)
HESEARELE L Loss on disposal of asset classified

BEEZER as held for sale 2,435 -
fE1hEE R ElE Share of profits of joint ventures - (180)

EEESEBAN Operating cash flows before

KEHEME movements in working capital 939,104 1,017,995

W —FEE & A RIFRIE Decrease in amount due
N from a joint venture - 697

BFERL,/(3Em) Decrease/(increase) in inventory 212,428 (271,498)
B2 REBFIER (Increase)/decrease in trade and

FEUEZ LG M), R bills receivable (97,862) 124,182
TERRIE - HE REAM Increase in prepayment, deposits

FEWFRIEE BN and other receivables (92,916) (3,068)

B 5 R 50E R B
EEORD), 0

(Decrease)/increase in trade and

bills payables (304,331) 40,010
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HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
(i FTERx FHET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
JEETER - EMERMFIE  Increase in accruals,
MIEWHIEREH other payable and receipt in
A& advance and contract liabilities 48,085 17,754
BEHEMEENRS Cash generated from operations 704,508 926,072
ERASH Income tax paid (185,562) (147,702)
RETBFEERN Net cash generated from
ReFHE operating activities 518,946 778,370
RETE Investing activities
RIT 17 BOR Decrease in deposits with banks 98,990 132,479
BEWE  WELEE Purchase of property,
plant and equipment (431,807) (699,806)
REAER (I8 0), 8 (Increase)/decrease in
long term deposits (55) 39
BHELE—HNBAF Net cash outflow in respect of
#I3R & L FRE the disposal of a subsidiary 16 - (19,190)
B UFE Interest received 7,835 6,651
HEWE  BER Proceeds from disposal of
BLCEIREEE S property, plant and equipment 70,200 57,691
HESEABELEN Proceeds from disposal of
BEMMGRIE assets classified as held for sale 4,321 -
REZTEHFTANESFE Net cash used in
investing activities (250,516) (522,136)
A EEE Financing activities
FEEMNSHRIE Proceeds from new borrowings 1,145,422 587,918
EEEE Repayment of borrowings (882,274) (597,877)
EAFLE Interest paid (149,968) (147,533)
EEHEaRE Repayment of lease liabilities (2,798) -
EErERES Repayment of exchangeable bonds (111,360) -
EEREMB AR Repayment of loan from non-controlling
ZIEERBROER shareholders of subsidiaries - (123,640)
FEA I BB 2 B FEVE AR Decrease in an amount due to
R B SR IE R non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries - (410)
[RENEESN Dividend paid (9,066) -
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HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
TEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Rl E EE AT A Net cash used in financing
KRS FHE activities (10,044) (281,542)
HeRkEFRELER Net increase/(decrease) in cash
B, CRd)FE and cash equivalents 258,386 (25,308)
FINESEREFEELER Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 568,651 655,749
IEERSHNWEE Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes (41,880) (61,790)
FRNEELRERELER Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 785,157 568,651
RekERFRLER Analysis of balances of cash
LR and cash equivalents
SBAMBARNERY ZE  Pledged bank deposits and bank and
EARIRITF R R IRTT cash balances as stated in
NI & e the consolidated statement
of financial position 832,662 717,807
BEEFAEERENZEE Pledged deposits with banks pledged as
BER2EEMRITHER security for borrowings and
bills payable (47,450) (149,156)
W g B R 2 BR B Non-pledged deposits with bank with
=B A LA L2 FEEHA original maturity of more than
RITIF R three months when acquired (55) -
GKERESRERNIZ Cash and cash equivalents as stated
RekERRESIEHR in the consolidated statement
of cash flows 785,157 568,651
BEMI I B AN AR & M Sk ey — 2o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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1.

—RER

B EBIZERAERAR(TARA]) K
HMBAR (MBI AEEDEIERERE
PR SRS SR fn SR 7% BR85S 75

ANFITHR20083F 1 A21 HREFAEHS
NalEE22F (1961 FER3 KEFEAR
B EREHETMALNEREERD
Bl o NA R B DR2004F2 A17HR
EBBER AR A(E AT )GEM
(TGEMJ) £+ ¥ 7200857 A31H
HENGEME E Wiz - 8200848 A
1HE  AAFNRKRMHERBEZMER L
MeBERE  ARAZERERIEBRARAAE
BEBERARAR  ZRAARNEBRL
BHEEMAK 2 AT -

FaMBwRERHUNET(BT]) BEM
HEARNRMWINEEEHEF - FRIFESBHR
B BRIMBSEHE TR (FET)E
B

General Information

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
fertiliser business, magnesium product business and
metallurgical flux business.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 21 January 2003 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands. On 17 February 2004,
the Company’s shares were listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and were
withdrawn from the GEM Board on 31 July 2008.
Since 1 August 2008, the Company’s shares have
been listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Alpha Sino International
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except
when otherwise indicated.
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2. Application of New and Amendments to

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs")

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for
the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
(Amendments) Negative Compensation

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23  Uncertainty over Income

Tax Treatment

HKFRS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
(Amendments) or Settlement

HKFRS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
(Amendments) and Joint Ventures

HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
(Amendments) HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Transition and summary of effects arising from
initial application of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time
in the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17
Leases, and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore,
the Group has not reassessed contracts which already
existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a
lease in accordance with the requirements set out in
HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract contains a
lease.

As a lessor

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify leases as either operating or finance leases
using similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore,
HKFRS 16 did not have an impact on leases where
the Group is the lessor. The lessor accounting
requirements are brought forward from HKAS 17
substantially unchanged.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts
equal to the related lease liabilities, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments by
applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition.
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When applying the modified retrospective approach
under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the
following practical expedients to leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on
lease- by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts:

(i)

(if)

(i)

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends
within 12 months of the date of initial application;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application;

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with a similar remaining terms for similar
class of underlying assets in similar economic
environment. Specifically, discount rate for
certain leases of premises in the PRC was
determined on a portfolio basis;

used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group’s leases with extension
and termination options; and

relied on the assessment of whether leases
are onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as
an alternative of impairment review.
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When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the Group
has applied incremental borrowing rates of the relevant
group entities at the date of initial application. The
weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
by the relevant group entities is 5.07% to 7.03%.

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to
the operating lease commitments as at 31 December
2018 is as follows:

FHET
HK$’000
M2018%F 12 A31H Operating lease commitment at 31 December 2018
RS ERE 10,800
W RRFEFZ B Less: total future interest expenses (3,759)
KAEEEERREENEER Present value of remaining lease
HEANRRERR2019F payments, discounted using the
181 BRANHEEERE incremental borrowing rate and
lease liabilities recognised as
at 1 January 2019 7,041
B ATEER A -HEEER Less: practical expedient-leases with lease term
FERBHIRET 12184 ending within 12 months from date of initial
AEmmBHEE application (50)
R2019F1 F1EMEEAE Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 6,991
k= Analysis as:
IERE Non-current 4,692
ik Current 2,299

6,991
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R2019F1 A1 BB AEREEENE The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own
HEBETIEE use as at 1 January 2019 comprises the following:
ERfE BB B E R Right-of-use assets relating to operating
F16REERLEEHE leases recognised upon application of
RS E HKFRS 16 (@) 6,991
m: BLMERREERS R Add: Reclassification from land use rights (b) 298,708
305,699
EEMHE Leased premises 6,991
(5 AR Land use rights 298,708
305,699
BisE - Notes:
(a) HEERALEHEZHEFBANER (a)  The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
BEEDIEF2019F1 A1 BN REIBHAE classified as operating leases have been recognised
BEMERLENIES S HHER - at an amount equal to the amount recognised for the

remaining lease liabilities at 1 January 2019.

(b) RABEFERMNAELHNENREBEER (b)  Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC
2018F 12 A1 AN AT HEAE - ¥ for own used properties were classified as land use
EREAMKERELENE165KE - DA rights as at 31 December 2018. Upon application of
13,492,000 % 7T % 285,216,000 % 7T &) + HKFRS 16, the current and non-current portion of
M AR B R IETREN S D B 72019 land use rights amounting to HK$13,492,000 and
F1A1HEFHBREFEAREE - HK$285,216,000 respectively were reclassified to right-

of-use assets at 1 January 2019.
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TRBLAMER AN B BB 5w 2R E 16 51 4
KEBER2019F1 A1 BEA MM
KOFE - WRFARZHZEZGHTE
MIERE

The following table summarises the impacts of the
adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position at 1 January 2019. Line
items that were not affected by the changes have not
been included.

FRBEE Non-current Assets

FRELE M) Right-of-use assets (Note 1) - 298,708 6,991 305,699
T fE AR (HE2) Land use rights (Note 2) 285,216 (285,216) - -
TBEE Current Assets

TR (HE2) Land use rights (Note 2) 13,492 (13,492) - -
=1 Liabilities

HEaE Lease liabilities - - (6,991) (6,991)
MIEE - Notes:

(1) FEREBYE®RELERE 165N LAIRE
EReEAF1THENEAKLEHREZA
EBRNENERNE AT HRELAFE 16
SR B 7E SR 5 A 4 B 7= 305,699,000 78 7T &
FAE&(E6,991,0008 7T °

(2) H2018F12A31H  RPEEERY
¥CHETHMENREBEI>BEALIER
- RERABTBMBREELE165E1% -
7 Bl £13,492,0007% T & 285,216,000
B ERENRES RIERSDBLE
DEEFERAREE -

ERMERERH T REETEERE
WEER -

(1)  The application of HKFRS 16 to leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17
resulted in the recognition of right-of-use assets of
HKD305,699,000 and lease liabilities of HKD6,991,000
at the initial adoption of HKFRS 16.

(2)  Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC own
used properties were classified as land use rights as
at 31 December 2018. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
the current and non-current portion of land use rights
amounting to HK$13,492,000 and HK$285,216,000
respectively were classified to right-of-use assets.

New and amendments to HKFRSs on issue but not
effective.
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The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8  Definition of Material’
(Amendments)

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark

and HKFRS 7 Reform!
(Amendments)
HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?
(Amendments)
HKFRS 10 and Sale or contribution of
HKAS 28 Assets between an Investor
(Amendments) and its Associate or
Joint Venture*
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined.

In addition to the above new and amendments
to HKFRSs, a revised “Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting” was issued in 2018. Its
consequential amendments, the “Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework” in HKFRS
Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“CO”).

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments, which are measured at
fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within
the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use
in HKAS 36.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

e voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Company has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meeting.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Company obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income from the date
the Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to being their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivables. The Company’s investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment.
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Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position
to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decision
about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment
and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5.

Changes in the Group’s Ownership Interests in Existing

Subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.
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When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured
at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted
for as if the Company had directly disposed of the
related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred directly to retained earnings). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
jointly controlled entity.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over
the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
relevant business at the date of acquisition. Such
goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.
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For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the
relevant cash generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of
CGU, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition. A CGU to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of
the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon

application of HKFRS 15)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct
or a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.
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Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
a contract are accounted for an presented on a net
basis.
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Revenue from the processing and sales of fertiliser,
magnesium products and metallurgical flux is
recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being at the point the products are
delivered to the customer and the customer has
accepted the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products. Delivery occurs when the products
have been shipped to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the
customer, and either the customer has accepted the
products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on
the price specified in the contract, net of discounts,
returns and value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered and the customers accept the products,
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold
land and buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress),
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Construction in progress includes property, plant
and equipment in the course of construction for
production or for its own use purposes. Construction
in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as "right-of-use assets" (upon application of HKFRS
16) or "prepaid lease payments" (before application of
HKFRS 16) in the consolidated statement of financial
position. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the
entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the item is derecognised.
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Assets classified as held for sale

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use
and a sale is considered highly probable. They are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell, except for assets such
as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets and investment property
that are carried at fair value and contractual rights
under insurance contracts, which are specifically
exempt from this requirement. An impairment loss is
recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down
of the asset to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is
recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value
less costs to sell of an asset, but not in excess of any
cumulative impairment loss previously recognised.
A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date
of the sale of the asset is recognised at the date of
derecognition. HKFRS5(25) Assets are not depreciated
or amortised while they are classified as held for
sale. HKFRS5(38) assets classified as held for sale
are presented separately from the other assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Land Use Rights

Payment for obtaining land use rights is considered
as prepaid operating lease payment. Land use rights
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, amortisation is
charged to profit or loss over the period of the rights
or the term of the respective enterprise to which the
land use rights are granted, whichever is the shorter,
using the straight-line method.

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose
of lease classification, unless the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, in which case, the entire lease is
generally treated as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment. To the extent
the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for
as operating leases and amortised over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.
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Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 2)

Definition of a lease

Lease is a contract contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising
from business combinations on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note
2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not
to separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component.
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Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property or inventory
as a separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property and inventory
are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties for/under development”/’properties for
sale”/other (to specify) respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index
or rate, initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date;
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° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option
to terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market
rental rates are initially measured using the market
rental rates as at the commencement date. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised
as expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to adoption of
HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable
as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are identified and recognised separately from goodwill
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset
and their fair values can be measured reliably. The
cost of such intangible assets is recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Alternatively, assets with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Technical Know-how

Expenditure on acquired technical know-how is
capitalised and amortised using the straight-line
method over its estimated useful life of 5 years, from
the date when the technical know-how is available for
use.

Trademark

Trademarks are shown at historical cost. Trademarks
acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date and amortised using
the straight-line method over its estimated useful life
of 5 to 10 years.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date
of change and in accordance with the policy for
amosrtisation of intangible assets with finite lives as
set out above.
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Research and Development Expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

— the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

— the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

— the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

— the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during the
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets acquired
separately.
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Derecognition of Intangible Assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining
rights are amortised on the production quantities over
the total estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are
written off to the profit or loss if the mining property is
abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value, are included in profit or loss for the period.
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For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (i.e. the translation reserve)
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
for its employees (including certain directors), the
assets of which are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
eligible employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the ORSO Scheme. When an
employee leaves the ORSO Scheme prior to his/her
interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting
fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the Group
may be reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited
contributions.
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The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans
are charged as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises of
cash in hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Share-based Payment Transactions

Share Options Granted to Employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value
of services received is determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(employee compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of number of options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to employee compensation reserve.
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For share options that are vested immediately at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in employee compensation
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in employee compensation
reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years, and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current
and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.
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For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. In the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make sale.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable from 1
January 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.
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All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends
on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
net investment gains in the statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
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General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that are
not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and
for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of
the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there
is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realized or has been transferred to
the Group. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in profit or loss.
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Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset
that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9

applicable from 1 January 2018)

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised costing using the effective interest method
or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, lease liabilities,
borrowings and exchangeable bond.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings after initial recognition, interest-
bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January

2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January

2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Related Parties Transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.
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An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.
If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.
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Estimated Impairment of Mining Rights, Right-of-use
Assets, Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible

Assets

The Group evaluates whether mining rights, right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may not be recoverable, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The
recoverable amounts of CGUs represent the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell
or its value-in-use. The calculations of fair value
less costs to sell or value-in-use require the use
of estimates. During the year, the Group did not
provide any impairment for mining rights, right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (2018: HK$ Nil) and available-
for-sale investment (2018: HK$ Nil).

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property,
Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining

Rights

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation/
amortisation charges for its right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets of similar nature and
functions and the mineral reserve determined by
independent technical adviser. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to market
conditions. Management will increase the
depreciation/amortisation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold.
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(c)

(d)
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(c)

(d)

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, the Group did not change the estimated
useful lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining
rights.

Income Tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination may be uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.

Provision for expected crediit losses on trade and bills

receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product
type, customer type and rating, and coverage
by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance).
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The provision matrix is initially based on the
Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the
historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among
historical observed default rates, forecast
economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of customer’s
actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables
is disclosed in notes 5 and 29 to the financial
statements.
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5. £mMTH 5.

(a) M T AL

Financial instruments

(a) Categories of Financial Instruments

2019 2018
F#&ET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EEMEE Financial assets
BB HK AT = Financial assets measured
MEREE at amortised cost 1,381,386 1,595,475
BAREF AER Financial assets at fair value
WoRLEE through profit or loss 8,782 3,876
1,390,168 1,599,351
= =N Financial liabilities
B SH AR Amortised cost 2,744,636 2,891,978
2,744,636 2,891,978

(b) ABEMEEBERKE

AEENTIR2EMIABKRANE
AABRNRATAR 5 RKRE
REWERE - EMERTIE  BE
RHIRITER  RITMBASHESR B
SRENFBALRENRE  EtERAR
Hi IR HERE BERA
BHRES eRIAFENEBRNE
BE- - mZEem T AABANERES
ROMNERRR - MERER - EMERR
% FEERRERBESER - AT
I EMZERREOEE - K&
EnEERREEASIZENTAIA
AR & BT 5N S R AREE HEE
AEBPBRAMEZNEETNE
@,

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
equity instruments on fair value through profit
or loss, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, deposits, long-term bank deposits,
bank and cash balances, trade and bills
payables, accruals and other payables, lease
liabilities, borrowings and exchangeable bonds.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, other price risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
Group’s overall risk management programme
focus on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group does not have significant
exposures to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the respective
subsidiaries. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor
its foreign currency hedging significant
foreign currency exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to pledged
bank deposits, bank and cash balances
and borrowings (see Notes 31 and 34
respectively for details).

Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on pledged bank deposits,
bank and cash balances and borrowings
as at 31 December 2019 had been 10
basis points (0.1% per annum) (2018: 10
basis points) higher/lower than the actual
effective interest rate, the Group’s profit for
the year would have been approximately
HK$1,228,000 (2018: HK$1,097,000)
higher/lower as a result of a increase/
decrease in fair value of pledged bank
deposits, bank and cash balances and
borrowings.

As management considers the Group’s
exposure to the above fair value interest
rate risk is not significant, no interest
rate swaps or other hedging activities are
undertaken by management during the year.
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(iii)

(iv)
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(iii)

(iv)

The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to bank
balances carried at prevailing market rate.
However, such exposure is minimal to the
Group as the bank balances are all short-
term in nature.

Other Price Risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity
securities in Australia. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks.
The Group’s other price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity instruments listed in
the Australia.

Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to
equity price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of respective instruments
has been 10% (2018:10%) higher/lower,
the Group’s profit or loss would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$878,000
(2018: HK$388,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of equity instrument at
fair value through profit or loss.

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant. For
transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer
credit terms without the specific approval of
the Head of Credit Control.
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Maximum exposure and year-end staging
as at 31 December 2019.

The table below shows the credit quality
and the maximum exposure to credit risk
based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information
unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2019. For
listed debt investments, the Group also
monitors them by using external credit
ratings. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets and
the exposure to credit risk for the financial
guarantee contracts.

A 20194 As at

12H31H 31 December 2019
BVER (R HA) Current (not past due)
BMERZM1F  Not more than 1

year past due

2.38% 461,217 10,974
100% 4,902 4,902
466,119 15,876

® 2018 4F As at
12 A431H 31 December 2018

BIEA (R H3) Current (not past due)

BMERZ A F Not more than 1

year past due

0.54% 357,862 1,939

100.00% 13,209 13,209

371,071 15,148
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(v)

The Group trades only with recognised,
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

With respect to credit risk arising from the
other financial assets of the Group which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from default of the counterparties is limited
as the counterparties have good credit
standing and the Group does not expect
to incur significant loss for unallocated
advances/deposits from these entities.

The Group has no significant concentrations
of credit risk. It has policies in place to
ensure that sales of goods are made to
customers with an appropriate credit
history. The Group’s deposits with bank and
deposits placed with financial institutions
are placed in high quality financial
institutions without significant exposure to
credit risk.

The directors consider that there is no
significant credit risk in respect of the
Group’s deposits with banks and deposits
placed with financial institutions as the
financial institutions have no record of
default payment.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are disclosed in note 29
to the financial statements.

Liquidity Risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities, the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. The Group aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by keeping adequate
facilities available.
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TREARAEBEFAFHEEE The table below analyses the Group’s
HEHNSHRAE  WLDERE financial liabilities that will be settled on a
AR EIARAR B - 1R R 3R & AP net basis into relevant maturity groupings
REGHFNEBEHOF R ERH# based on the remaining period at the end
IO RANFMEBENESEA of the reporting period to the contractual
EHERFTENRESAE - A maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
REFBEHNTEYTEKXN - Al table are the contractual undiscounted cash
TE1218 A MBI ER oY 45 62 W 3R 4R flows. Balances due within 12 months upon
ERER®E - recognition equal their carrying balances, as

the impact of discounting is not significant.

2019 % 2019

SARMNTERENRE Trade and bil payables - 291,863 - 291,863 291,863
EAERRAMENE Accruals and other payables - 217,096 46,962 264,058 264,058
fgak Lease liabiltes 6.56 2,408 9,801 12,299 7,832
& Borrowings 701 1,682,372 614,912 2,247,284 2,060,243
PELS Exchangeable bond 10.00 132,704 - 132,704 120,640

2,276,443 671,765 2,948,208 2,744,636
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20184

2018

BSENTERENEE Trade and bill payables - 601,886 - 601,886 601,886
B ERREMENZE Accruals and other payables - 214,709 10310 225,019 225,019
& Borrowings 6.23 972,800 1,078,807 2,051,697 1,814,609
TERES Exchangeable bonds 18.04 259,165 - 259,165 250,464
2,048,560 1,089,207 3,137,767 2,891,978
(c) AAREFE (c) Fair Value Measurements

A EREEHGALAEERZES
REENRSRABETANENT
P

() WRELEMEERLETE
HWAEEEBEERTHMEE
HIR2E
AEEHXNTREEREREA
BEREREBRZRAER
B TRAEERGAWME
EZETRHEERSRAMEAN
AAECLE R AR E R &
BARIE) ©

BRRE DT
WM& EF T B5%  AIF7
AeRmaEsFEEAEBEZE MY
265,000 % 7T 33 4> 49 308,000
BIT ©

This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

(i) Fairvalue of the Group'’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value

on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period.
The following table gives information about
how the fair values of these financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used).

Sensitivity Analysis

If the volatility increase/decrease by 5%,
the carrying value of the derivative financial
liabilities will increase by approximately
HK$265,000 or decrease by approximately
HK$308,000.
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BRARE AR REBEIMI L TRAES REREM LTRSS £18 ERTAMHEAE
BAETE (M) 8,782,000 3,876,000
Equity instrument at fair value Listed equity securities outside Listed equity securities outside ~ Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active
through profit or loss (Note 27) Hong Kong: HK$8,782,000 Hong Kong: HK$3,876,000 market
kxS - BADBEHE 113100008 - £38 ZEARERE(RE : 21.20%)
Derivative financial liabilties Call option in Hong Kong - Level 3 Binomial pricing model
HK$11,310,000 (Volatility: 21.29%)
WEFERNLEEF1E - F2 There were no transfers between Levels 1,
HREIFEZHNER - 2 and 3 in both years.
RIBEATTBREHAZE(E Reconciliation for financial instruments
SE)EAARBEARZERMIA carried at fair value based on significant
AR - unobservable input (level 3) is as follows:
w1A1H As at 1 January -
BUCEE Premium received 2,000
DAEEE Fair value loss 9,310
R12 A31H As at 31 December 11,310
WHRELEMEEZ L AE (ii)  Fairvalue of the Group’s financial assets and
HENAEEEHBEER LM financial liabilities that are not measured at fair
EEHRAE value on recurring basis
EERE RNEEUWB®MERE The directors consider that the carrying
REeHEEREZMBENE amounts of financial assets and financial
AEHEEAAERSE - liabilities recognised in the consolidated

financial statements approximately their fair
values.
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ExERER
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RTHFAABEALRE  AKEAEE
AEINTRROKEERE - MRS IK
MEARRE  BITHROKEEEENR
EE -

AEENBRELREREEN - X
HREERAERESBERNEERE
itH - BERECIINGEAMBHREA -

HEC019F12A31BILEE - NEEW
KEAEBEBELEHERFES0% A - 72019
FR2018F 12 AT B A GEEL R T ¢

Capital Risk Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other shareholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividend paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings and
exchangeable bonds divided by total assets as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group’s strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio within
50%. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2019 and
2018 were as follows:

2019 2018

FExT T

HK$’000 HK$ 000

BEETE Total borrowings 2,180,883 2,065,073
BERE Total assets 7,627,565 7,474,567
BELE Gearing ratio 28.6% 27.6%
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A 7. Revenue
AEBXZEREREERER BEERE The Group is principally engaged in fertiliser business,
75 R JoR ) o T S 755 o ﬁ%lﬁ’\\iﬁﬂzqﬁli\ magnesium product business and metallurgical flux
DT business. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the
year is as follows:
2019 2018
FEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEREEK Continuing operations:
HERFIEHER Sales of fertiliser products 2,735,195 3,053,183
& R E Sales of magnesium products 1,515,291 1,637,781
$HE IR E B E Sales of metallurgical flux products 63,934 64,152
4,314,420 4,655,116
KRR Timing of revenue recognition:
— {E s P B A point in time 4,314,420 4,655,116
SEPER 8. Segment Information

BB RSB M 0 B R IRFF (A A AR FITIR
RE(E2LERARE)BSZERAER
RERR - REBREBEREVHRE LR
F8MELERAIMENDEMT

- REEHMER

- BEMEH

— RIS

BRAEEZAIREDHENN T X2

Information reported to the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, being the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the operating
divisions. The Group’s operating and reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are therefore as follows:

—  Fertiliser business
—  Magnesium product business
—  Metallurgical flux business

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments is presented below.
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DEBMA R4
REBIZAREDHE D ZWAREE D
T

HE2019F 12 A1 HILFE

Segment Revenue and Results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2019:

DA Segment revenue 2,735,195 1,515,291 65,016 4,315,502
AEEBA Inter-segment revenue - - (1,082) (1,082)
RENMPEFHBA Revenue from external customers 2,735,195 1,515,291 63,934 4,314,420
AEEE Segment results 526,484 350,825 28,392 905,701
HtFhakER Other gain or losses, net 95,262
FRITBER Central administrative costs (255,698)
HBER Finance costs (153,664)
bR ATR A Profit before income tax 591,601
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For the year ended 31 December 2018:

AEMA Segment revenue 3,063,183 1,537,781 71,961 4,662,925
EREBA Inter-segment revenue - - (7,809) (7,809)
RENPEPHIRA Revenue from external customers 3,053,183 1,537,781 64,152 4,655,116
PEEE Segment results 585,390 355,376 29,042 969,808
Rt e it Other gain or losses, net 75,324
FRITHER Central administrative costs (188,349)
HEER Finance costs (164,943)
PR BATA R Profit before income tax 691,840

EX 2z EWA - TIREINBEER
EEZWA - DEERZHEANFEELT
T o

AHED A2 BB EREEGFBR
R D EHEEERNLED P RITRE
BBEREEHFMW ETEMFREXE
B MBERRAMEHABERTESE
ZEBE - MBRAETREERRERSE AM
HFRERLFEDHRRZTA -

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. Inter-segment
transactions are entered into at arm’s length.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies.
Segment results represent the results from each
segment without allocation of central administrative
costs including directors’ emoluments, certain other
net gains or losses, finance costs and income tax
expense. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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THEEREE Segment Assets and Liabilities

R2019F 12 A3 HZ A HEENRABEMN The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
HEZBHEFEZ2EARAAIRAREDS 2019 and capital expenditure for the year then ended
EomT by reportable segments are as follows:

DHEE Segment assefs 3,500,692 2,478,920 598,761 6,587,373 1,040,192 7,627,565
PHEE Segment liabilities 1,359,796 359,925 167,921 1,887,642 1,470,012 3,357,654
EREY Capital expenditure 304,931 114,891 11,478 431,300 507 431,807
R2018F 12 A31HZ D EfEENRBEN The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
BEZAITFEZEARAL BT HE D 2018 and capital expenditure for the year then ended
BHMT - by reportable segments are as follows:

PHEE Segment assets 3,534,478 2,413,354 622,173 6,570,005 904,562 7,474,567

PHEE Segment liabilities 1,523,705 405,710 137,767 2,067,182 1,450,767 3,517,949

BRR% Capital expenditure 442,251 204,255 20,437 666,943 32,862 699,805

BEKER D IR LN D L E A ER For the purposes of monitoring segment performance

ZHZ: and allocating resources between segments:

— BOoEABEHENEE  RITLR — all assets are allocated to reportable segments
SHEBEMEMCEFEREEIN  TB other than assets classified as held for sale,
BEHOSRERED L bank and cash balances and other assets for

corporate use;

- kAEBRELS CERABRZEE B — all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
TFHEMEMNRIERE R IEEEEBTR other than exchangeable bonds, borrowings
BEERMAGIN FIEeEYsEEEq for corporate use, certain other payables and

REDER o liabilities held by discontinued operations.
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Other Segment Information
For the year ended 31 December 2019:

RERRER  EERER REREER ROE Rt
Magnesium Metallurgical
Fertiliser product flux
business business business Unallocated Total

TiEx TR TR TR TEx
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$°000

(M 18) and equipment (note 18) 95,909 86,277 8,935 655 191,776
FREEENE(M19)  Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(note 19) 7,239 1,320 2,013 2,134 12,706
REENEMEESSE  Amortisation of mining rights and
intangible assets - 4,949 9,996 - 14,945
BORIGEEEER Net allowance/(reversal of
BEFE/(BERD) allowance) for credit losses of
(M3t 29) trade receivables (note 29) 2,861 (1,784) - - 1,077
EEUFECEEERE Alowance for credit losses of
(F3£30) other receivables (note 30) 1,883 174 - - 2,057
HENE BERZE  Gainon disposal of property,
iollhee plant and equipment (41,427) (662) - - (42,089)

YNNI =E Gain on equity instruments at

LBATAZ WE fair valug through profit or loss - - - (4,906) (4,906)
ITEeRAREE Fair value loss arising from

ZAREER derivative financial liabilities - - - 9,310 9,310
RS Income tax expenses 102,170 53,396 7,781 - 163,347

159



ARG R EBIERABR AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

160  BiIS3RFTMIGE
Notes to the Financial Statements

HE2019412 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE2018F 12 A31 HILFE -

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

VERE T Depreciation of property, plant
MEENERE and equipment and
investment properties 89,593 71,009 9,568 7,565 177,735
TinfFERRE - FRE Amortisation of land use rights,
REVAERH mining rights and
intangible assets 14,630 8,948 13,496 2,755 39,829
REOESRUFERE Reversal of allowance for
BiEAE credit losses of
trade receivables (55) - - - (55)
BEEMERERE Reversal of allowance for
EERE(I3E30) credit losses of
other receivables (notes 30) (994) - - - (994)
LENE  BERR Gain on disposal of property,
R AR plant and equipment and
land use rights - - - (56,365) (56,365)
YR =E Loss on equity instruments at
ZRATIAER fair value through profit or loss - - - 7744 7,744
FiERRY Income tax expenses 94,444 49,835 5,933 106 150,318
HEEH

HE2019F K 2018F 12 A31 HILFE -
AEBEFERFEEERNEBEZRA
HEREREHE fmR2019F128318 &
2018F 12 A31H » AEBMKIHE D IER
BEANKRTE - IERBEASE RN E
EIDMEEREESN -

FEFFEH

R E =2019F 2018412 A31H Lt
FETEAMNE TP EMBARAEE
BRAZI10% AT EEFAETERFPH
BERIZ25 -

Geographical Information

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the Group mainly operated in the PRC and most of the
Group’s revenue are derived from the PRC and most
of non—current assets of the Group are located in
the PRC as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018. No analysis of the Group’s result and assets by
geographical area is disclosed.

Information about Major Customers

No information about major customers is presented
as no single customer contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.
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9. Other Gains or Losses, Net

2019
TERT
HK$’000

FEREEK Continuing operations:
FLEWA Interest income 7,835 6,651
HESEAFELED Loss on disposal of
BEMNBE assets classified as held-for-sale (2,435) -
HEWE  BERE Net gain on disposal of property, plant
R4 A W FEE and equipment and land use rights 42,089 56,365
I I 6 B Government subsidy - 489
PHEREEAREED Change in fair value of financial
guarantee liabilities 8,606 11,168
BAREFAEZEZ Change in fair value of
fEAR T ERAEE equity instruments at fair
value through profit or loss 4,906 (7,744)
MESRBEEEY Fair value loss arising from
NILEEE derivative financial liabilities (9,310) -
HE R Sale of scrap materials 33,278 3,569
HMIBUA (M) Sundry income (note) 10,293 4,826
95,262 75,324
iz : BLE2019F 12 A31 B IFEE 5+ A% note: During the year ended 31 December 2019, included

HWAEE RS W 44,331,000 %

JL(2018 % « T T)

MHEEH

FREEERE
ETHRESEBEZF SR

in sundry income was rental income of approximately

HK$4,331,000 (2018: HK$NIl)

10. Finance Costs

Continuing operations:
Interest expenses on listed

2019
FTERT
HK$’000

subordinated notes 40,775 41,213
ATEBESFERXE Interest expenses on
exchangeable bonds 28,325 41,039
ERAFAZEER Interest on borrowings wholly
ZIEEOE repayable within five years 84,060 82,691
HERGBEHNHNE Interest on lease liabilities 504 -
BEXABTE Total borrowing costs 153,664 164,943
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11. FrBHiRAX

REFEBREZAMG(GEA) RS -

11. Income Tax Expense

The amount of charged/(credited) to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss represents:

2019 2018
FTET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000

BUEARR I8 - Current tax:
—BANER - Hong Kong Profits Tax = -
— R EMSH - PRC Enterprises Income Tax 167,445 155,732
—Hh - Others - -
167,445 155,732
EERLIA (KI3E37) Deferred taxation (Note 37) (4,098) (5,414)
163,347 150,318

(a) EEBFIEH

MR2018E3A21H B L EE @
BT FRMBUSET) (FE 750 )1& B
BERM)MEHIEZR]) - 5| AFIBBH
KR H o 5 F B RMR2018F3 A
28HEREBR BEE WK IXE T
B REAMSHBEEMAH 6 4&
BREBETRNE2AH BB TEMBR
8.25% W F - MiBiB2 B BB LA E
FIRIZEZ16.5% HH - TREFIEH
REMARG LR ELE NG S EE
REG—THE16.5% HF -

(a) Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment)
(No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”") which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was
gazette on the following day. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25% and profits tax above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.



(b)

(c)

TEBEERE @ FSHBEMRRH
EMEMAIRSEEREYBHRE
NI TEKR - BB FIE R FEIE
16.5%F & o #H £2019F 12 A 31
B IEFE I & EN B IE(20184F ¢
) REAERVEREBELERT
piaw I

PR
FEGEMERNDIZREZ2019F &
2018F 12 A31 BILFE 2 (st FERR
Fiss 2 25% 51 & o

B FEH
ARBDREREHREREENHE
BHEEMKY RERR2BRAF - I
BHERCANREFEMEN - K
NGNS oen S f oAV NG
DIRBERBRELHBEEEEARA
SEACSZ - 3 7% B o S A 52 8 Bm 2 BF
SMEH -

(b)

(c)
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The directors of the Group considered the
amount involved upon implementation of the
two-tiered profits tax rate as insignificant to the
consolidation financial statement. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% for both
years. No tax is payable for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil) since there were no
assessable profit generated in Hong Kong.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
25% on the estimated assessable profits arising
in the PRC for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

Overseas Income Tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of Cayman
Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman lIslands income tax. The Company’s
subsidiaries established in the British Virgin
Islands were incorporated under the International
Business Companies Act of the British Virgin
Islands and, are exempted from British Virgin
Islands income tax.
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R £ B 9 BR BT 1S5 AT s ) £ DA PR B
ENREMSRNE25% HENE TR
BREWERMT

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using a tax rate of 25%, the standard
income tax rate of the PRC enterprises, as
follows:

2019 2018
TERT THT
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
SELEER Y Profit before tax from
BR 0 A A continuing operation 591,601 691,840
REAMEHHE Tax charge at applicable
25% (2018 : 25%)  income tax rate of 25%
AEMRIES (2018: 25%) 147,900 25 172,960 25
REMAEERELE  Effect of different tax rates
MERAIHAR of subsidiaries operating
ME2HE in other jurisdictions (978) (0.2) 2,377 0.3
BERTOWAZ Tax effect of income not
HBETE taxable for tax purpose (17,695) (3.0) (12,375) (1.8)
TR 2FHBAY 2 Tax effect of expenses not
BBz E deductible for
tax purpose 14,831 2.5 10,900 1.6
FRENRERZ Utilisation of previous
HEER unrecognised tax losses (11,632) (2.0) (28,388) (4.1)
AR 2 (HFT TR BEEBEA Tax effect of estimated tax
mETE losses not recognised 30,246 5.1 4,844 0.7
BAEFEREDR Underprovision in
prior years 675 0.1 - -
st X Income tax expenses 163,347 27.6 150,318 21.7

R2019F 12 A31 H » AEERER
77 18 /B3 18 # 695,184,000 7 7T (2018
F : 649,242,000 7% Jr ) 7] 45 & DA 3K
R 2R JE AR B i ) o #9426,729,000
7 (20184 : 27,197,000/ 7T ) 2
REEBEEENEEEEZ THEFER
STRFZEE - 4268,455,000 7
TT(20184F : 622,045,000/ 7T) 2
BB EBEEE - ARR AR
WHEBRZERB AT ATERBAN
MIEEBHE  WZSHEBEZE
EFRR B U 2RI AR -

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has
unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$695,184,000 (2018: HK$649,242,000),
which can be carried forward to offset future
taxable profit. Tax losses of approximately
HK$426,729,000 (2018: HK$27,197,000)
will expire after five years from the year of
assessment they relate to while tax losses
of approximately HK$268,455,000 (2018:
HK$622,045,000) can be carried forward
indefinitely. The deferred tax benefit of such
tax losses has not been recognised as it is not
considered probable that future taxable profit will
be available to utilise the unused tax losses.
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12. FREF 12. Profit for the Year
FRRMEHER(GEA) THE Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/
(crediting):
2019 2018
FHExT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEICE T - Continuing operations:
I&EkFS Wages and salaries 195,165 241,344
EYTEEREB ZERE Share options granted to directors
and employees 21,679 8,472
ST EREMRFORARETEIZIE  Payment to defined contribution
retirement plans 10,493 6,260
BETRAN(BIEEEFE)  Total staff costs (including
directors’ emoluments) 227,337 256,076
1% £ B 2 A Auditors’ remuneration
%V&%V*ﬁ BT 1k Audit and audit related work
1?}2.:‘#8@??1% - HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
BRA Limited 3,527 3,276
3F%¢?I1’E Non-audit work
ﬁI/E\.u‘fEﬁi%ﬂ‘kFﬁ - HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
BRA Limited 944 663
e Depreciation and amortisation 219,427 217,564
HEWE  BEREER Net gain on disposal of property, plant
T b Rz W R and equipment and land use rights (42,089) (56,365)
BEARBERABZ 2R Change in fair value of equity instrument
TERREES at fair value through profit or loss (4,906) 7,744
MESRBEESE Fair value loss arising from
ZAREEBE derivative financial liabilities 9,310 -
WRAEAX ZFEERA Cost of inventories recognised
as an expense 3,090,078 3,309,675
T NBF LKL EMESE  Operating lease rentals in respect of
land and buildings - 3,421
Z o5 RWFIBZEEEBEE  Alowance for credit losses of
trade receivables 2,861 -
Hi el B EEEEAE  Allowance for credit losses of
other receivables 2,057 807
BOBSEKFIEREE Reversal of allowance for credit
BB losses of trade receivables (1,784) (55)

BOEMEREEZE Reversal of allowance for credit
R losses of other receivables - (994)
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Wi

FEIBRAZAGIET - ARESEFEIE
B —IHA BT E RO RAKGEIHR Z
FHEIER EEEREE - RIBEEHBBUTH
RE - NEERREEHF SN 14% M &
S WARFEHRFIZIN > REEH
BHRERXNEZSIERREENZE
£ o ZIBAETE RN E B ERIK
EEMNEHEESEE -

AEBMEAERAEELHRESHE -
BESFTEBEN EREMRTE - ABLE
AAEHE - REAESTE  AEERHE
EAREASAREREIEATES K
RREEBWRAZSRIEAMZASIER - B
2014 F6 1B AEEREEHRZ
FRAESA1,50087T

H EZ2019F12A31B It FE - X &
Em LSS aERMERETED
10,493,000 JT(20184F : 6,260,000 %
JL) e 201912 A31H » AEE I &
BFMESEMRRERATARRLOEAER
R (20184 « BHTT) ©

note:

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for its employees in the PRC, which is a defined
contribution plan. The Group contributes approximately
14% of the employees’ salary as specified by the local
government, and the Group has no future obligations
for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state
sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire
pension obligations to retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under
the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its Hong
Kong employees make monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Since
1 June 2014, both the Group’s and the employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per
month.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
aggregate amount of the Group’s contributions to the
aforementioned pension schemes was approximately
HK$10,493,000 (2018: HK$6,260,000). As at 31
December 2019, the Group was not entitled to any
forfeited contributions to reduce the Group’s future
contributions (2018: HK$Nil).
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13. Directors’, Chief Executives’ and
Employees’ Emoluments and Individuals
with Highest Emoluments

(a) Directors’ Emoluments
The emoluments of each director for the year
ended 31 December 2019 is set below:

EEtRH%e
we #e ERE SRR &t
Employer’s
contribution
Share  to pension
Fees Salaries options scheme Total
THR TR TR T TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HTES Executive directors
WXE(EE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,357 232 18 2,607
R (775 #2%) Shum Sai Chit (CEO) - 1,059 1,035 18 2,112
R Chi Jing Chao®? - 112 133 - 245
HEZO Chi Bi Fen'" - 709 268 9 986
FHTES Non-executive director
PRE Guo Mengyong 35 - 58 - 93
BIFGTES Independent non-
executive directors
RERE Cheung Sound Poon® 45 - 192 - 237
s Sheng Hong 35 - 58 - 93
R Lau Chi Kit 240 - 77 - 317
il Kwong Ping Man'" 67 - 134 - 201
422 4,237 2,187 45 6,891

o 20194 6 A 26 HERIE

@ 201946 A27 BEEE

M Retired on 26 June 2019

@ Appointed on 27 June 2019
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HZE2018F 12 A3 BILFERES The emoluments of each director for the year
ZEHMWEIN T ended 31 December 2018 is set below:

HTEE Executive directors
WX E(EE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,342 - 18 2,360
R (7E ) Shum Sai Chit (C£O) - 1,077 847 18 1,042
HEX Chi Bi Fen - 1,077 565 18 1,660
FUTEE Non-executive director
PEE Guo Mengyong 35 - - - 35
BUFGTES Independent non-

executive directors
Bmx Kwong Ping Man 105 - 141 - 246
Bt Sheng Hong 35 - - - 35
EE Lau Chi Kit 240 - 45 - 285

415 4,496 1,598 54 6,563




(b) FliREFHMAL

(c)

RER AEEBRUSEHFHALE
FEAMI (20184 : 3L ) AR Al EE -
EEEEHNH»MER EXHESE -
FRNENTHT 240(20184F : 2
f)ALEZEEMT -
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Five Highest Paid Individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year included
1 (2018: 3) director of the Company whose
director’s emoluments are disclosed in the above
analysis. The emoluments payable to the rest
4 (2018: 2) individuals during the year are as
follows:

2019 2018
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HAFH - BIRE - Basic salaries, share options,
B EE R EYFI= other allowances and
benefits in kind 10,668 4,554
RKEER - FREMIR Pension costs-defined
2l contribution plan 20 36
10,688 4,590

ZARL(2018F : 2 ) Z = H A+
B S B IA T 88 ¢

The emoluments of the 4 (2018: 2) individuals with the
highest remuneration are within the following bands:

A
Number of individuals

2019 2018

£ 21,000,000 7 Nil = HK$1,000,000 - -
1,000,001 0% HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000

2,000,000%& 7T - 1
2,000,001 Bt E HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000

3,000,000 7T 2 -
3,000,001 & 02 HK$3,000,001 — HK$4,000,000

4,000,000 7T 2 1

4 2

#H E20194F & 2018F 12 A31 H It
FE AEBEVERAETAAQRAES
kAN &AL HBEESM
AREESMAREBE R ERE -
SIERBEBBEE - REZE2019F &
2018F 12 A31 HILFE » EAR
AESIRANERHFMATRENRE
HEREERT A -

(c)

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors of the Company and the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office. There was no director of the
Company and the five highest paid individuals
agreed to waive or waived any emoluments
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.
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14. g2

ARBEETEZMEZE2019F £ 2018
F12 431 BIEFEIRMERBKE -

15. BIREF

(a) EX
BRERBFERIBEARRRHEE AR
HFEAEN  BRUAFADSETEBER
nEFEHEEE -

14. Dividend

The directors of the Company do not recommend
the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

15. Earnings Per Share

(a) Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2019 2018
ZF Earnings
SAEEREARFA  Profit attributable to ordinary equity
2B REEiREs holders of the parent, used in
FB AEE R - the basic earnings per
share calculation:
REAFELEED From continuing operations
(F&T) (HK$’000) 380,368 451,614
RE DR IEEEER From a discontinued operation
(F#&7T) (HK$°000) - 22,616
380,368 474,230
B EIT T AR N Weighted average number of ordinary
FHE(FAR) shares in issue (thousand shares) 4,581,117 4,581,117
SREXREF(FAEN) Basic earnings per share
(HK cents per share)
SELEERREHKRIE  Continuing operations
BT and discontinued operation 8.30 10.35

B TS Continuing operation 8.30 9.86




(b) #%

FEREERNERRELAAEET
BEEER - AREEHTEAEBRM
BFOBGEE - NRRAE —REEN
BEE B BAE

TEREMS - ARRRIBEREEAITE
BB REREE S EEIT
H - EETZERAAEGAKAD R
AzRmFEAmEET)EANKRND
A B EXFMFENRNOEE
BRERITHEBREMEITHRMDEE
ELE - ARNEBRETEERNEZE
20194 K& 2018F 12 A31H L F E
Ml FHEME WA ESREER
B I AR R AT R AN R Ry B e o

16. ERILESE

HEEFERER
MR2018F6AK HRETEMEKA

7l gE

%

o

HI o ARREEGRTHERE
ZHEER2018F7 A31 HEMX °
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(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has one
categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share
options.

For the share options, a calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market price of the Company’s shares
during the period) based on the monetary value of
the subscription rights attached to outstanding share
options. The number of shares calculated as above
is compared with the number of shares that would
have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options. The computation of diluted earnings per share
does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share
options because the exercise price of those share
options was higher than the average market price of
shares for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

Discontinued Operation

Disposal of electronic product business

At the end of June 2018, the board of the Company
decided to dispose the electronic product business
due to its weak profitability. The disposal was
completed on 31 July 2018.
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EREEEXBEZFRBNEINMT © 4R
BREXRTILEBHFEES - URTRE
FEREBCRFNELLLE -

The profit for the year from the discontinued
operations is set out below. The comparative figures
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss have
been restated to represent as if the electronic product
business had been discontinued at the beginning of
the year.

HIANEFEMER Loss of electronic product
1w EE business operation for
the period (1,183)
HEBFEMEBKS Gain on disposal of electronic
2 Wz product business operation 32,498
BRIFEEER 2 Profit for the period from
BR A& A discontinued operation 31,315

B2018%F1 A1 HE2018%E7 A31 B #If
BETEMERZEE(CREGEABERAR)
N

The results of the electronic product business for the
period form 1 January 2018 to 31 July 2018, which
have been included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss were as follows:



20194 ANNUAL REPORT 2019

UE P e

Notes to the Financial Statements

HE2019412 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

WA Revenue 179,652
HE KA Cost of sales (148,014)
EH Gross profit 31,638
E sk B e F Other gains or losses, net 9,924
HERDIHER Selling and distribution costs (12,119)
THHAX Administrative expenses (30,420)
EIEAERRLEF N EE Share of profits and losses

of joint ventures 180
HMIEER Finance costs (415)
MRATISTATE R Loss before income tax (1,212)
FriEHiE® Income tax credit 29
ENEE Loss for the period (1,183)
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Htt2HEMAX

RREERMEEROEE

Other comprehensive
expense
Other comprehensive expense

BRsHME2ERE to be reclassified
to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
MEGINERS 2 B Z58 Exchange differences on transaction
of foreign operations (3,381)
HREZHEMBXZEHE Total comprehensive expense
for the period (4,564)
THATEEERREIE Loss for the period
attributable to:
ZAN/NEIEZ ZS DN Owners of the Company (920)
FEPERR M = Non-controlling interest (263)
(1,183)
THALTEMBAZEMX Total comprehensive expense
U S #EEE - income for the period
attributable to:
PIN/NEIEZ SN Owners of the Company (3,595)
SRR S Non-controlling interest (969)
(4,564)
BRER: Loss per share:
RECKRIEEEEIE From discontinued operation
ER R #5E (Bl) Basic and diluted (HK cents) (0.7)
BmRBNBEENRK Recognition of prepaid lease payment 233
ME - BERREBITE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 3,287
BEEFERA Cost of inventories sold 177,079
ML REFHLEEHEE Minimum lease payments under
HTHREBRERRK operating lease in respect of land
and buildings 435
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During the period ended 31 July 2018, the electronic
product business generated HK$13,751,000 to the
Group’s net operating cash flow; used HK$1,116,000
in respect of investing activities; and, used
HK$4,413,000 in respect of financing activities.

FERT
HK$’000

RE: Consideration:
BURE Cash received 13,183
BEERESRE Deferred cash consideration 56,000

RELTE Total consideration 69,183
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R2018 F
7H31H
As 31 July
2018
FEx
HK$’000
EHEZEETFE Net assets disposed of:
T AR Land use rights 10,468
L E N Property, plant and equipment 95,248
mAE Intangible assets 318
REIGFER Long term deposits 21
REBRRIZIEE Investments in joint ventures 6,646
R—HEEE QR IRE Investment in an associate 18
BRAAEFAEMEEIRE Equity instruments at fair value through
ZBARTE other comprehensive income 3,000
ENS Inventories 49,287
FEWE 5 IR R IE W R B Trade and bills receivables 32,409
TENRIE - e REMERIRK Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 9,095
B —EE &R AR Amount due from a joint venture 147
RIT MRS EH Bank and cash balances 32,373
B S BT IRN Trade payables (39,076)
FERT B R I E M FE T BR K Accruals and other payables (33,080)
FEFTE R Income tax payable (118)
BE Borrowings (22,000)
EERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (70)
B Provision (1,130)
R —R2REZER Amount due to a shareholder (115,000)
FEPE R Non-controlling interests 7,437
HENB QR RERES Release of reserves upon disposal subsidiaries 692
HEM B AR E Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 32,498
BRE Total consideration 69,183
HEMELRS R FE Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
BURE Cash received 13,183
B BEHERITRRESES Less: Cash and bank balances disposed (32,373)

(19,190)
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17. LifERE 17. Land Use Rights
REBERTHMERAER 2 ERIBENLE The Group’s interests in land use rights represent
MENZK  EREFESTEOT : prepaid operating lease payments and their net

carrying values are analysed as follows:

EE, REBEEEEH ¢ In the PRC, held on:

PEIRE Medium term leases 298,708
mBEE Current assets 13,492
EMENEE Non-current assets 285,216

298,708

M2018F12H31H - R HW & & & As at 31 December 2018, land use rights with a

121,165,000 70 2 TH{F B ECE B R carrying amount of approximately HK$121,165,000

TEEZHE(MI5E34) - have been pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note
34).

R20191H 18 4298,708,000/% 7T As at 1 January 2019, land use rights of approximately

2 ERED NN E SIS RS AL HK$298,708,000 was transferred to right-of-use

F16HEEBEFRAEEE - assets upon the adoption of HKFRS 16.
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18. Y% - RERRE 18. Property, Plant and Equipment

s Cost
ROBEIRIRE  Asatt Janvary 2018 1,009,275 U5 18450 3% 3607 21,864 B 1M 4180069
RE-HHEDA  Disposalof asubsiday (225.831) (1871 86.870) (4905 .87 234 - - [
i) Addtons 4837 76 8512 30,09 3% 29 - 854907 699,805
& Trangfers 14574 - 38510 14%8 - w - (s -
i Disposes - B .79 ) o5 (3183 - - 7,348
i 5 Exchanges ligment (39230) (139 (1452 (9% kil (1379 - TR
RABEI2A3ER  Asat 31 December 2018

MIET AR and 1 January 2019 802,425 258 199620 1980 - 15,484 B 1025 406007
il Addtions 4288 - 698 u - 562 - 126016 131807
Ef Transfers U442 - 297,085 8 - Iy - (545,656) -
i Disposals (1408 - (234,107 (1,112 - (1.867) - - (238514
SREREREE  Transferto assets clssifed as

LEnEE held for sae (55,994) (8:8%9) - - - - - - (64899
5 Exchanges lgnment (25,8 ] (t6.429) (117 - il i (24.901) [98.987)

HOOOE12A3ME Asatdf December2019 1061910 12641  2,013467 47,985 - 1368 34 113573 4,285,700
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2iE Accumulated deprecation

ROBEIEIR  Asatt Januay 2018 70 3190 180428 11847 2497 8977 31 - 622,352
FpyE Oherge for the year 13119 a 150,408 8,407 350 288 - - 1777%
WE-EHRELAT  Eiminated on disposal of

ki a sbsidary (5744) (162 (164176) (3541) (1719 (1929 - - 230,430
lERSE Eiminated on disposel - ] 979 m (845) (2189 - - [6,020]
Eifz Exchanges alignment (29520) (8,356) (33,744 223 (299 134 - - (74,586
RoIBE12F 318K Asat 3t December 2018

01951 §18 and 1 January 2019 23,189 13,684 131,93 14,563 - 530 31 - 489,051
FrfE Cherge for the year 16294 {3 140,590 2007 - 230 - - 191,776
& Trangfer (21,194 - 21,194 - - - - - -
HEREE Elminated on disposa (4067 - %) (162 - (37 - - s
SEEORERE  Transforto assets classfied as

fiEnEE held for sale (3919 (6,809 - - - - - - (t5.819
kT Exchanges algnment (63%) 48 8,559 (éa) - (345) gl - [10,042)
H2019%128318  As at 31 December 2019 6,667 5210 384,362 16,074 - 6,022 354 - 419,586
FESE Net carrying values

H2019E12A318  Asat 31 December 2019 1,055,243 143 1,629,105 31,864 . 6,767 - 1135734 3,866,144

HIBE12ASIE  Asat 1 December 2018 869,236 79

4 1,064,268 3,331 - 10,162 - 12802 3767.246
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ff g

(i)

AEENEE T LETFTRBEBRNE
EEDHWT

notes:

The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold land
and buildings at the end of the reporting period are
analysed as follows:

2019 2018

FET FHET

HK$’°000 HK$’000

BERETHEE Medium term leases in Hong Kong - -
REREREE Medium term leases in the PRC 1,055,243 869,236
1,055,243 869,236

MR2019F12A381H: B ®m E B 4
884,167,000 7T (2018 4F : 593,519,000
BRIZHETHWRET  BERESED
EBIRITEE 2| (MIzE34) -

B E20194F £ 2018412 A31 B IL £
SEEZERABEREBEARS

o> i %
kBt

a1

E\

RAFEZME BERREBZERFH

NN

— e+ REF AEHA
—fEmEEE 254
—®RE Mikes 3E40F
—REIEPAZRE 2F124F
—R®E 4FE104F
— R Aa 54
—TAREAR 24

(il

As at 31 December 2019, leasehold land and
buildings and plant and machinery with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$884,167,000 (2018:
HK$593,519,000) have been pledged to secure bank
borrowings (Note 34).

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, the directors of the Group considered that
no impairment loss should be recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
adopted for the current year are as follows:

— Leasehold land and buildings

— Leasehold improvements

— Plant and machinery

— Furniture and office equipment
— Motor vehicles

- Ship

— Tooling and moulds

Over the lease
terms

2 to 5 years

3 1o 40 years

2 to 12 years

4 to 10 years

5 years

2 years
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19. Right-Of-Use Assets/Lease Liabilities

FRHEEE Right-of-use assets
2019
FExT
HK$’000
w1 A1A As at 1 January 305,699
FRRE Addition during the year 3,199
FREHRITE Depreciation provided during the year (12,706)
bE Exchange alignment (8,750)
®12A31H As at 31 December 287,442

ERREEEASBERBEEEHELHER
HBAAEREERE LR MEOER
HIZRAR £ R & R R RIERED
R YHEHAEHEREMELRE -

M20194E12 431 H + BE M {8 49160,183,000
EIT(20184F : 121,165,000/870) Z (FREE
ECIEMERITER R (HEs4) -

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s
rights to use underlying leased land and premises
under operating lease arrangements over the lease
terms, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2019, right-of-use assets with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$160,183,000
(2018: HK$121,165,000) have been pledged to secure
bank borrowings (Note 34).

HEEE Lease liabilities
2019
FHET
HK$’000
DA Analysed as
— B - Current 1,962
—JERED - Non-current 5,870
7,832
SEAENREEA Minimum lease payments due
-—FR — Within one year 2,408
— More than one year but not later than
— A —FETBAME two years 662
— More than two years but not later than
—HBAMFETBRRF five years 2,073
—BBhF — Over five years 7,156
12,299
W KRR R Less: Future finance charges (4,467)

HEBBNRE

Present value of lease liabilities

7,832
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20. Assets Classified As Held For Sale

2019 2018

FE T T T

HK$’000 HK$’000

DHEABIELENEE Assets classified as held for sale 91,019 113,328

EREFFBEE TN EMER2018F
12A31B A R&E 2EHB R AAR
2018 F12AG1HE S —RBILE=TF
(TEBEEA1DEZE—HRBHET R
FESEE1]) YREEEREFBUTR
KW AR #110,000,000t E EH @YW
¥ MEEES1ARZ2ENBARALR
AR ER 7% & A K #1,000,0007T © A
2019F 11 A18 8 @ S AFELE
H&EEREEY45,641,0008 (AR
¥ 40,142,000 70 ) LAX (& 49 43,206,000 7
T (AR#38,000,0007T) HEFELEEH
1o IR IE KB FE U FRIE 49 37,972,000 7 T
(AR ¥34,200,0007T ) 5F AR 20194F 12
A31 BaH AW FIE - R 2019F 11 A
258 2EWBRAAERS —RBIE=
F(BEER2) BRI REHT (R
HmE2]) REHEHR T 2D E AT
EHEMEE  WHWRTAIRERESA
R #1,500,000 7T °

Due to the exclusivity period with a former potential
buyer was expired on 31 December 2018, a wholly
owned subsidiary A signed a memorandum of
understanding (“MOU 1”) with an independent third
party (“Potential Buyer 1”) on 31 December 2018
and agreed to the terms and the details of sale and
purchase of the related properties with the amount
not less than RMB110,000,000 and the Potential
Buyer 1 agreed to pay a non-refundable deposit
RMB1,000,000 to the wholly owned subsidiary
so received. On 18 November 2019, the carrying
amount of part of assets classified as held for sale of
approximately HK$45,641,000 (RMB40,142,000) was
disposed to Potential Buyer 1 and the consideration
was approximately HK$43,206,000 (RMB38,000,000).
The receivable of the deferred consideration of
approximately HK$37,972,000 (RMB34,200,000) was
included in other receivables as at 31 December 2019.
On 25 November 2019, the wholly owned subsidiary
A signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU
2”) with another independent third party (“Potential
Buyer 2”) for the disposal of the remaining part of
assets classified as held for sale and a non-refundable
deposit of amount RMB1,500,000 was received.



R2019F10A31H 2EWE R AIBE
—ZBUE=F(BEEF 3B RRE
e ([RREREEE3))  WRIBIRIERIARK
AL HAARE30,000,000 L2 & HEE S
HE—EmE TRE2EWNBARBX
TARERFE S AR 1,500,000 7T °

R2019F 12831 pEAFELE
MEEMNREMEA X A91,091,000%
T(A E #81,977,0007t )(20184 :
113,328,000% JL(A E #102,500,000
TINUAEDPERBEHENEENAR
E & % 4 5118,575,0008 TT(A R #&
106,796,000 7T ) (20184 : 152,670,000
BT (A R#134,570,0007T )) ° HE TS
MEAERTEFE BT S ERGEEM
ET RETEBLELEBIALRME
T2 AEREEMEZTEER B
2019F 12 A31H AEEBFELEN
ERBEEMNREELERE0I8SF ¢
) o
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On 31 October 2019, a wholly owned subsidiary B
signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU 3”)
with an independent third party (“Potential Buyer 3”)
and agreed to the terms and the details of sale and
purchase of a property with the amount not less than
RMB30,000,000 and a non-refundable deposit of
amount RMB1,500,000 had been paid to the wholly
owned subsidiary B.

The aggregate carrying amount of the assets
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2019
was HK$91,019,000 (RMB81,977,000) (2018:
HK$113,328,000 (RMB102,500,000)) and the
aggregate fair value of the assets classified as
held for sale is approximately HK$118,575,000
(RMB106,796,000) (2018: HK$152,670,000
(RMB134,570,000)). The valuation was performed
by independent qualified valuers not connected with
the Group. Based on the result of management’s
assessment by making reference to the valuation
report issued by the independent qualified valuers,
there is no impairment on the carrying value of the
Group’s assets classified as held for sale as at 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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21. BE

PTREAEERCELBNM(REELE
7 ]) 2 EBIRIA T R B D #BA

21. Goodwiill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating
units (“CGU”) identified according to business segment

as follows:
2019 2018
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
SEEMET () Magnesium product business (i) 197,144 197,144
HAth ZE 7 (i) Other business (ii) 224 224
197,368 197,368

(if)

BE KA KRR SR R EEERER AR
(TR ) (RGBR I : 601)  F R
B AR ETYS EE BT TR E A E

= o
Eas

MM _EBBARARNEBIEEE -
ZReESEM A RE S B IRIEL
AAREEWREZHBBEEREE R
FHESREBAFEZAIFEREE " U
N & F B FOAT BR IR %£9.86% (2018 4F -
0.86%)MET - BEHENBE S TS
BT RIEREBESHMANRRNBEHER
EREMEHERBRET - EBRTEFER
EENEBEEREFLBERAFH
WA (REEEHEEELERNR)  mA
Bt DR EMBENRRERAAT
EERTBEENELREL - ARAES
iz THZSEBERNEEEHg T eE
BEEELEBE AT O S FEEBEE -

(i)

The goodwill was resulted from the acquisition of Rare
Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holding Limited
(“REMT”) (stock code: 601). The fair value of REMT is
calculated by reference to bid price quoted in active
market.

¥oOTT Z BB % AR A A is engaged in the port
operation. The recoverable amount of this CGU is
determined based on a value in use calculation which
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors of the Company covering a
five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 9.86%
(2018: 9.86%) per annum. Cash flow projections during
the budget period are based on the same expected
gross margins and raw material price inflation the
budget period. Other key assumptions for the value in
use calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflow/
outflow which include budgeted sales and gross profit
margin, such estimation is based on the unit’s past
performance and the expectation of the directors of the
Company for the market development. The directors
of the Company believes that any reasonable change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount.
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22. Intangible Assets

B it BREA L i ait
Technical Club Development
Know-how  membership cost  Trademark Patent Total
TiEn Thr ThR TiEn TiEn TEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A& Cost
R2018%F1A1R As at 1 January 2018 3,687 80 10,970 341,062 53,842 409,641
HEMBAFM16)  Disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 16) - - (10970) (1,00 - (1,976)
Rk Exchange alignment - - - (17,518) 2.790) (20,308
12018125318 %  Asat 31 December 2018 and
20191718 1 January 2019 3,687 80 - 322,538 51,052 377,357
EX#E Exchange alignment - - - (7,404) (1,088) (8,492)
#2019%12831F  As at 31 December 2019 3,687 80 - 315,134 49,964 368,865
ZHEERAE Accumulated amortisation
and impairment
R2018E1A1H As at 1 January 2018 3,687 - 10,970 2,081 3,379 20,117
FREE Amortisation for the year - - - 923 8,176 9,009
HE-EHBAR Disposal of a subsidiary
(BizE16) (Note 16) - - (10,970) (688) - (11,65)
Ei#E Exchange alignment - - - (328) (533) (861)
12018125318 %  Asat 31 December 2018 and
2019F1 718 1 January 2019 3,687 - - 1,988 11,022 16,697
EREH Amortisation for the year - - - - 4549 4549
EiE Exchange alignment - - - (255) (268) (523)
#2019%12A318  As at 31 December 2019 3,687 - - 1,738 15,303 20,723
BEFE Net carrying values
R2019%12A310  As at 31 December 2019 - 80 - 318,401 34,661 348,142
2018128310 As at 31 December 2018 - 80 - 320,550 40,030 360,660
STEEETEAF AT The following useful lives are used in the calculation of
amortisation:
FAEERK AN - 3ESF Development costs 3 to 5 years
(B 52104 Trademark 5 to 10 years
=2H 9E 164 Patent 9 to 16 years
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23.

WEBVEEZAERAFHRITRER
i AR EETHE - WP EBVEEZ
AEREMAERY  AleESFRaNE
EERREMNENHIBEREEFZRE
EMERAERFY HIBTWNZEFS
R AIEREHFERAERRERS
ERBE  MEZHEHEARAEBBRER

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite

LBREEXFESEERBEFLEE R to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date
RIIER o of change and in accordance with the policy for
amosrtisation of intangible assets with finite lives as
set out above.
PRURIE 23. Mining Rights
FHET
HK$’000
R Cost
20181 H1H As at 1 January 2018 571,344
M 5, 58 B Exchange alignment (29,606)
M®2018%F 12 A31 B X As at 31 December 2018 and
20191 A1H 1 January 2019 541,738
ME 5, 58 B Exchange alignment (11,555)
R2019F 12881 H As at 31 December 2019 530,183
E:g: ] Accumulated amortisation
»®20184F1 A 1H As at 1 January 2018 83,880
FAWE Charge for the year 13,678
ME 55 E Exchange alignment (4,280)
M2018F 12 31 H X As at 31 December 2018 and
20194F1 A1H 1 January 2019 93,278
FANE Charge for the year 10,396
B 5,58 B Exchange alignment (1,959)
R20195 128 31H As at 31 December 2019 101,715
REFE Net carrying values
M2019F 12881 H As at 31 December 2019 428,468
R2018F 12 A31 H As at 31 December 2018 448,460

HRERRTFEIHEREBHENEHNOEE
FEEMREAILTZBE AR MRIERE
o mMmEREESCEREENELRE

The balance represents two mining rights, the
Serpentine mine located in Donghai County of Jiangsu
Province, the PRC and the dolomite mine located in
Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which are
amortised by the production quantity over the ore
reserve.
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24. TEMBERT

24. Principal Subsidiaries

(@) M2019F12A31H "EENEE

(a) Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries

MEARFHBMT

as at 31 December 2019 are as follow:

EEREEHRERLA Bt ERERLA RERRARR 10052 RRERER100ER - - 00% f00%  100% 100%
Century Sunshine Ecological Hong Kong, limited Investment holdings in Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each
Technology Limited liabiity company
THEENAREERLA R RREALT REFEREERH M RARBAARH 275,000,007 - - 00%  f00%  100%  100%
Jiangsu Azureblue Technology ~ The PRC, limited Manufacturing and sale of Registered and paid up capital of
development Company Limited ~ fiabilty company fertiisers in the PRC RMB275,000,000
THERLIERAA nE - EREFLT RBECARNT RRREE  ARRERRTARE27000000T - - 00% f00%  100% 100%
Jiangsu Longteng The PRC, limited Processing, exploration and sales o Registered and paid up capital of
Petrochemical Limited liabiity company serpenting in the PRC RMB297,000,000
BILRERAE ABRANE BREMLT NERRAAR 10RERRERAE %7 100%  100% - - q00%  100%
Long Xiang Enterprises Limted ~~ Britsh Virgin Islands, Imited  Investment holdings in Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of USS1 each
liabilty company
WEAB N IRHERAT nE - EREFLT ROBREREERH i RERBAARH 260,000,007 - - 1002% 0% 70.02%  T02%
Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint ~ The PRC, limited Manufacturing and sales of Registered and paid up capital of
Stock Company Limited liabiity company fertiisers in the PRC RMB260,000,000
BERGREHERLE R RREALT RESEREERH AR REARE 00000007 - - 00%  f00%  100%  100%
BEESBEHARAA The PRC limited Manufacturing and sale of Registered and paid up capialof
liabilty company fertiisers in the PRC RMB30,000,000
TRRRENLIRRAR nE - EREFLT ROBREREERH BERERERARES00,0000007T - - 00%  f00%  100% 100%
IRRFENL TERAA The PR limited Menufacturing and sale of Issued and fully paic RMB300,000,000
liabiity company fertisers in the PRG
PENRERERERLANG) FRE BRAELT REREERENR SR010EnCEIRERRA - - T242% TN T242% T2
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology - Bermuda, limited Investment holdings in Bermuda 6,574,390,068 %
(Group Holdings Limited (note ) liabilty company Issued and fuly paid up capital of
6,574,390,068 of HK$0.10 each
HERTEERERAE R AREELT MEMERBELBEREER IMRERRTARY T 0000007T - - T2A2% TN T2A2% oA
Kinjiang Tengxiang Mangesium ~ The PRC, limited liabilty Manufacturing and sales of Registered and paid up capital of
Products Company Limited company magnesium-related RMB171,800,000
products in the PRC
BUFRZEBRRARAD %8 ARELAT MEBEREELBEREER RERRTARY 803320007 - - T2A2% AN T242% A%
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium ~ The PRC, limited Manufacturing and sale of Registered and paid up capital of
Resources Company Limited liabiity company magnesium-related products RMB260,332,000

in the PRC
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RN ESRRYFRXEREATE
SERAEEEEFEERLONARA
TEMBAR - EETAR/FIEMHER
AMEREEREENTE

(b) HEEAHIMSHF2ENBAT
B

(b)

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of
the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
affected the results for the year materially or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries, in the opinion of
the directors, would result in particulars of excessive
length.

Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

WERHE BRE 21.58%
REMT Bermuda

271.58% 57,844 78,841 382,779 360,602

AT REAEAHE RS 2 AR BB
RAHMIEERRE - ATHBHERBE
T EERNRRREHEAN SR -

Summarised financial information in respect of each
of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.
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REMT

2019
FTERT
HK$’000

MENEE Current assets 888,298 689,070
FERBEE Non-current assets 1,666,026 1,683,148
mENEE Current liabilities (804,577) (172,078)
e EIB=N Non-current liabilities (361,860) (928,923)
PiN/NSIE X DN 2 Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 1,005,108 920,615
SRR Non-controlling interests 382,779 350,602
2019
FER
HK$’000
WA Revenue 1,515,291 1,717,433
=53 Expenses (1,305,559) (1,320,090)
F 755 5 Profit for the year 209,732 285,860
RATEE AFEMRRT Profit attribute to owners
of the Company 151,888 207,019
FEVERR B 2R B (G s Profit attribute to
non-controlling interests 57,844 78,841
F N A Profit for the year 209,732 285,860
RATHEBAEGEEE Total comprehensive income
Wz 4858 attributable to owners
of the Company 94,238 95,329
JEEREREGEE Total comprehensive income
e 458 attributable to
non-controlling interests 35,889 40,811
FAEEREETE Total comprehensive income
for the year 130,127 136,140
B IEERERRE Dividend paid to
non-controlling interests 9,066 -
W EBN TS Net cash flows generated from
RemEFE operating activities 290,138 318,605
& EE A Net cash flows used in
REMEFHE investing activities (106,615) (214,687)
B & EE AT Net cash flows used in
REREFEH financing activities (32,104) (138,592)
BeRA/ (Rt F8 Net cash inflow/(outflow) 151,419 (34,674)
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25. REELQTFZRE

KEFBERAERR2018F HE - B
2019 FWENREEBRRZIE -

AEBERGERBFHBNOT

25. Investments in Joint Ventures

The Group’s material joint ventures are disposed
during 2018. There are no investments in joint
ventures in 2019.

Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures are
as follows:

EEHIZREREERLA ARE W
GEDD 5,401,550 7 PRC

Chongaing New Standard RMB5,401,550
Medical Equipment
Co., Ltd (note i & ii)

- - - HERHEET
EEEM

Manufacture and

trading of electronic

medical appliances

AN HEER AR ARE e - - - BLEgETED
R 15,0007 PRC Online trading of

Shenzhen Innovation RMB15,000 electronic products
Trading Co., Ltd.
(note i & i)

BisE - notes:

() AREBEESAMEBHERIFER

(i) LRREBERRAZHEHARRBMES
Ao

TRIRAEBEENTEAZABAF
B TSR

(i) Not audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.

(ii) The above investments in joint ventures are indirectly
held by the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not
individually material:

FRNEEEE R EF Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year 180
FHREGEELR B EETE Share of the joint ventures’ total

comprehensive income for the year 209
HEBRIEEEER Disposal of discontinued operations (6,119)

REBREEQAREE ZREEMAR  Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
investments in the joint ventures -




26. R—HEBEQTZIRE

— BB E QA R2018F HE - M20194F
WEN - E QB ZRE -

—BERRFEAT
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26. Investment in an Associate

An associate is disposed during 2018. There are no
investment in an associate in 2019.

Particulars of an associate are as follows:

BNREETREERAA AE#3,000,0007T # - BEEK
(Ff5E )note) RMB3,000,000 PRC Dormant
Mt - note:

AEBEHEFMEBABERARER

R—FEB2RRREZZFMT

TRINFAEETBERN LB L RF
ZHBER

Not audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.

The movement of investment in an associate is as
follows:

The following table illustrates the financial information
of the Group’s associate that is not material:

F R FE(L B & 2 8] A Share of the associate’s profit for the year -
AR N
=

el sl

FAREGE

n

AEEREARE Share of the associate’s total

comprehensive income for the year -
HEBRIEREER Disposal of discontinued operations (18)
REER—FBERAEHREZREAELSE Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s

investment in an associate -
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27. RAREFARSZRERE 27. Equity Investments at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss

WA Listed investments
—BMz ETmRAES — Listed equity securities in Australia,
BEAREREED at fair value (note i) 8,782 3,876

MisE - notes:

(i) ZHREEAEERBRMNZ FTESK (i)  The amount represents the Group’s investment in listed
& o N B B FinTech Chain Limited securities in Australia. The Group held 14,744,000
14,744,000 (&5 © shares of FinTech Chain Limited.

TR ABHFREAZANBNLEERT Fair values of the investments in listed equity securities
BZEANEMETE - are determined by reference to bid prices quoted in
active markets.
28. #& 28. Inventories

JR*} Raw materials 305,171 435,748

fE& Work in progress 11,992 21,691

SURK o Finished goods 154,597 232,017

471,760 689,456




29. EZRRAREREKRER
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29. Trade and Bills Receivables

2019 2018
FHET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

JEUE 5 FA (B (i) Trade receivables (note (i) 466,119 371,071
EEEERE Allowance for credit losses (15,876) (15,148)
450,243 355,923

JE U R 48 (B3 (i) Bills receivables (note(ii) 11,138 17,809
461,381 373,732

ff g

(i)

AEBRTESGEFZEEH—KTBA
180 H(20184F : BB 180 H) »

BEARTARENE ZEREGRAERZ
MHRAERRCENEFPER - CafE
RBENE S YRR Z BN EE T
BRBRINEFPARN - RIEBEBEER
BEEERR  BARKEEBRIRRER
# REASGELARITEERES B4
DR A AT 2 BB o AR ER [ 30 M Bt 2%
ERBFHEMERR -

R2019F12A31H - B K B & &
11,138,000 7T(20184 : 17,809,000
AT BRI EHRE A EA20184F ¢
T—EA)AREE - AAEREREAUA
REEaHE -

note:

(i)

The Group allows a credit period normally not more
than 180 days (2018: not more than 180 days) to its
trade customers.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default. Trade
receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the
management believes that no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balance are still considered fully recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

As at 31 December 2019, bills receivables of
approximately HK$11,138,000 (2018: HK$17,809,000)
will be matured within seven months (2018: eleven
months) after the end of the reporting period. All the
bills receivables are denominated in RMB.
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MR2019F 12 A31H » REEEWE F
BB EEEEREE) WERESIT(RESE
BEAZ7))aT :

As at 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of the
trade receivables of the Group presented based on
the invoice date and net of allowance for credit losses
was as follows:

2019 2018

FET FHTT

HK$’000 HK$’000

30 HAA Within 30 days 231,951 168,921
31260H 31 to 60 days 159,223 101,335
61290 H 61 to 90 days 56,541 42,690
BB o0 H Over 90 days 2,528 42,977
450,243 355,923

REWESEFNEESEREZEHNT ¢ The movements of allowance for credit losses of trade

receivables are as follows:

FHET
HK$’000

20181 H1H As at 1 January 2018 9,974
BB & 4R Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9

FOHe T E 7,159
201841 A1 H(&EY) As at 1 January 2018 (restated) 17,133
BREEESERE Allowance for credit losses reversed (55)
HEBKRIEEEER Disposal of discountinued operations (1,102)
M 5, B Exchange alignment (828)
M2018F 12 A31 B X As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019

2019F 1 A1H 15,148
EEREEEERE Allowance for credit losses recognised 2,861
BRI =E RS Allowance for credit losses reversed (1,784)
b 55 B Exchange alignment (349)
M20194F 12 A 31 H As at 31 December 2019 15,876

FAHE2019F12A31H IEFEE K
ZZ2EFNEERBEREERERKRERE
W B 5 BR 3 2 % 154,902,000 7T (2018
£ 113,209,000 7T ) o 1 Bl & 5 1B FE W
EZENEEFEANEHFIERR - B
HE AT o)t R IBR S 2 — 3D o

Included in the allowance for credit losses of trade
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2019 is
a provision for individually impaired trade receivables
of HK$4,902,000 (2018: HK$13,209,000). The
individually impaired trade receivables relate to
customers that were in default or delinquency in
payments and only a portion of the receivables is
expected to be recovered.



HE2019F 125 31 HILFEHEE

BIBHEERE 9RE T HE
REREAMRBBEBEEFLTRES
i NErERMEEEE - BEXRDHER
mABMUEERA (A REES - ERE
B ZPRAERFN AREREREM
FEANERRROAREBE)NZEATF, S
MAARNBYRBETE - %t ERRFIA
KMEER  B¥RERRREAMARF
BRBESEM - B AR R IR R G E
RANBEEEER - —RME - WES
R W 7R TR 760 7R 3B — F B 30 B R 9 Il A
TTEIA - RIgMEN -

RABERERES T AEEE 5 R YIRN
EERBRERNT
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Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended

31 December 2019

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region,
product type, customer type and rating and coverage
by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

MN2019F12H31H As at 31 December 2019

BUVER (R HA) Current (not past due) 2.38% 461,217 10,974
BEATZ A1 F Not more than

1 year past due 100% 4,902 4,902

466,119 15,876

®2018F 12 A31H
BVER (R HA) Current (not past due)
BERZ A F Not more than

1 year past due

As at 31 December 2018

0.54% 357,862 1,939

100.00% 13,209 13,209

371,071 15,148
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30. FAMRIE - EERHEMEWRRIE

30. Prepayments, Deposits and Other

Receivables

2019 2018
FHxT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
b WA (B EE (1) Other receivables (note (i) 86,269 88,367
TR #1008 (BT 5E (i) Prepayments (notefii)) 547,054 412,535
e Deposits 3,083 3,024
636,406 503,926
EEEERE Allowance for credit loss (2,009) -
634,397 503,926

M3 notes:

(i) R2019F 128310 - EhEU 5 E =
Z 045 R B A o] Uy 142 (B B 49 7,561,000
7 70(20184F 1 21,982,000/ 7T ) b H &
DEARBELENEEMEEANERRE
#937,972,0007% 7L (20184F : TH&F L) -
MEEETEBSNAEBEEHNT BT
(20184 : 56,000,000 7T) ©

iy PM2019F12A31H " BRNAEBEERES
TERETE ZTEMNFKIBL 434,727,000
# J0(20184F : 280,951,000 7T ) & 78
1 5 X 4 58,444,000 JT(20184F :
4,312,00087T) °

(if)

As at 31 December 2019, other receivables mainly
comprise of value-added tax recoverable in the PRC of
approximately HK$7,561,000 (2018: HK$21,982,000),
and consideration receivable arising from disposal
of assets classified as held for sale of approximately
HK$37,972,000 (2018: HK$NIl) and the outstanding
balance of disposal of electronic business sector of
approximately HK$Nil (2018: HK$56,000,000).

As at 31 December 2019, prepayment and
deposits mainly comprise of prepayment of
inventory of approximately HK$434,727,000
(2018: HK$280,951,000) and prepaid expenses of
approximately HK$8,444,000 (2018: HK$4,312,000).



31.

2019F % ANNUAL REPORT 2019

B iSRRI
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

EMEUGIENEEBSEREZSHNT - The movements of allowance for credit losses of other
receivables are as follows:

2018
FEx
HK$’000
R 2018F 1 H1H As at 1 January 2018 23,075
RNB BV B ImEER Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 -
FOH B
2018F 1 81 H(KEEF) As at 1 January 2018 (restated) 23,075
EREREEEERE Allowance for credit losses reversed (994)
HEDRIEEEER Disposal of discontinued operations (22,072)
ME 5, 58 B Exchange alignment (9)
M®2018%F 12 A31 B & As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 -
2019F1 A1H
EEREEEERE Allowance for credit losses recognised 2,057
M 5, 58 B Exchange alignment (48)
R2019F 12 A31 H As at 31 December 2019 2,009

BIERITERRIBITRIRES AR 31. Pledged Bank Deposits and Bank and Cash

Balances
MR2019F12A31H Z 8 H B @ = @& As at 31 December 2019, the fixed interest rate
AE DR —F 21777 5 7,328,000% 7T on deposits with banks of HK$7,328,000, (2018:
(20184F : 55,647,000 7T.) 2 [E & & F| = HK$55,647,000), with maturity over three months
A1.50E(20184F 1 1.24[BE4.30&) - R but less than one year, was 1.50% (2018: 1.24% to
TERABTT - ELRAREEE - 4.30%) per annum. The deposits with banks were

denominated in HK$, USD and RMB.

MR2019F 12 A31H F 17 7 R & As at 31 December 2019, deposits with banks
47,450,000 JT(20184F : 149,156,000 of approximately HK$47,450,000 (2018:
BITIBEARNEER(MZER2)REEZ HK$149,156,000) have been pledged to bills payables

B (FIFE34) © (Note 32) and secure borrowings (Note 34).
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REEHR ROTERSERBIENATE At the end of the reporting period, bank and cash
B balances comprise of the followings:
2019 2018
FTET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
RIEMENE ER & AP Long-term bank deposits under
|ITIFN non-current assets:
MR AGIRITF Non-pledged long-term bank deposits 55 -
EHEMARITER Pledged bank deposits 9,549 9,758
9,604 9,758
RmENEEMRITR Bank and cash balances under
MR current assets:
REHRITIF Short-term bank deposits 68,683 139,297
RITRELRFHERS Cash at bank and on hand 754,375 568,752
823,058 708,049
wEt Total 832,662 717,807
B BHEAAEEMREMNZE Less: Pledged deposits with bank
BRzBERRITER pledged as security for
borrowings and bills payables (47,450) (149,156)
W B B IR | HR B Non-pledged deposits with
— @A 2 FEE R bank with original maturity of
RITERK more than three months
when acquired (55) -
RekERRESIEHR Cash and cash equivalents 785,157 568,651
REEHR BHRITERZERMEF At the end of the reporting period, the weighted
EA51.62E(20184F : 1.98[F) : ZEHFK effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits
ZEHEI BB LR =EA (20184 : was 1.62% (2018: 1.98%); these deposits have an
=M@A) - average maturity of less than three months (2018:

three months).
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Bank and cash balances, and pledged bank deposits
were denominated in the following currencies:

2019
FET
HK$’000
AR RMB 684,605 698,516
BT HK$ 126,538 12,768
Hiftb Others 21,519 6,523
832,662 717,807

UIARBEZRIT MRS EREHF
AXTBEBNERAINEE HIFTRR

32. ESBNRERENE

The remittance of bank and cash balances
denominated in RMB out of the PRC is subject to the
foreign exchange control restrictions imposed by the
government of the PRC.

32. Trade and Bills Payables

BT E 53T Trade payables 251,793 431,711
BN RE Bills payables 40,070 170,175
291,863 601,886

R2019F 12 A31H  AEBENB IR
HEZREDMUORRELHEY)MT ¢

As at 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of trade
payables of the Group presented based on the invoice
date was as follows:

30 BEAA Within 30 days 189,215 267,923
31E£60H 31 to 60 days 4,428 60,460
612 90H 61 to 90 days 2,190 12,801
#8390 A Over 90 days 55,960 90,527

251,793 431,711

KEBEEMZFEHYEEH AR ZE0AH
(2018 : 60 B E90H ) - REBRAH
R EBEEK  ARERATEEMNRER
EEHAES -

The average credit period on purchases of goods
is 60 to 90 days (2018: 60 to 90 days). The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
timeframe.
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33. BFER - HittEARIEA - R
EREHEE

33. Accruals, Other Payables, Receiptin
Advance and Contract Liabilities

2019
TET
HK$’000
FEET B A R E Ath FE T FRIE Accruals and other payables
(PR &E (1)) (note (i) 203,604 166,217
PTES R B & (MEE i) Derivative financial liabilities (note (ii)) 11,310 -
B 7 AR B & (PR & (i) Financial guarantee liabilities (note (iii) 49,144 58,802
264,058 225,019
AaRaEEE(v) Contract liabilities (note (iv) 363,155 348,889
627,213 573,908
B A Current 403,803 563,598
JERNHR Non-current 223,410 10,310
627,213 573,908
BiaE notes:

0] M2019F 12831 H - B RNER E A
ENFBEIEREREBEDE  BE L&
5 2 & 3B 937,420,000 7 76(2018
F 122,816,000 0 ) & E 4th 1~ TR IE 49
6,883,000 7T(20184F : 16,381,000
JL) °

iy HZE2019F12A31HIEFE  AaalA
BERBEHEMERTELHEAE - FZ
HIEE2MASA2019F 12 A13AZA
e fTESRBEZEHNT ¢

(if)

As at 31 December 2019, accruals and other
payables mainly comprised of payable for acquisition
of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$37,420,000 (2018: HK$22,816,000), and other
tax payable of approximately of HK$6,883,000 (2018:
HK$16,381,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company recognised derivative financial liabilities
due to the grant of call option. For detail, refer to
the announcement dated 13 December 2019. The
movement of derivative financial liabilities is as follows:

2019

FET

HK$’000

»1A1H As at 1 January -
BURE Premium received 2,000
ARERBRE Fair value loss 9,310
M®12A31H As at 31 December 11,310




@iy  MA2019F12A831B IWRAB®— 4 (iii)
BYFEZH(2018: ZRBIEZH )T
EREERERE TROTEIMEERY
AR #181,000,000 (2018 4F : AR ¥
270,446,000 ) - B ERK 2 A EITHE
RZIERE - BT AT o

R2019F12831H 2S5 R Al ERZ
NI E #) 5A49,144,00078 T(2018 4 :
58,802,000/87T) ©

EHRARERZEZFBFE2HAHA
2016 F 9 A27T HZ N »
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As at 31 December 2019, the Shandong Hongri
has executed financial guarantees to certain banks
for credit facilities granted to an independent third
party (2018: several independent third parties),
for approximately RMB181,000,000 (2018:
RMB270,446,000) which would be required to be paid
if the guarantees were called upon in entirely.

As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of
these corporate guarantees was approximately
HK$49,144,000 (2018: HK$58,802,000).

For more detail of the corporate guarantees please
refer to announcement date 27 September 2016.

vy, ALHaBdEzZgEHoT : (iv)  The movements of contract liabilities is as follows:

2019 2018

FHT FHT

HK$’000 HK$’000

W1 A1 Rz &% Balance at 1 January 348,889 240,591
BERFRBRAES 2 Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of

arEERD (M) recognising revenue during the year (note) (2,596,289) (1,977,073)
FRBRZEEH 2 AMEBEEMN  Increase in contract liabilities as a result of

receiving deposits during the year 2,618,520 2,114,987

ETAEE Exchange realignment (7,965) (29,616)

W12 A31 Bz &8 Balance at 31 December 363,155 348,889

iz sFABNBEERL AR AFEERRK
A#15,022,0008 7L RERHEME -

BE kBB ERE -

note:

Included in decrease in contract liabilities as a
result of recognising revenue during the year was
of approximately HK$5,022,000 representing the
consideration of disposal of property, plant and
equipment.
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34. E& 34. Borrowings
2019
THER
HK$’000
RITEE Bank borrowings 862,772 939,225
Hunas (M Other borrowings (note ii) 612,185 294,676
EmBEEE M) Listed subordinated notes (note i) 585,286 580,708
2,060,243 1,814,609
BE - Borrowings:
—F AR Within one year 1,524,157 836,992
—FEETNBBRAF More than one year but not
exceeding five years 536,086 977,617
2,060,243 1,814,609
B IERE B E 2 IR Less: Amounts shown under
current liabilities (1,524,157) (836,992)
IEIE R B B & 2 B Amounts shown under
non-current liabilities 536,086 977,617
BE Borrowings:
R (HEED Secured (note i) 725,912 829,568
AR (MR~ i Kiv) Unsecured (notes i, iii, & iv) 1,334,331 985,041
2,060,243 1,814,609
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BEELNTEEE Borrowings were denominated in the following
currencies:
2019
FHET
HK$’000
AR RMB 702,588 514,382
BT HK$ 526,106 156,491
ETT Uss$ 246,263 563,028
o SGD 585,286 580,708
2,060,243 1,814,609

T - notes:

(i)

M20196 12831 A HEMEE
BUARERZYE  BELREE  FH
BEAENRBROIFERERRE 834
884,167,000 7T * 160,183,000 7T &
27,308,000 7T(20184F : 593,519,000
7T ~ 121,165,000 7T &% 86,759,000 78
L) UWERREWE A RBRARERE
PEIR -

M2019F 12 A31H ' ;T AEMEEN A
(a) BT B & &8 X 8] B 7K 463,461,000 % 7T
(20184 : 105,980,000 7T) ~ (b) EFRL
146,251,000 7T(20184F : 28,549,000
& Jr ) K(c)fE F #9402,473,0007% 7T
(20184 : 160,147,000 7T) °

(if)

As at 31 December 2019, the secured borrowings
were mainly secured by property, plant and equipment,
right of use assets and deposits with banks of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$884,167,000,
HK$160,183,000 and HK$27,308,000 (2018:
HK$593,519,000, HK$121,165,000 and
HK$86,759,000) respectively and corporate guarantee
between the fellow subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2019, included in other borrowings
was (a) IFC loan of approximately HK$63,461,000
(2018: HK$105,980,000), (b) loan of approximately
HK$146,251,000 (2018: HK$28,549,000) and (c)
bond of approximately HK$402,473,000 (2018:
HK$160,147,000).
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(i)

(iv)

(a) WRE—BHAAARZIZENBR
FEFEsRAREERESR”A
AINFTVNER DS BReHA
A E [ M8 A\ & 127,000,000
ENLZER  ZEFIEBBIRITRA
XREMISEZFFEFTE W
REXBEMHEMNEHERAH
BE - RABERESRARZER
AP S IEEE R - () AN AFEH
ZEER ()EH BT ERER
ERABNIETE] BFEEHRE)
WHEZARNB RS  Ri)iRT1TF
F #916,877,000/8 JL(20184F :
24,732,000/ JTL ) ° 720194 12
A 318 549,280,000 #& B% (4
AR AR MN201546 A30H 2 %
TIRAA)12%) B AT EE BE R
SRAREABMEEERAER -
LA - AR B EE 2 R R AR B X
BEREERENBEZER)AEH
BEMAREARBERFERAEARAZ
HEFBRE - AEBRIEQRZ
FTEFRY  ERBEERBH]
B2 & TFHIEREY -

(b) RIEN2018F12A6HTIWME
ik - A E|#E$ 40,000,000 %
TTHRELE - BFRIE6E 2 FF &5t
B ABEFIN K -BRIERTE
fEE - B2 REEEA2020F7
A31H » R2019F5 A6 HEEM
e 15 0 IR E 202147 A 31
E| o

IR AR QRN 201746 A5 HETZHE
#101,750,000 T N3 T2 7.0E B ER
B(EBZEEEFHEEFASET)ZER
B - ZEZBERTMEZSHET T
R2020%F7 A3HEH -

AN K 1R {5 B A £950,000,0005% JT
(20184 : 55,000,000 7T ) 157 2019 4
12 A31 BUAA R A FTIR M R A B IR1E#E
REVIBITER -

R2019F 12 831 H » RITEEREME
B2 METHERFEA7.01E(2018
F:6.23[E)

R20194F M 2018F12A31H ' £ &
EAEESNE R AEA2,060243,000/%5
(20184 : 1,814,609,000#7T) °

(a)  Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”),
IFC had granted a loan of US$27,000,000 to the
subsidiary. The loan bears interest at LIBOR plus
3.5% per annum and the amounts due are based
on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. The loan from IFC was secured
by (i) corporate guarantee given by the Company;
and (i) pledges of shares in the Company as
owned by Alpha Sino International Limited (“Alpha
Sino”), the substantial shareholder; (iii) deposits
with banks of approximately HK$16,877,000
(2018: HK$24,732,000). As at 31 December
2019, 549,280,000 shares, representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 30 June 2015, has been
pledged by Alpha Sino to IFC as security for
the loan granted. In addition, Mr. Chi Wen Fu,
a director and controlling shareholder of the
Company (through his interest in Alpha Sino),
has given an undertaking to IFC to maintain a
minimum level of shareholding in the Company.
The Group and the subsidiary had to comply
with certain covenants, including, among other
things, certain financial covenants, under the loan
arrangement.

(b)  According to a loan agreement entered on 6
December 2018, the Company was granted
HK$40,000,000 facilities. The loan bear an
interest of 6% per annum in arrear semi-annually.
The original maturity date of the loan is 31 July
2020 and extended upon maturity to 31 July
2021 upon a supplemental agreement signed on
6 May 2019, unless early redeemed.

(i) This represents the carrying amount of the 7.0%
subordinated notes with the face value of SGD101.75
million (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) issued by the Company on 5 June 2017.
The notes are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange
and will mature on 3 July 2020.

(iv)  Included in unsecured borrowings, approximately HK$
50,000,000 (2018: HK$55,000,000) represents bank
loans guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of the
Company as at 31 December 2019.

The weighted average effective interest rate of bank
borrowing and other borrowings as at 31 December
2019 was approximately 7.01% (2018: 6.23%).

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the carrying
amount of borrowing approximately equal to
its fair value were HK$2,060,243,000 (2018:
HK$1,814,609,000).
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R2018F1 A1H
BEHREENERAXS

As at 1 January 2018
Imputed interest expense charged 41,039
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35. Exchangeable Bonds

The carrying values of the liability component of the
exchangeable bonds (“EBs”) are as follows:

T
HK$’000
227,985

BN MEMNF SRS Interest expense paid and payable (18,560)
R2018F 12 A31 H X As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019

2019F1 A1H 250,464
EHREERN RS Imputed interest expense charged 28,325
ENRENTERZ Interest expense paid and payable (46,789)
EEAE Repayment of principal (111,360)
R2019F12831H As at 31 December 2019 120,640

ff g

R2016F 5850 AARETASSEA
232,000,000 702 Al EAEHF REEE S - 7]
HEIES BT A B RSE 2 FRIR B -
BENEBERAXMN—K - ATE#BESFEEARR
BRI ESER AP BRRERD - AIEZETA
BRESFEANROEE R BRESFT AR
MEAREE -

WEBRERTE AGRBETERES T ANGK
IR AR B R B O BB S B2 4 2 BR SR (R AR B8 0 /)
BRESASHE - IBRESINHA /A TER
BT AR =ZF(THR]) - MAATRED
ERBMRIERERSF (ERMAR]) - HRA]
PIRE 5 0 B R N AT AT IR E RSB AR
EE EERTEHREREEATHR(RIEE H)ER
KRBT - (A) BB A (WA BB E S5 A AL
SRR A AT A& 30 fElfE B 2 H R @) sk
B EREALRRAIERESFE AR TRR
BHRGHRBN AHERNEIEER(UART
ERAE) o

R2017F9R4H  ARFEBEEHE A2
A A ERESFEARL AR - MR
FR2017E10 A6 ALK -

note:

On 5 May 2016, the Company issued EBs with the principal
amount of HK$232,000,000 for cash. The EBs bear an
interest of 8% per annum payable in arrear every six calendar
months from the issue date. The EBs entitle the holder to
convert to the shares of China Rare Earth Magnesium. The
number of share transferrable to the holders of EBs shall be
determined by the formula described in EBs instrument.

The holders of EBs have the right to exchange all or any part
of the principal amount of the EBs at any time during the
exchange period as pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the EBs instrument. The maturity date of the EBs is three
years commencing from the date of issue of the EBs (the
“Term”) and upon prior notice, it can be extended for another
1 calendar year (the “Extended Term”). The right to exchange
attaching to the EBs may be exercised, at the option of the
holder thereof, at any time and from time to time during the
period from the issue date up to and including the earlier
of (A) the maturity date, if the holders of EBs delivers an
exchangeable notice at least 30 calendar days immediately
before the maturity date, or (B) the 30th calendar day
immediately following the date of delivery of a submission
notice or an agreement notice by the Company to the holders
of EBs.

On 4 September 2017, an Agreement Notice was given to
the holders of EBs due to the re-organisation in relation to
China Rare Earth Magnesium, the exchange right was lapsed
on 6 October 2017.
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36.

AERELABEMERSS - TEEREETI X
BEHD  c BEBDIERRDERE  LAEK
F BRI B SR AT BR o« KRR EBEINEITE
SREBE - ARBERERN2017F10A6 0K
B TEEMEEREZE2017F12A31H L
FERIEER -

HE2019F12A31BILEE > A8 ESE
EARATEIRESF BB ITFEERIEIEE - aTed
BEHFHEIHEAA2020F585H -
BEBHITEAERBHERFFNEE18.04
B ERERHERIEEFEI0E -

HEBE2EARARARIHEA2016F4 262
5 o

MEIEYA

B FE AR R 2 BUT K

The EBs contain two components: derivative financial liability
component and liability component. The liability component
is classified as non-current liabilities and carried at amortised
costs using effective interest method. The conversion option
is classified as derivative financial liabilities. Due to the lapse
of the exchange right on 6 October 2017, the derivative
financial liabilities was derecognised during the year ended
31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the holders of EB
exercised the extention option upon the maturity of EB. The
maturity date of EB became 5 May 2020.

The effective interest rate of the liability component on initial
recognition is 18.04% per annum, which was reduced to
10% per annum for the extension period.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated on 26 April 2016.

36. Deferred Revenue

Government grants received
related to assets

2019 2018
TERT TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
68,283 69,772

RBIEEFETECEE ALUMARLeBH
WEAR DA R2012F B g i BT 5] 32
— B o REBEZHH  EHBRFTRER
ALUMALZEeBERERRQAFIREIS
EM(EBR D UREELEERERRESY
¥ BWERRENERS -

HZE2019F X 2018F 12 A31 HILFE -
REEARBWEEMER) - MEZE20194F
F2018F 12 A1 HILFET EEREAM
N

P U sk 3 IE WK IR 2 B B - VIR HER R
BEEWAREBRAHNBFTEERRN X - KX
ATHEEEANRAFINERRESR

In order to encourage the development of magnesium
industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the
local government agree to provide financial assistance
(the “Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited to improve their
production technology and enhance the capacity of
the property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the Group has not received any Assistance and there
were no other income was recognised for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The Assistance received or which becomes
receivables is initially recognised as deferred revenue
and subsequently recognised in profit or loss over
the life of a depreciable asset by way of as a reduced
depreciation charge expense.
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37. EEMRIEEE 37. Deferred Tax Liabilities

FRREA P BRI R ER ZIELEH RS
BRIV ER Y R EE BT

The components of deferred tax balances recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

EEHEEE

Deferred Tax Liabilities

R2018E1 A1H As at 1 January 2018 95,727 20,413 - (37,391) 84,500 16,717 179,966
SAGABER Credited to the consolidated
(WisE11) statement of profit or loss
(Note 11) (2,876) (517) - 2,985 (20) (4,986) (5,414)
B A Exchange alignment 4,836) (1,047) - 2,053 (4,374) - (8,204)
R2018F12 4318  As at 31 December 2018
R2019F1A1H and 1 January 2019 88,015 18,849 - (32,353) 80,106 11,781 166,348
BFMEBHBEE  Transfer upon adoption
EBIZ165AEH  of HKFRS16 - (18,849) 18,849 - - - -
TAGARER Credited to the consolidated
(MsE11) statement of profit or loss
(Note 11) (2,189) - (603) 4,444 19 B3 (4,099
R Exchange alignment (1,826) - (399) 867 (1,700) - (3,067)
120195127 31F As at 31 December 2019 84,000 - 17,847 (27,042) 78,378 6,000 159,183
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38. AQFRA 38. Share Capital of the Company

SEIE Authorised:

MW2018F1A1H » Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each
2018412 A31H - As at 1 January 2018,
2019%F1 A1 B R 31 December 2018,
2019F 12 A31H 1 January 2019 and
SREE0.028 T 31 December 2019
2 e 10,000,000 200,000

ERTREE Issued and fully paid:

»2018F1A18 - As at 1 January 2018,
20184 12 4318 » 31 December 2018,

20191 A1E R 1 January 2019 and

2019412 A31H 31 December 2019 4,581,117 101,419
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39. AREIMBARRRRGEE

39. Statement of Financial Position and
Reserves of the Company

(a) BIBERRE

(a) Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December

Mm12 A31H

2019 2018
T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
ME - WE R E Property, plant and equipment 530 1,056
R B AR ZIRE Investments in subsidiaries 2,108 2,108
2,638 3,164
REEE Current assets
H b oA Other receivables, prepayments
BRFEBERES and deposits 1,302 821
JE L FS B8 A R RE Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,445,091 2,537,231
IRITRIR SR Bank and cash balances 50,709 12,114
2,497,102 2,550,166
HREBAE Less: Current liabilities
Hfth e3R8 Other payables 25,700 4,975
JERTETISHL Income tax payable 2,974 2,974
BE Borrowings 648,598 137,198
A ERE S Exchangeable bonds 120,640 250,464
797,912 395,611
REBEEFE Net current assets 1,699,190 2,154,555
EEHERRBARE Total assets less current liabilities 1,701,828 2,157,719
W ERBAE Less: Non-current liability
BE Borrowings 130,000 604,147
130,000 604,147
EEFE Net assets 1,571,828 1,553,572
AATEEAEWLRKRAE Capital and reserves attributable
ki#E to owners of the Company
[N Share capital 101,419 101,419
[k Reserves 1,470,409 1,452,153
EREE Total equity 1,571,828 1,553,572
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(b) fi#fE

(b)

Reserves

R2018%1A1H As 1 January 2018 1,363,356 4,526 3,216 48,532 1,409,630
EREF Profit for the year - - - 4417 4417
EnrENRES Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - .47 42,417
BRERE Share option lapsed - - (2,064) 2,064 -
RELERNAIFT RS Equity settled
share-based transactions - - 106 - 106
R2018E12 4310 R As at 31 December 2018 and
2019F1A1H 1 January 2019 1,353,356 4,526 1,258 93,013 1,452,153
MR Profit for the year - - - 14,702 14,702
EREEYEET Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 14,702 14,702
REEEROAT RS Equity settled share-based transactions - - 3,554 - 3,554
R2019512731A As at 31 December 2019 1,353,356 4,526 4,812 107,715 1,470,409
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40. Share Option Schemes

(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group’s
businesses and to provide additional incentives
or rewards to selected qualifying participants,
the Company adopted a share option scheme on
3 December 2008 (the “Old Scheme”) and on 26
June 2019 (the “New Scheme” or the “Scheme”)
respectively. The qualifying participants mainly
include employees of the Group, Directors and
contractors, suppliers or service providers of
the Group who have contribution to the Group.
Both schemes, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The Old Scheme was
expired on 3 December 2018 while the remaining
life of the New Scheme is approximately 9 years
(expiry on 26 June 2029). Options granted under
the Old Scheme before its expiry remain in force.

Options may be granted on such terms and
conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise
or otherwise as the directors may determine in
its absolute discretion, provided that such terms
and conditions shall not be inconsistent with any
other terms conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheet of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on the date of offer of the option;
(i) the average closing prices of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the 5 trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share of HK$0.02. The
maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.
Upon acceptance of the offer for the grant of
option, an amount of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee to the Company.
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The Company can issue options so that the
total number of shares that may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme does not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue on the date of approval of
the Scheme. The Company may refresh this
10% limit at any time, subject to shareholders’
approval and the issue of a circular and in
accordance with the Listing Rules provided that
the number of shares to be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes does not exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised
and outstanding options under the Scheme)
in the twelve-month period expiring on the
offer date must not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company. Where any grant
of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the
Company, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the securities issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in the twelve-month period up to and
including the date of such grant (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue; and (ii) (where the securities
are listed on the Stock Exchange), having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the securities at the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of
options must be approved by shareholders of the
Company.

The share options are exercisable only if the
Eligible Participants remain in the service of the
Group from the grant date of the share options
up to the designated exercise date.
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2019 F 2019
R2019E EREL ERTR EREN R2019F e
1818%58 ZBRE L ERE ZBRE 12731R%4 (M)
o
Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised lapsed Held at Exercise
1 January during during during 31 December price
2019 the year the year the year 2019 (note)
HK$
(A) EERER
Employees and 8,567,059 - - - 8,567,059 0.78258
consultants - 231,900,000 - - 231,900,000 0.3
(B) EE
Directors
HXE - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.3
Chi Wen Fu
it - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.3
Shum Sai Chit
tE R - 8,000,000 - - 8,000,000 0.3
Chi Jing Chao
IEE - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.3
Guo Mengyong
FEA - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.3
Cheung Sound Poon
Ry - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.3
Sheng Hong
e 6,389,145 - - - 6,389,145 0.78258
Lau Chi Kit - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.3
14,956,204 - - - 14,956,204 0.78258
- 299,900,000 - - 299,900,000 0.3
14,956,204 299,900,000 - - 314,856,204
7R2019412 8318 - i 2l 1| As at 31 December 2019, Options to subscribe
T A R AT E 2 BE AR R Al R for a total of 314,856,204 Shares were

314,856,204 B&RZ (7 -

outstanding under the Scheme.
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2018 %

2018

) &
Employees 14,545,079 - - (14,545,079) - 0.62606
12,400,545 - - (3,833,486) 8,567,059 0.78258
(B) EB
Director
Bt 6,389,145 - - - 6,389,145 0.78258
Lau Chi Kit
14,545,079 - - (14,545,079) - 0.62606
18,789,690 - - (3,833,486) 14,956,204 0.78258
33,334,769 - - (18,378565) 14,956,204

HN20185FE12A31H - #% = &l |
THATEZERES XTRE
14,956,204 JERA% 1D -

A2019F 128318 B AR1T{EHE
AT ERBE - (TEHRITE
{go

2015%1A6H 20205 10A31H

6 January 2015 31 October 2020

201967 A25H 2025412 A30H

25 July 2019 30 December 2025

As at 31 December 2018, Options to subscribe
for a total of 14,956,204 Shares were
outstanding under the Scheme.

Options outstanding at 31 December 2019 have
the following expiry date, exercise period and

exercise prices.

B2015F 11 A1 BEE
2020F10 A 31H

From 1 November 2015 to
31 October 2020

5202011 B1BZE
2025912 A30H

From 1 November 2020 to
30 December 2025

0.78258 14,956,204

0.3 299,900,000

314,856,204
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As at the date of the annual report, the total
number of Shares of the Company available
for issue under the New Scheme (including the
above Options outstanding not yet exercised)
was 473,067,888, representing approximately
10.33% of the issued share capital of the
Company as of the date thereof. The New
Scheme was expired on 26 June 2029.

The fair value of Options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2019 determined using the
Binomial Option Pricing model was approximately
HK$21,291,000. The significant inputs into the
model were share price of HK$0.223, at the
grant date and adjusted for the effect of the
share subdivision, exercise price shown above,
expected volatility is 42.352%, annual risk-free
interest rate of 1.367%. Expected life of Options
of approximately 6.438 years and dividend
payout ratio of 0%. The volatility measured at
the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 25 July 2016 to 25 July 2019.
During the year ended 31 December 2019,
approximately HK$3,511,000 were charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value of Options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2015 determined using the
Black-Scholes valuation model was approximately
HK$3,660,000. The significant inputs into the
model were share price of HK$0.69, at the
grant date and adjusted for the effect of the
share subdivision, exercise price shown above,
expected volatility ranged from 43.47% to
49.69%, annual risk-free interest rate of 0.71% to
1.39%. Expected life of Options of approximately
2.32 to 5.32 years and dividend payout ratio of
1.29%. The volatility measured at the standard
deviation of expected share price returns is based
on statistical analysis of daily share prices from
19 August 2009 to 28 August 2012. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, approximately
HK$43,000 (2018: HK$106,003) were charged to
the consolidated statement of profit.

During the year ended 31 December
2019, aggregate amount of approximately
HK$3,554,800 (2018: HK$106,003) were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
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(2) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group of
REMT’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying
participants, REMT adopted a share option
scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT
Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly
include employees, directors, contractors,
suppliers or service providers who have
contribution to the Group of REMT. The
REMT Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The remaining life of the
REMT Scheme is approximately 8 years (expiry
on 4 December 2027).

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised
and outstanding options under the REMT
Scheme) in the twelve-month period expiring
on the offer date must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of REMT. Where any grant
of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of REMT, or
any of their respective associates, would result
in the securities issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the twelve-
month period up to and including the date of
such grant (i) representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the relevant class of securities in issue;
and (i) (where the securities are listed on the
Stock Exchange), having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the securities at
the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,
such further grant of options must be approved
by shareholders of REMT.
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MR2019%F 12 318 » # &% B #& &f As at 31 December 2019, options to subscribe
218 T REEA £ 411,400,000 A% A 19 for a total of 411,400,000 Shares were
R ([ R RE ) MARTT outstanding under the REMT Scheme (the “REMT
f# o Options”).

2019 F 2019

A k&
Employees 146,400,000 - - - - 17,000,000 163,400,000 04
40,000,000 - - - - - 40,000,000 0.5
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - - 150,000,000 0.3
B) &%
Directors
it 30,000,000 - - - - - 30,000,000 04
Shum Sai Chit
e - - - - - 3000000 3,000,000 0.4
Chi Jing Chao®
HER 20,000,000 - - - - (20,000,000) - 0.4
Chi Bi Fen'"
Bix 5,000,000 - - - - - 5,000,000 04
Kwong Ping Man
BERRENES 20,000,000 - - - - - 20,000,000 04
Other directors
of REMT
221,400,000 - - - - - 221,400,000 04
40,000,000 - - - - - 40,000,000 05
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - - 150,000,000 0.3
261,400,000 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - - 411,400,000
(1)  #201946 A26 HERF (1) Retired on 26 June 2019

(2) H2019F 6 A27 HEZ(E (2)  Appointed on 27 June 2019
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20184 2018

(A) EE
Employees - 146,400,000 - - 146,400,000 04
- 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 0.5
B) E=
Directors
e - 30,000,000 - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
HER - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.4
Chi Bi Fen
BRmx - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 04
Kwong Ping Man
BENBANES - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.4
Other directors
of REMT
- 221,400,000 - - 221,400,000 04
- 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 05

- 261,400,000 - - 261,400,000




R2019F 12 A31 H @ HARITEZF
ERIEBRESATEMmBE - 176
AR AT(EE ©

2019F % ANNUAL REPORT 2019

gy B L
Notes to the Financial Statements

HE2019412 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

REMT Options outstanding at 31 December 2019
have the following expiry date, exercise period
and exercise prices.

MR
fERESE
Number of
REMT Options
201844 A 25H 2023%F 12 A29H B2018F 11 A1B#EE 0.4 221,400,000
2023412 A 298
25 April 2018 29 December 2023 From 1 November 2018 to
29 December 2023
2018%F 4 A25H 202012 A31 8 B2019F1 A1 HERE 0.5 40,000,000
202012 A31 8
25 April 2018 31 December 2020 From 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2020
2019%F7A25H 20228 A31H B2019F9A1HiER 0.3 140,000,000
20228 A31H
25 July 2019 31 August 2022 From 1 September 2019 to
31 August 2022
20197 A25H 20208 A31H B2019F9 A1 HERE 0.3 10,000,000
20208 A31H
25 July 2019 31 August 2020 From 1 September 2019 to
31 August 2020
411,400,000

RAFEHRBE  ZHEREEE
THHET2HERERMEES(E
B kRiTEREREERE) B
858,790,058 % + HENHHERIRE
B BITIRAL 13% o %M iRt
Bz TEHHAESF W iEH 2027
FE12 A4 BER °

As at the date of the annual report, the total
number of shares of REMT available for issue
under the REMT Scheme (including the above
REMT Options outstanding not yet exercised)
was 858,790,058, representing approximately
13% of the issued share capital of REMT as of
the date thereof. The remaining life of the REMT
Scheme is approximately 8 years and to be
expired on 4 December 2027.
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HE2019F 12 A1 BILFEMRIRL
BRI ERE - R B
EEEXNEERERL 13,509,000
B MAZGEEANESHER
=ARBEABENIREO.285 B T(E
RO FMEEELFAE) - Lill
TEE - EHREEEN R 46.729%
£54568% FE £ R B F X
1.459% £1.758% ° #1.1E314F
TR 85 BHS AR 7 F 39 R AR B &=
1,64 ZIEHRELDRNZERZE
METEM KR - JTIIRIEA2010F 12
AB31HE2019F7 A25HNERRK
BRI ERH -

#H Z=2018%F12A318 Ik F E A1
BREZHENEERE  EHAN
m-HRNHEEAEEAABAEY
21,558,000 7T © 8 A 7% & B X
MEZFERAZANE T HBENRE
0.325 BT (E BB D ITRMF EED
FE) - Eat1TE(E - BERERE
NIA2.107% Z 47.596% ~ F & EE,
% K= 1.561% = 1.999%  £)1.52 %
568 FTEFTMERHIEREFHRE
& B R o 1778 BAR (8 O] i M0 AT AR MR =
&t EAEIE - JIiRE MR 20124F 10
A24BHZ2018F4 A25 B & B K
BRSO MTERE -

HZ2019%F12A31H ILFE - 4
% %8 #719,415,000/% 7L(20184F :
8,364,000 L) Est AfF A BE X
WO
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The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2019 determined
using the Binomial Option Pricing model was
approximately HK$13,509,000. The significant
inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.285, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
46.729% to 54.568%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.1 to 3.1 years and
dividend vyield of 1.64. The volatility measured at
the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 31 December 2010 to 25 July
2019.

The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2018 determined
using the Black-Scholes valuation model was
approximately HK$21,558,000. The significant
inputs i n t o the model were share price o f
HK$0.325, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
42.107% to 47.596%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.561% to 1.999%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.52 to 5.68 years
and dividend payout ratio of Nil. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected
share price returns is based on statistical
analysis of daily share prices from 24 October
2012 to 25 April 2018.

During the year ended 31 December
2019, aggregate amount of approximately
HK$19,415,000 (2018: HK$8,364,000) were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
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41. EifE 41. Commitments

(a) BEAFIE (a) Capital Commitments

BEIHEHARNGEA R  Capital expenditure in respect of the
WEBBE2EBNE acquisition of property, plant and

W - BEMEEZ equipment contracted for but
BARZ W not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 206,808 179,165
(b) BEEHEFIE (b) Operating Lease Commitments

AEBERABA The Group as Lessee
REERBETAREHERZHEES The Group leases various office premises, staff
HeFE BIFERER - %EH quarters and warehouses under non-cancellable
ECHEE - FARAS ZERRELE lease agreements. The leases have varying
MEBEARME - terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.
RMEBAR  REERBETUTHEL At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
EHER T MBS R REER commitments for future minimum lease payments
ENFURENT - under non-cancellable operating leases which fall

due as follows:

—F R Within one year 2,646
F_FEFRF(RREERMT) In the second to fifth years inclusive 2,765
A Over five years 5,389

10,800
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42, EXFEALTRZREAERS 42. Material Related Party Transactions and
Connected Transactions
MRS BRERSBEEN  FAREE Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
BETUTEZEREALRS ° financial statements, the Group entered into the
following significant related party transactions during
the year.
(a) TEEEASHE (a) Key Management Compensation
2019 2018
FTET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(FeE7)
(Restated)
EE(M:E13) Directors (Note 13) 6,891 6,563
HEMWFEFEASE - Other key management personnel:
e &E MR EY Salaries and other short-term
BE®EH employee benefits 10,688 4,590
17,579 11,153
(b) X =EEDMEIRSE A FELA (b) Mr. Chi Wen Fu has given an undertaking to IFC
o BARA 2 RE®FERIEKT to maintain a minimum level of shareholding in
TEREEERR 552 8M5E34 the Company as collateral of the borrowings as

detailed in Note 34.

43. FREXSH 43. Non-Cash Transactions

HEMBEERENHD R IELEEZBRE Disposal of discontinued operations with deferred

FE2018F 12 A1 HIEFEEH ° consideration updated at year ended 31 December
2018.

#H ZE=2019F 128318 L F E H & Disposal of assets classified as held for sale

SHEABIEFLHENEEZELCRELD with deferred consideration of approximately

37,972,000 7T ° HK$37,972,000 during the year ended 31 December
2019.

HE2019F12A31BIEFE HEY
¥ MEAREBEZAOREHEYVEED
5,022,000/ 7T °

Disposal of property, plant and equipment with
consideration in contract to contract liabilities of
approximately HK$5,022,000 during the year ended
31 December 2019.



44.

MM EES SIENE EHR

44.

2019F % ANNUAL REPORT 2019

B iSRRI
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from
Financing Activities

2R
RRTE (£ TEEES HEaE @5t
Amount
due to a
non-controlling Exchangeable Lease
shareholder Borrowings bonds liabilities Total
TR THT THT THT THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2018% 1718 As at 1 January 2018 239,802 1,819,185 227,985 - 2,286,972
BERSNE Financing cash flow (124,050) (9,959) (18,560) - (152,569)
HNEFE Foreign exchange adjustments 47 27,383 - - 27,430
EEReg Other non-cash movement (115,000 (22,000) 41,039 - 95,961
12018512 A31H Net debt as at
FEE 31 December 2018 799 1,814,609 250,464 - 2,065,872
RinEEU BaELER Effect of adoption of
F16RMF 2 (Ni3T) HKFRS 16 (note) - - - 6,991 6,991
7201951 A1 B(EEF|) At1 January 2019 (restated) 799 1,814,609 250,464 6,991 2,072,863
BERENE Financing cash flow - 263,148 (158,149) (2,798) 102,201
MEFE Foreign exchange adjustments - (17,514) - (141) (17,655)
HEiRe® Other non-cash movement - - 28,325 3,780 32,105
#2019F125318 Net debt as at
FEE 31 December 2019 799 2,060,243 120,640 7,832 2,189,514
MIEE - note:

45.

AEBBRALIETBIEAN S ERESHER
EAERIE16F AL AEN2019F1 A1 HHF
Ui UERELBREE B ERIE17
WHOBAKEHECHEEHMNHERE - 28
A ERARM N2 -

Bt D R A S 2 )

HE2019F12A31HILEE - KREHE
HE—HWELRABEREEER AR Z
10.41% 4z BTABYRBR AT Z
10.41% S M T4 AIERIEE AR A A
Z2A480% D  HRZER S AEER
RIEFERRAERR R A 411,062,000 7T K E
I N4 11,062,000/8 7T °

45.

The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Changes in Ownership Interest in
Subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
has further acquired 10.41% of IUERABIEREER
FRAR], 10.41% of BRITABYRER AR and 4.80%
of IFATHIEREEBRARA. As a result of these
transactions, the Group recognised a decrease in non-
controlling interests of approximately HK$11,062,000
and an increase in other reserve of approximately
HK$11,062,000.
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46.

47.

48.

49.

%l"

PENARAE

KRFI2014F10A9B ZRE - A
TREEHEEREAFRAA(ERE D ZR
FEL REEEVB®REREH  BAQA

FransE  E@FANEMSHEREES
B HEMRKIZEEXHE  BHEHE
ﬁ“&%%ﬁ%hmmb TESFEE
ER BBHRFREBAMGE EERE

ZFRATEHAEENEY  EERYB
RUBRERTFISE -

%2}\\\}3

BREXHIEREEI) EERREERSH
M ENARNEEERY  2ELRYBRRE
REARTMEZENERFR ©

HRENREE

H2020F F Y1 1& B M2019 B8 Mk i 5 &
(12019 MBER ) 46 2 EREB LR
BERTEZIAREMAZ BEMBERES
e BT REBRERDER T — R
FIEBEG ARARESBEEER
EHERMRN  ARFHEHAEELE
R E -

a3 S Es

ETHRAFECEFIRUNTEAFEZ
EV D

BRETIRGSWBERR

EEER2020F 4 A 16 B E NIRRT 3
LA TIEHRE -

46.

47.

48.

49.

Litigations and Contingent Liabilities

Reference was made to the announcement of the
Company dated 9 October 2014 regarding a civil claim
against Capital Idea Investments Limited (“Capital
|dea”). As of the date of the consolidated financial
statement, to the best knowledge of the Company,
the writ of summons of the litigation has not yet been
served on Capital Idea. Upon receiving this legal
document, Capital Idea will seek legal advice in relation
to the claim and the necessary actions to be taken
in this respect and will vigorously defend against the
claim. The directors are of the view that this claim will
not have a material adverse impact on the business,
operation and financial position of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that
up to report date there were no significant litigations
would have material adverse impact on the business,
operation and financial position of the Group.

Events after the Reporting Period

The coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) outbreak
since early 2020 has brought additional uncertainties
in the global macroeconomic situation. Despite
the challenges, governments and international
organisations have implemented a series of measures
to contain the epidemic. The directors of the Company
will closely monitor the development of the epidemic
and assess its impact on the operation of the Group.

Comparatives

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified
to conform with current year’s presentation.

Authorisation for Issue of Consolidated
Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements was approved

and authorised for issued by the board of directors on
16 April 2020.
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